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message from the Chairman

In 2004, OTE A.E. had losses for the first time in

its history.  Revenue was affected by adverse

decisions of the Regulator and erosion by mobile

and fixed telephony providers.  Expenses were

higher mainly due to the Athens Olympics and

to higher provisions for doubtful receivables and

inventories.  

Consolidated results as of 31.12.2004 were

positive but much below 2003.  No dividend will

be paid in 2005.

Management efforts were directed towards two

areas.  One was the resolution of problems in

the subsidiaries.  There were changes in the

management of some, reductions in personnel

and other measures and now that this is written,

at the middle of the second quarter of 2005,

almost all subsidiaries are profitable and the

ones that are not are on the way to become so.

OTE is also disentangling itself fro m

involvements which were proven to be

lossmaking and problematic.  Finally, with the

settlement of major disputes and litigations, OTE

has established excellent relations with all

Governments in the countries in which it has

operations.

The remaining problems of OTE concern fixed

telephony in Greece and are mainly in two areas,

one of which is outside OTE’s control.  I am

referring to Greece’s telecommunication policy

and more specifically the manner it is exercised

by the Regulator.  The rules under which the

market operates are changed arbitrarily almost

daily preventing the creation of a stable

e n v i ronment necessary for medium term

planning.  This climate of uncertainty has a direct

impact on OTE’s investment program, its results

and the morale of the staff.  The Government

must soon turn its attention to this problem

which is one of the main obstacles to the

development of the country.

The other priority of management is OTE’s

reorganization.   Like other former fixed

telephony monopolies, with the opening of the

market, OTE is losing market share to mobile

telephony and independent service providers.

Adjustment to this new reality must come

t h rough cost reduction and incre a s e d

productivity, difficult in OTE’s case until recently

due to a rigid labour regime.  Also, through the

c reation of new sources of revenue by

introducing and developing new technologies

and products like broadbanding.  
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In May 2005, OME-OTE, the Union representing

OTE’s personnel and Management concluded an

a g reement which will allow a substantial

reduction in personnel through voluntary

retirement.  This opens the way to a radical

reorganization of all sections of operations,

expected to lead to a reduction in costs, an

increase in productivity and better service to

retail and wholesale markets.

Spearheading the strategic planning of OTE will

be broadbanding, an area which in the past was

neglected.  Already, due to OTE’s efforts, during

the last eight months, the number of users has

increased fivefold but still remains somewhat

below 1% of the population, compared to a

European average of 8%.  We will continue and

redouble our efforts to spread broadbanding

giving special attention to availability at higher

speeds and low prices to the student

c o m m u n i t y, re g a rdless of the short term

negative financial impact.

Dear Shareholders.

In the brief period of one year, part of which was

taken up by the very successful effort to

organize the telecommunications of the Athens

Olympics, OTE did all it could to reverse the

downward trend of the last few years.  We

believe that the foundations have been set for

an improvement in operations and results but

more time will be needed and, particularly, a

stable external environment.

Concluding I would like to thank all the

personnel of OTE as well as its representatives

who, guided by the true interests of the

C o m p a n y, displayed a rare sense of

responsibility.  During a particularly difficult year

everyone did his and her best and contributed to

the international success of OTE during the

Athens Olympic Games.

Panagis Vourloumis

Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Chief Executive Officer of OTE S.A.
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financial highlights

5,184.0

637.9

525.8

171.3

-

171.3

1,661.0

32.0

0.4

in Euro millions except per share data

OPERATING REVENUES

OPERATING INCOME

PRE-TAX INCOME

NET INCOME BEFORE CUMMULATIVE EFFECT OF

ACCOUNTING CHANGE

CUMMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE FOR

SFAS No 143 (2003),NET OF INCOME TAXES 

NET INCOME

OPERATING INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION AND

AMORTIZATION

OPERATING INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION AND

AMORTIZATION MARGIN (%)

EPS

4,914.3

1,018.9

936.2

411.2

- 0.5

410.7

1,928.6

39.2

0.8

5.5%

-37.4%

-43.8%

-58.3%

-

-58.3%

-13.9%

-7.2pp

-50%

2004     2003 % CHANGE

HIGHLIGHTS OF OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 &

2003 IN ACCORDANCE WITH U.S. GAAP

2004     2003 % CHANGE

OTE S.A. – RESULTS OF FINANCIAL YEARS 2003-2004 (*)

EURO THOUSANTS EURO THOUSANTS +/- %

TURNOVER

COST OF SERVICES

GROSS PROFIT

OTHER OPERATING REVENUES

ADMINISTRATIVE & DISTRIBUTION COSTS

FINANCIAL & CREDIT COSTS

EXPENSES/(REVENUES) FROM INVESTMENTS AND

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

OPERATING RESULTS

EXTRAORDINARY EXPENSES/(REVENUES)

PRE-TAX PROFITS

*According to the Greek GAAp (Law 2190/20).

2,846,760.35 

2,648,398.28 

198,362.07 

3,813.91

56,732.80

89,623.80

75,494.25

131,313.63

265,041.65

-133,728.02

3,118,852.28

2,567,226.30

551,625.98

4,439.10

54,171.33

75,701.50

53,693.72

479,885.97

98,612.07

381,273.90

-8.72

3.16

-64.04

-14.08

4.73

18.39

40.60

-72.64

168.77

-135.07
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LOANS/OWN CAPITAL + LOANS

LOANS/OWN CAPITAL 

LIQUIDITY

RETURN ON OWN CAPITAL (PRE-TAX)

EBITDA MARGIN

*According to the Greek GAAp (Law 2190/20).

*According to the Greek GAAp (Law 2190/20).

48.31%

93.45%

218.61%

-4.71%

27.40%

46.08%

85.45%

214.93%

12.56%

36.08 %

2004 2003

INDICATORS OF OTE S.A. PERFORMANCE – FINANCIAL YEARS 2003-2004 (*)

490,150,389

490,150,389

490,582,879

490,607,879

491,259,299

0.00

0.35

0.70

0.70

0.70

2004

2003

2002

2001

2000

-100

-50

0

0

9.1

--

171,603,228.65

343,120,714.30

345,633,405.61

346,008,016.90

SHARES DIV./SHARE TOTAL DIVIDENT%YEAR

OTE S.A. – TABLE OF DIVIDENDS – FINANCIAL YEARS 2000-2004 (*)
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management

Full Name Position

Panagis Vourloumis Chairman/ CEO - Executive member

Iakovos Georganas Vice-Chairman - Non executive member

Panagiotis Tambourlos Independent - Non executive member

Nikolaos Stefanou Non executive member

Georgios Tzovlas Independent - Non executive member

Ilias Gounaris Non executive member

Xeni Skorini-Paparrigopoulou Independent - Non executive member

Georgios Bitros Non executive member

Charalambos Dimitriou Non executive member

Theodoros Veniamis Non executive member

Georgios Gerapetritis Independent - Non executive member

Chief Financial Officer

Iordanis Aivazis

Legal Counsels

Andreas Kalogeropoulos

Dimitris Tzouganatos

OTE’s Board of Directors consists of the following members:



Annual Report 2004 11

Full Name Position

Panagis Vourloumis Member from 4/19/04 to 5/5/2004

Chairman and CEO from 5/5/2004

Lefteris Antonacopoulos Chairman and CEO from 5/5/2004

Member from  5/5/2004 to 6/17/2004

Iakovos Georganas Member until 5/12/2004

Delegate Vice Chairman from 5/12/2004 until 6/17/2004

Vice Chairman from 6/17/2004

George Skarpelis Delegate Vice Chairman until 5/12/2004

Theodoros Veniamis Member

Ilias Gounaris Member until 6/17/2004

Charalambos Dimitriou Member until 9/1/2004

George Linardatos Member until 6/17/2004

George Bitros Member until 6/17/2004

Xeni Skorini-Paparrigopoulou Member until 6/17/2004

Nikolaos Stefanou Member until 5/12/2004

Panagiotis Tambourlos Member until 6/17/2004

Georgios Tzovlas Member until 6/17/2004

Apostolos Baratsis Member from 6/17/2004 to 8/26/2004

Lazaros Aggelou Member until 6/17/2004

George Argyropoulos Member until 6/17/2004

Michalis Georgantopoulos Member until 6/17/2004

Lana Mandila Member until 6/17/2004

Stavros Panas Member until 6/17/2004

George Papakonstantinou Member until 6/17/2004

John Sahalos Member until 6/17/2004

Christos Spanos Member until 6/17/2004

Apostolos Tamvakakis Member until 6/17/2004

Phaedon – Theodoros Tamvakakis Member until 6/17/2004

Spyros Floudas Member until 4/16/2004

Members of the Board of Directors – OTE – Fiscal Year 2004
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legislative framework

As a Société Anonyme, OTE is regulated by the

codified provisions of L. 2190/20, concerning

Société Anonymes and is only supervised by the

Minister of Development, as any other company.

As a telecom services provider, OTE is regulated

by the L. 2867/2000 and is supervised by the

National Telecommunications and Post Office

Committee.

As a company operating in the free market, OTE

is regulated by the Greek and EU competition

laws and is supervised by the Greek Competition

Committee and the European Commission.

As a publicly traded (listed) company, OTE

operates in the context of the Greek Capital

Market and is regulated by the re l e v a n t

p rovisions of the laws governing the stock

exchange and the capital market. The Athens

Stock Exchange and the Hellenic Capital Market

Committee constitute the Company’s

supervisory bodies.

The Company’s obligations are embodied in the

key decision 5/204/2000 of the Hellenic Capital

Market Committee that in conjunction with the

p rovisions of L. 3016/2002 introduces the

principles of corporate governance in the Greek

legislation framework.

Furthermore, since the introduction and trading

of OTE shares on the New York Stock Exchange

(NYSE) from November 1998, OTE is bound by

the regulations of the U.S. Stock Exchange

Committee (SEC).

The Greek State may no longer control OTE in a

way diff e rent from that of any other Société

Anonyme and telecom services provider company.

The Greek State may - only as a shareholder -

monitor the operation and administration of the

corporate affairs. The Greek State is re p re s e n t e d

by the Minister of Finance who is exercising its

c o n t rol through the established bodies as any

other shareholder can do.
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Nevertheless, laws and legislations are still in

force that prohibit OTE to operate fully as a

Société Anonyme and other telecommunication

companies.

Such an example is the State’s obligation to

hold, at any time, no less than the 1/3 of OTE’s

capital share (art. 26, L. 2843/2000). As a result

only 2/3 of the Company’s capital share is freely

negotiable.

In addition, OTE personnel enjoys a permanent

employee status, similar to civil servants, and

cannot be made redundant or dismissed in

accordance to the prevailing labor legislation,

but only for causes and reasons stipulated in

O T E ’s General Personnel Regulations. These

Regulations have an absolute binding force for

O T E ’s management, since they cannot be

modified unless endorsed by a Collective

Agreement (i.e. with the personnels’ agreement)

or by Law (art.2 par. 2 a and b L. 2257/1994 and

art 2 and 17 of OTE’s General Personnel

Regulations).

Furthermore, Greek legislation imposes on OTE

the provision of special discounts or free-of-

charge services to specific categories of users

(art. 4 L. 2257/1994 and 47 L. 2963/2001) in

addition to its related obligation as a "Universal

Service" provider (art 6 Dec. 255/83/2995 of

National Telecommunication and Post Off i c e

Committee-EETT).

F i n a l l y, in accordance with the pre v a i l i n g

legislation, OTE employees may be allocated to

Civil Services and MP offices.
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Administrative bodies of

the company

General Assembly of the Shareholders

It is the supreme administrative body of the

Company and is empowered to make decisions

with regard to any corporate matter, unless

otherwise specified by the Company's Articles of

Association.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is the Company's

s u p reme administrative body. It shapes the

Company’s strategy and development policies.

The principal obligation of its members is to

continually pursue the long term economic value

of the Company and to uphold and protect the

Company’s interests. It is empowered to decide

on any matter concerning the administration of

the Company, controls the management of its

property, and the attainment of its objectives,

with the exception of those issues that fall under

the exclusive competence of the General

Assembly of Shareholders. 

Following the General Assembly’s of the

Shareholders decision on 6/17/2004, the number

of the Board Members was reduced from 15 to 9

– 11. Their term of office is now 3 years instead

of 5. The Board’s members are renewed by 1/3

every year. The aforementioned changes make

the Board of Directors more flexible and

functional and following the abolishment of the

Corporate Governance Committee, there are

now significant improvements towards the

modernization of the management operation

bodies in the Company.

Chief Executive Officer

The CEO is the highest executive authority in the

Company. The CEO oversees all the Company’s

departments by managing their activities, makes

the necessary decisions in the context of the

p rovisions which regulate the Company’s

operation, the approved programs and budgets

and has authorities which directly derive from

the Articles of Association and by the decisions

of the Board of Directors.

The CEO represents the Company in front of any

courts, any other Authority including out-of

court matters, acting in person or by proxy

following a written decision or authorization,

unless otherwise required by Law.

legislative framework
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Business Environment

In the next years, the Group of OTE’s companies

will operate in a changing competitive business

environment.

ñ Competition: In fixed telephony increasing

competition is anticipated (in Greece and

a b road), while, in mobile telephony, intense

competition is expected to continue in Greece

and abroad.

ñ Market: Increased customer demand for lower

prices and improved quality is expected to

continue. In fixed telephony, there is an intense

competitive environment with a high for the

specific market number of competitors, the vast

majority of which are in effect resellers and are

active in all market segments, offering voice,

data and internet services. This trend is expected

to continue over the next years together with

the crossover trend from fixed to mobile

t e l e p h o n y. The use of Internet services is

expected to rise sharply following the

development of broadband services. These

services, represented mainly by fast Internet, at

the moment, are expected to head the

development in the sector.

ñ Regulatory Framework: Significant changes in

the regulatory framework of the Greek market

made by the National Telecommunications and

Post Office Committee, as expected to be

imposed by the Law on Telecommunications,

which is bound to be passed by the Greek

Parliament, as well as the deregulation of the

fixed telephony market in Romania, are issues

that the Group is called upon to deal within the

next few months. 

ñ Technology: Prevailing of IP technologies and

Next Generation Networks and their associated

services (VoIP, TvoIP, etc). Convergence of fixed

and mobile telephony, following the appearance

of wireless broadband access technologies, such

as WiMax, and the development of broadband

3G generation mobile networks. 

The company is called upon to face specific

challenges in the immediate future. 

In particular:

ñ In fixed telephony, dealing with competition

entails the provision of high quality customer

service at every point of contact with the

Company and by the Company in its entirety, the

development of broadband, the improvement in

productivity, as well as reductions in operating

and investment expenditures.

ñ In mobile telephony, regulatory interventions

are expected to intensify, while further growth is

now anticipated through the management of

value added services, increase in calls, as well as

the investments abroad.

ñ In internet, it is called upon to face the

challenges of implementing bro a d b a n d

technologies and their derived value added

s e r v i c e s .

ñ In International Activities, the Company is

called upon to re s t r u c t u re and eff e c t i v e l y

manage its Investments abroad in the markets it

has a presence.

business environment
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regulatory framework

Regulatory framework and OTE

OTE nominated as a Provider with significant

power in the Greek market and as the traditional

telecommunications organization (incumbent) is

obliged by current EU and National legislation to

price part of the services provided to its

customers (including other telecommunications

providers), such as telephony services, leased line

services, access services etc., based on the

respective cost plus a reasonable return on the

capital employed to provide such services. 

T h e re f o re, OTE is obliged to develop and

maintain an Enterprise Costing System (ECOS-

OTE or ECOS) so as to be in line with the relevant

European Commission directives and National

Telecommunications and Post Office Committee

(EETT) decisions.

The methods of cost allocation and results of

ECOS are audited annually by independent

external auditors appointed by the National

Telecommunications and Post Committee (EETT).

Based on the results of this costing audit, EETT

either approves or imposes the prices for the

services under regulation.

More precisely, for each group of OTE services,

the following applied for the year 2004:

ñ Retail services (except Leased Lines)

The retail prices approved by EETT for 2003

remained in force during 2004 because the cost

audit for the 2004 tariffs was carried out from

June until October 2004.

The new tariffs, which derived after the

completion of the above-mentioned audit were

applied as of 31-12-2004, based on EETT’s

Decision No 339/31/30-12-2004/ (Gov. Journal

1973/B’ 31-12-2004). Specifically EETT approved

the new increased monthly rentals for PSTN and

ISDN, the introduction of new prices for

i m p roved voice telephony service packages,

while maintaining the tariffs for local and trunk

calls at the level of 2003.

ñ Wholesale services (except Leased Lines)

For the interconnection services, after the

completion of the costing audit, EETT published

the Decision No 334/45/10-11-2004 (Gov.

Journal 1730/ Bã 23-11-2004), under which the

t a r i ffs for call collection, call termination,

emergency calls, interconnection ports and

signalling were approved as cost-oriented and as

a result such tariffs were retroactively in force as

of 1-1-2004. On the contrary, the tariffs for

unbundled local loop, number portability and
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carrier pre-selection etc which were considered

as not been cost-oriented, were applied as of

late November 2004, while for the previous

period the tariffs approved for 2003 were still

applicable. 

ñ Leased lines (Retail and Wholesale)

EETT’s Decisions No 301/30/12-15-03 and No

300/47/5/12-03 (Gov. Journal 1925/B’ 12-24-03)

were applied for the year 2004, enforcing tariffs

approved by EETT after the cost audit of the year

T+1 2003. Against those Decisions OTE has

undertaken legal action, due to the substantial

deviation of those tariffs from the relevant cost

deriving from OTE costing system and which

would naturally result to a substantial reduction

of OTE’s revenues.

After the completion of the cost audit for the

year T+1 2004, EETT with the Decision No

334/45/11-10-04 (Gov. Journal 1730/Bã 23-11-

2004) approved new tariffs for wholesale leased

lines, which were characterized as not being

cost-oriented and applied as of 11-23-2004.

S i m i l a r l y, the tariffs for retail leased lines

approved by EETT for the same year (T+1 2004)

with the Decision No 339/31/12-30-04 (Gov.

Journal 1973/ 31-12-04) were considered as not

being cost-oriented and were applied from 31-

12-2004. The new tariffs were significantly

increased in relation to the previously approved

by EETT, as a result of the previous cost audit,

which showed that the assumptions used by

EETT during that audit and the tariffs that

occurred thereof substantially underestimated

the respective OTE costs.



We are ahead thanks to 
our infrastructure
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ii. fixed telephony
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fixed telephony

Domestic Telephony

The Company’s market share, at the end of

2004, reached approx. 76%, a result of the full

market liberalization since 2001, the

entrance of a large number of competing

telecommunication companies since 2002, the

e x t remely aggressive Regulatory Authority

and finally the extension of mobile telephony

into the fixed telephony market.

In 2004, 63% of OTE’s turnover derived from the

provision of fixed telephony services.

The rate of digitalisation on 12/31/2004, based

on installed capacity and capacity in use, reached

a p p roximately 99.9%, from 99.6% in 2003.

Digitalisation is on par with the digitalisation

levels of the largest telecommunication

companies in Europe.

On 12/31/2004, the Company had 6,022,358

connections, out of which 6,021,558 were digital

and 800 were analogue compared to 6,027,752

connections, out of which 6,003,752 were digital

and 24,000 were analogue at 12/31/2003

(reduction of 0.08% in total).

In operation were 5,078,709 main connections

out of which 5,078,092 were digital and 617

were analogue, compared to 5,200,231 main

connections out of which 5,182,713 were digital

and 17,518 were analogue at 12/31/2003

(reduction 2,34% in total).

In Athens and Thessaloniki, where the bulk of

telephone traffic is generated, all lines are

connected to digital exchanges.

Telephone density of main connections per 100

residents reached 57.2%, including ISDN B

channels (Basic Access lines X 2 plus Primary

access lines X 30). 

During 2004, 275,950 applications for

connection were submitted, while the number

of connections that were installed re a c h e d

254,582. In 2003, 265,956 applications for

connection were submitted and the number of

connections that were installed re a c h e d

252,520. (An increase of 3.75% and 0.8%

respectively).

The total number of applications pending on

12/31/2004 was 2,133 compared to 2,190 at

12/31/2003 (A decrease of 2.6%).

The volume of calls for 2004 accounted for

approximately 36.4 billion minutes. The volume

of calls in minutes includes trial calls, service
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calls, and all kinds of no-charge calls, the

duration of calls through analogue exchanges,

the manual outgoing international calls and the

volume of calls from OTEGLOBE is not included.

The volume of calls for 2003 accounted for

approximately 36.1 billion minutes not including

the duration of calls made through analogue

exchanges.

At the end of 2004, the number of card

telephones reached approximately 64,160

compared to 64,490 in 2003 (a reduction of

0.51%).

Focusing its attention on serving its customers,

the Company continues to develop value added

services, such as the so called digital

conveniences (call waiting, call divert, outgoing

call barring, caller ID, etc) and voice mail.

In addition, the Company offers telematics and

voice gate services.

During 2004, the preparation of the technical

specifications was completed, for the

i n t roduction of SMS services in fixed telephony

as well as the evaluation of the technical

p roposals made by the companies interested in

p roviding the necessary equipment.

C o m m e rcial operation of this service is

expected to begin in 2005.

Pricing policy

Pursuant to the legislative framework, the

responsibilities of OTE remain in effect as the

Company with a leading position in the market,

for cost-oriented retail pricing in telephony and

leased lines services.

As a result, for every tariff change in these

services OTE also takes into account its

obligations and the constantly incre a s i n g

demands of the telecommunications market.
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The main points of the new pricing policy are the

following:

ñ Re-adjustment of the monthly line charge for

the plain telephone connections (PSTN)

ñ Re-adjustment of the monthly line charge for

the ISDN BRA telephone connections.

ñ Introduction of a new economy package for

students users of a telephone connection (PSTN

or ISDN BRA), under the brand name STUDENT

PACK.

ñ I n t roduction of a new economy package,

targeted to owners to second or "country"

houses under the brand name "Kat’ Eksohin"

ñ Offering special discount to retired elderly

people over 65 years of age, users of PSTN or

ISDN BRA telephone connections. The discount

can be up to 1 Euro for local calls and 0.5 Euro

for international calls per month.

ñ Re-adjustment of the traffic volume based

discounts for the economy packages

(OTEPIXEIRO and OTEPIXEIRO Plus) and creation

of a new economy package (OTEPILOGES free

talk time) addressed to home users and

reduction of the enrolment fee for the economy

package OTEPIXEIRO to 3 Euros. (No changes

w e re made to the economy package

OTEPILOGES)

ñ New pricing policy on phone cards, timecards,

O T E c a rds and a new card under the name

ALLOCARD.

State-of-the-art network

In the last few years, the Company has made

investments in the upgrade and expansion of

its network in order to be able to provide a

range of technologically advanced services.

OTE has already proceeded to considerable

investments to digitalize the network and to

install a broadband network, as well as high-

speed and high-capacity connections in homes

and businesses, allowing the provision of

integrated services to customers.

The outcome of these investments was,

besides the digitalisation of the trunk network,

which is now at 100%, also the digitalisation

of the subscriber network which pro g re s s e s

satisfactorily through the selection of the

a p p ropriate technologies.

In total, at the end of 2004:

ñ The company's infrastructure consisted of

20,883 km of optic fibre cables compared to

20,314 km on 12/31/2003 (an increase of 2.8%)

fixed telephony
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ñ The installed ISDN-BRA capacity re a c h e d

585.584 lines (503.336 in 2003 – an increase of

16.34%) and the installed ISDN-PRA capacity

reached 9,468 lines (9,168 in 2003 – an incre a s e

of 3.5%), while the capacity in use re a c h e d

525,426 BRA connections (2 channels) and 7,138

PRA connections (30 channels), compared to

448,490 BRA and 6,668 PRA connections last

y e a r, an increase of 17.16% and 7.04%

re s p e c t i v e l y. For 2005, the Company anticipates

that the ISDN-BRA capacity in use will re a c h

588,000 connections and the capacity in use of

ISDN-PRA will reach 7,700 connections.

ñ The HellasStream network is an AT M

technology packet transfer network with 46

points of presence across Greece.

On 12/31/2004, the connections in use of the

HellasStream network reached 1,393 compared

to 1,010 in 2003, an increase of 37.9 %. 

The aim of the Company for 2005 is to enrich

and upgrade the network infrastructure in order

to support the demand for ADSL network and

satisfy the needs of its key customers.

ñ The HELLASPAC network is a public switched

packet data network designed for

communication between computers. 

On 12/31/2004 it was servicing approximately

7,700 fixed connections compared to

approximately 8,000 on 12/31/2003 (a decrease

of 3.7%). The biggest customer is OPAP with

5,200 connections. Approximately 1,000 dial-up

connections are also in operation a figure that

remains unchanged from the previous year.

ñ The HELLASCOM network is a data transfer

network, which provides fixed point-to-point

digital links with transfer rates which depending

on the application vary between 2.4 Kbits/s to

2Mbits/s.

During 2004, 2,700 new applications were

submitted compared to 2,597 in 2003 and 2,696

new circuits were activated compared to 2,929

in 2003 (decrease of 4% and 8% respectively). In

2004, new nodes were installed and activated

(MD73, MD490 & MD93) allowing the use of

SHDSL technology.

On 12/31/2004 the total number of circ u i t s

reached 14,474 (14,526 on 12/31/2003 –

decrease of 0.36%). 

The target for 2005 is the activation of 2000-

2500 circuits.
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ñ The ADSL network includes 204 points of

p resence and 92,405 installed lines on

12/31/2004.

The provision of the @DSL-OTE (ADSL access line

for the provision of fast internet services) began

in June 2003. The @DSL-OTE is offered in retail

by OTE and its cooperating Internet ISPs, with

access speeds of 384-1024 kbps for downloading

and 128-256 kbps for uploading, 

Also, in October 2004, Conn-X was offered (a

combination of ADSL line and internet access,

installed by the end-user). Conn-X is offered to

retail customers by OTE and Otenet. Until

12/31/2004, 43.758 ADSL lines were sold (retail)

and 7,159 lines were sold until 12/31/2003.This

p roduct supported customers during the

Olympic games, Conn-X packages were sold and

the dedicated ADSL Helpdesk was put into

operation. In addition, applications by customers

on an optical network were also satisfied.

The Company’s target for 2005 is to re a c h

200,000 customers, improve customer

satisfaction, establish a strong brand loyalty,

implement a dynamic pricing policy that will

result in increased market share and design new

services to be offered through ADSL (Wireless

ADSL, VPN, Broadband Portal, Voice over ADSL).

ñ The OTElink network (TETRA) is an advanced

digital radio-communication public network,

which OTE offers to its customers.

It provides voice and data communication to

closed user groups through the use of a

o rdinary telecom infrastructure .

The Network is based on ETSI’s TETRA

technology and allows its users to combine the

advantages of Digital Mobile Telephony and

Data Transfer Networks.

During 2004 the installation and operation of

22 new Base Stations of the OTElink-TETRA

network was completed and their total

number reached 70, as initially planned. The

Network also served efficiently the needs

during the Olympic Games.

The aim of the Company for 2005 is to see an

i n c rease of connections by 2,000

a p p ro x i m a t e l y, provide coverage along the

main national roads, fully support the needs of

various competitions and offer new tariff

packets for AVL applications.

fixed telephony
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ñ The IP network, based on a cell-based MPLS

technology and having 82 points of presence

across Greece, has the capacity to provide IP

MPLS VPN services with constant connection

speeds from 64 kbps to 34 Mbps or through dial-

up connections through a POTS modem or

ISDN64 and ISDN128. 

The Company offers services such as:

Intranet IP/VPN since June 2003 and Extranet

IP/VPN since March 2004.

In 2004 a total of 55 fixed Intranet/Extranet

IP/VPN termination points were activated.

Preparations for the pilot operation of ADSL

Access IP/VPN at selected customers. VPN and

VPDN Dial UP Access was completed.

The Company’s targets for 2005 is to offer

IP/VPN services and in particular

Intranet/Extranet IP/VPN with 2030 termination

points. Dial up Access VPN / VDPN with 3000

termination points. Commercial operation of

value added services is planned, including Dial

up Access VPN / VDPN, Voice over IP (VoIP) Site

Back & Resilience, Secure Internet Access,

Advanced SLAs & Reporting, Variable Service

Q u a l i t y, end-to-end managed VPN Services,

while voice services will be offered as a packet

with IP/VPN service.

F u r t h e r m o re, in the first half of 2005 the

introduction of "Pay-as-you-go Internet Access"

will take place.

Also in order to satisfy the requirements of the

"SYZEYXIS" project, the upgrade of the core

network into frame-based MPLS is planned with

the introduction of gigabit routers and the

addition of cards to existing routers of the IP

network.

With regard to Management Network Systems,

the Company aims to a more efficient, cost-

effective and systematic service in the operation,

the preventive maintenance, fault repair and the

provision of relevant statistical data and reports

on OTE’s telecommunication network. To this

end, the installation has been completed and

most of the management sub-systems are

already in operation for the equipment used by

the Company.
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International telephony /

International telecommunications

infrastructure

OTE is the leading provider of international

telecommunication services. The international

telephony traffic of the Company is carried out

via four international digital exchanges - two in

Athens and two in Thessaloniki - and is routed

via international networks, submarine and land

cables as well as satellite links.

In 2004, and in the face of the demands for the

Athens 2004 Olympic Games, OTE extended the

installed capacity of its Athens international

exchanges by 12000 circuits, carried out

additional upgrades for the activation of 8000

new international telephone circuits at its 4

international exchanges in order to cover the

needs of the Olympic Games, activated 5000

telephone circuits to serve the Olympic venues

and the local providers for the duration of the

Games and activated 100 signalling channels to

satisfy the mobile telephony users’ ro a m i n g

needs.

OTE participates in various intern a t i o n a l

submarine cable systems both of older and of

modern technology. It has also installed its own

DWDM/SDH international network, which

connects Greece to Italy and from there to the

largest cities in Western Europe, through a land

European network.

The GWEN network began commerc i a l

operation in April 2004. This network, with a

total capacity of 8XSTM16, consists of the Greek

Domestic Ring, the Submarine Ring, the Italian

Ring and the Western Europe Ring. It futures a

ring based design and provides, fully protected

and with high availability (99.95%) high speed

services to the Western Europe.

The network’s total investment cost is 56.9 mil.

Euro.

fixed telephony
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Since being put into service, it operates at 76%

use and comprises Greece’s main international

telecommunications artery. The addition of two

extra wave lengths, is planned shortly, to ensure

a total capacity of, fully protected, 16 X STM16.

The main bulk of the demand for international

high speed capacity for television broadcasting

during the Olympic Games was served through

this network with remarkable reliability.

OTE, through its subsidiary OTE Globe, is

participating in various international projects

that aid in the creation of an international

telecommunications network, based on state-of-

the-art technologies with the main emphasis on

the South East Europe region and the Eastern

Mediterranean.

OTE believes that this network will

s t rengthen its operating results, giving it the

ability to increase its traffic from and to

neighbouring areas, thereby becoming the

main telecommunications hub in the re g i o n .

OTEGlobe began its commercial operation in

2003, offering wholesale international services

to the Greek market and the full range of

telecommunication services to the international

markets. In particular, OTEGlobe focuses its

activities on the following:

ñ Develop, promote and provide a wide range of

Data/IP services, capacities, interc o n n e c t i o n

products and integrated services for the transfer

of voice, data, video and multimedia.

ñ P rovide services to Te l e c o m m u n i c a t i o n

Companies (Providers) in the Greek and

international market, offering integrated and

customized solutions.

ñ Business operation and management of OTE’s

international telephony services.

ñ Plan, implement and manage the international

Data/IP network.

ñ P rovide integrated and fully managed

international Data/IP services to large business

customers and providers in the Balkans and

South-East Europe.
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During 2004, OTEGlobe was successfully active

in the following: 

ñ Achieved high revenue from the provision of

international Data/IP network data services and

international leased circuits.

ñ Significant ly Increased its sales figure s

by 59%.

ñ Was selected to exclusively implement and

manage the interconnection related projects for

use during the Olympic Games.

ñ Entered new markets like Turkey and signed

co-operation agreements with resellers and

partners (Interoute, Space Hellas, etc) and

attracted new customers wining contracts for

the provision of international data services for a

total value of 27.3 mil. Euro. 

ñ It handled the management of

telecommunication requests/needs for

i n t e rnational providers with business activities

in Greece (AT & T, Equant and Uunet) for the

p rovision of mainly local loop services, with

sales of 4 mil. Euro .

ñ Continued the expansion of the international

Data/IP network (MSP) installing 1 new Node in

Istanbul. The total number of network nodes is

now 15. 

ñ It more than doubled the total capacity of the

international Data/IP network (MSP) to better

serve the customer needs. 

ñ Various negotiations and important

a g reements with foreign telecommunication

companies were carried out , re g a rding the co-

operation in the provision of hubbing and

refile services aiming to gain an additional

market share from intern a t i o n a l

telecommunications traff i c .

ñ Implemented new management procedures

(Best Cost Routing) per traffic minute, through

the MSP platform, to achieve profitability in the

market sector for VoIP services (Voicenet, Callsat,

Cosmoline). 

ñ Upgraded the MTP routing roaming services at

O T E ’s international exchanges, pro v i d i n g

integrated planning and design solutions

(agreement with Swisscom) which resulted in a

significant increase to the revenues derived from

these services.

fixed telephony
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ñ Successfully satisfied Cosmote’s needs for

GPRS Roaming (GRX) services, in particular

during the Olympic Games.

In 2005 the Company will intensify its efforts

towards the following targets: 

ñ Increase its sales, by penetrating into new

i n t e rnational markets, using flexible sales

channels and through new partnerships-

alliances with other well known international

telecommunication providers.

ñ Deal with the competition and balance the

continuous reduction to the prices of the

existing services, by developing and promoting

new services and combined services packages. 

ñ Extend the international Data/IP network to

additional points of great business interest, with

the installation of private nodes or through

interconnection with other international carrier

networks. 

ñ Reduce the cost of the intern a t i o n a l

infrastructure and the transit cost in particular,

by optimising the international network

i n f r a s t r u c t u re through the use and further

utilization of the nodes at the international

Data/IP network.

ñ Minimize the cost for providing international

telephony services through the appro p r i a t e

commercial agreements and through the use of

a flexible implementation of cheaper

a l t e rnatives for routing the traffic (re f i l l i n g ) ,

allowing OTE to offer more attractive tariffs to

its customers and increase its share in the

international telephone traffic.

ñ Conclude interconnection agreements with the

mobile operators AMC and VODAFONE in

Albania and use the preferential termination

rates, that will be offered from them, to manage

the largest part of the international telephone

traffic to these companies.

ñ To be among the first companies that will offer

termination facilities for the promising and

developing, in traffic and revenue, Vi d e o -

telephony service, through direct links with the

Greek mobile operators and the interconnection

with foreign operators.
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Wholesale Services /

Interconnection

Wholesale includes products and services that

OTE develops and offers to customers holding

operating licenses for the provision of

telecommunication services (re f e r red to as

"Operators"). Some of these are specialized

services, resulting from regulatory demands,

while other have been designed by OTE in order

to cover the needs of this specific market,

contributing to the development of competition

and the liberalisation of the Gre e k

telecommunications market. Tr a d i t i o n a l

wholesale services include Interconnection Links,

Unbundled Local Loop, leased lines etc, while

new services are being developed continuously.

Specifically, in 2004, the services of Number

P o r t a b i l i t y, Universal Directory and Friendly

Network were developed.

Number Portability came into operation in 2004.

By the end of the year, the fixed telephony

ported numbers reached 1170.

The first Universal Telephone Directory (for the

Thessaloniki area) was issued in December

2004, including customers of Other

Telecommunication Operators (OLOs)

The Friendly Network Service was also put into

operation. By the end of 2004 one Operator

signed the relative Agreement while 4020 calls

have been made using this service.

Other interconnection services that were

developed include Transit Calls, Termination to

OLO 801 numbers, Routing of the Carrier

Selection Code a Virtual Operator to the

network of another OLO, Intern a t i o n a l

Freephone and calls from mobile networks to

OTE’s OTElink/Tetra network and the opposite.

For the first time, there has been a separation

between the Retail and Wholesale products and

a separate tariff table was issued for Wholesale

leased lines. STM-4 service (622 Mbps) was

offered as well. In December 2004, the number

of leased circuits reached 8,243 while

Interconnection Links reached 7,290.

fixed telephony
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Significant changes occurred in 2004 in

wholesale leased line tariffs, a result of EETT

intervention. For the period until 11/22/2004,

EETT drastically decreased the wholesale tariffs

for certain (regulated) types of leased lines,

resulting in the reduction of the re s p e c t i v e

revenues by 45% compared to the forecasted

revenues. New EETT decisions imposed new

tariffs for the period after 11/23/2004, bringing

the above reduction to 11%.

Total revenue from wholesale services amounted

to 221.8 mil. Euro.

By the end of 2004, 1,787 local loops with full

access were given (1,289 in Attica and 498

outside Attica) compared to 650 (537 in Attica

and 113 outside Attica) on 12/31/2003. In 2003,

seven operators were using this service.

By the end of 2003 there were only five local

loops with shared access. In 2004, their total

number reached 928 (731 in Attica and 197

outside Attica).

In 2004, Distant Collocations reached 107 (55 in

Attica and 52 outside Attica) compared to 76 in

2003 (45 in Attica and 31 outside Attica).

An OTE Local Exchange was delivered for

physical collocation in 2004. Three OLOs

installed their private equipment in the

Exchange. Interest was expressed in 2004 for the

provision of this service in eight more OTE Local

Exchanges.

The provision of interconnection services in

footway boxes located near OTE Local

Exchanges and accessible by OLOs, is expected

to boost the demand for Access to the

Unbundled Local Loop. In 2004, OTE has

prepared technical studies and budgets for 55

OTE Local Exchanges.

In 2004, 13 OLOs were interconnected to ADSL

network, compared to 9 in 2003. The total

number of wholesale ADSL lines reached 5,902

by the end of 2004, compared to 760 lines in

2003.
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A total of 798.770 applications by various

operators were served in 2004: 2,231 for

interconnections links, 1,831 for leased lines, 360

for ISDN PRA, 6,466 for ADSL, 6,511 for ADSL

equipment, 777,243 carrier pre-selection, 2,835

for unbundled local loop (650 on 12/31/2003)

120 for EPAK (Dial-up Internet Access), 1,116 for

telephony (PSTN, ISDN-BRA) 57 for Number

Portability, etc.

The volume of interconnection traffic to OTE’s

network for the basic services of call termination

and call collection reached 11,558 mil. minutes,

compared to 7.7 mil. minutes in 2003. Traffic

data is collected and processed on a monthly

basis from 1,180 interconnection points (850 in

2003) serving 18 Operators, for Local

i n t e rconnection, Single tandem & Double

tandem termination and collection, Special

Services (Emergency, 3-4 digits, Onephone,

Freephone), calls from fixed to mobile, fixed to

fixed and for Incoming and outgoing

international traffic.

48 Agreements were signed with OLOs: 33 for

Interconnection, 8 for Local Loop (4 in 2003), 7

for ADSL (4 ARYS & 3 OKSYA) compared to 14 in

2003 (5 APYS & 9 OKSYA). 45 unified monthly

billing statements for all OLOs were prepared

and issued by the new billing system Gevena

and 73 unified bi-monthly billing statements

were issued by the existing BCCS System.

The Interconnect Billing system was put into full

functional operation.

To further develop the aforementioned services

and their systematic promotion, OTE prepared

information and promotional material. A

website was created, to specifically serve the

needs of wholesale customers - OLOs at

w w w. O T E w h o l e s a l e . g r, providing impro v e d

information and direct interactive

communication.

M o re o v e r, the printed information and

p romotional material for the Company’s

wholesale services was redesigned and

distributed at Thessaloniki International Fair.

fixed telephony
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During the past year, there has been an

organized monitoring of the market, in order to

identify the trends in the telecommunication

sector and the wholesale services market in

particular, record the customer needs and create

customer profiles.

In 2005 the Company aims to:

Further develop specialized national wholesale

services such as: large capacities,

interconnection circuits – OLOs’ infrastructure

(rings, etc), partial circuits, access to the

database of the universal telephone directory,

long-term leases, IP Transit services, new ADSL

access services, develop the new OKSYA service

through GB Ethernet, transfer IP traffic through

OTE’s IP Core network.

Establish a unified fault management and

support centre, to exclusively serve the OLOs for

the full range of services and products, prepare

User reports for the improvement and

customisation of the existing Information

Systems (DELFOI, BCCS, PROMETHEAS, etc.),

electronic submission and process of applications

for carrier pre-selection and local loop, to issue a

monthly billing statement for all products of

each OLO and finally prepare a frame agreement

for the provision of leased line services.

Market and promote the wholesale products

and services to achieve the sales targets, achieve

the accounting separation of wholesale

revenues and establish an integrated customer

relations management system W-CRM for OLOs.

The use of CRM is expected to increase OTE’s

revenues and improve the communication with

the OLOs.
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iii. subsidiary companies
mobile telephony
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mobile telephony

OTE established COSMOTE in 1996, with the

purpose to provide DCS-1800 mobile

telephony services at a national scale. The

mobile services operating license was

t r a n s f e r red to COSMOTE by Law No.

2465/1997. Following an international tender,

TELENOR-B Invest AS was selected as

C O S M O T E ’s partner. COSMOTE’s principal

business is the provision of mobile

telecommunications and related wire l e s s

services in Greece. COSMOTE is licensed to

p rovide mobile telecommunications services in

the 1800 frequency band with the spectrum of

2x25 MHz and in the EGSM frequency with the

spectrum 2x5 MHz.   

To date the company is the leading provider of

mobile telecommunications services in Gre e c e .

During August 2001, COSMOTE acquired one

of the three UMTS licenses that were award e d

in Greece at the minimum price (€ 1 6 1 . 4

million), that allow the Company to offer 3rd

generation mobile telephony services to its

customers. Furthermore, in March 2002, ∂ETT

a p p roved the transfer of OTE’s 25 ∏z Fixed

W i reless Access Special License to COSMOTE.

In addition, in October 2002 COSMOTE was

granted a Special License for the use of

spectrum zone 2,4 GHz  for the provision of W-

Lan Public Mobile Communications Services.

The company started commercial operations in

April 1998, five years after its competitors and

in only three and a half years of operation has

achieved the leading position in the market,

both in terms of subscribers and growth rates
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but most importantly in pro f i t a b i l i t y. It is noted

that COSMOTE ranks among the best mobile

operators in Europe for 2004, according to

published re s e a rch estimates of well

established investment firms with respect to

the financial results of European companies in

the sector (based on the following ratios:

Annual Growth of  Revenues, EBITDA margin,

Net Income margin, ROIC, ROE, etc).

COSMOTE had its Initial Public Offering in early

October 2000. Prior to the IPO, COSMOTE’s

s h a reholders were OTE, the Hellenic Te l e -

communications Organisation, with 70% and

Te l e n o r-B Invest AS, a subsidiary of Telenor of

N o r w a y, with 30%. On February 26th, 2004

Telenor B-Invest announced the sale of its

29,705,255 million shares, thus exiting fro m

COSMOTE's share capital. As at the end of

2004 COSMOTE's shareholding structure was

the following: OTE had a 58.77% stake and the

remaining 41.23% was free float. On January

5th, 2005 and on March 24th, 2005 OTE

bought 500,000 and 3,484,432 COSMOTE’s

s h a res re s p e c t i v e l y. Furthermore, during April

2005 OTE bought 15,416,523 COSMOTE’s

s h a res thus increasing its share to COSMOTE’s

s h a re capital to 64.37%. The re m a i n i n g

35.63% was free float. The share capital of

COSMOTE amounts to 156.263.955,00 ∂uro

and consists of 332.476.500  nominal  share s .
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At the end of year 2004, the Company’s network

consisted of 2,800 activated BTSs, 16 Mobile

Switching Centers (MSCs) out of which 2 were

transit (TMSC), with a capacity of 4,550,000

subscribers and 5 Home Location Registers

(HLRs) with a capacity of 5,280,000 subscribers. 

The company’s network interconnects with the

fixed network of OTE and the other fixed

networks as well as with the three other mobile

telephony networks operated by Vo d a f o n e

(Hellas), TIM (Hellas) and Q-Telecom. In addition

the company has an IN (Intelligent Network)

platform that offers VPN and prepaid services.

As of December 31, 2004 COSMOTE’s network

covered approximately 99.6% of the population

of Greece, and 94.3% of its mainland and islands

and 96.8% of its territorial waters. COSMOTE

has achieved nationwide coverage in less than

one third of the time it has taken its competitors

and has been characterized as the most

successful third entrant in Europe.  

COSMOTE’s targets for 2005 include: 

ñ Installation of 180 additional BTSs and

expansion of capacity in 300 BTSs.

ñ Installation of approximately 250 3G BTS and 3

Radio Network Controller (RNC).

In December 2004, the Company’s subscriber

base has reached 4,151,347, a 6.0% increase

compared to the end of 2003, with an estimated

market share of over 37.6%. In addition

COSMOTE sustains the leading position in the

mobile telephony
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contract market segment in Greece since March

2000, with a total of 1,636,230 customers, as of

December 31, 2004. Contract subscribers are

attractive to COSMOTE because of their greater

loyalty and higher average monthly revenue per

user than pre-paid customers. In addition to its

standard and enhanced GSM 900 and 1800

services, including international dialling and

roaming, the Company offers its customers a

number of value-added services, including voice

mail, short message services (SMS), multimedia

message services (MMS), call diversion and caller

identification, i-mode® services, video calling and

video streaming, etc. Certain value-added

services offered to its business customers, such

as the data and fax transmission service Private

Wire and VPNs, are charged on the basis of an

additional monthly access fee plus airtime rates

for use of the relevant service. 

Furthermore, the Company holds the second

position in the Greek wireless market in terms of

number of pre-paid customers. As of December

31, 2004, COSMOTE had appro x i m a t e l y

2,515,117 pre-paid customers (using the

"COSMOKARTA" and "what's up?" products).

The Company believes that pre-paid services are

attractive to customers seeking to control and

minimize costs, customers who earn a variable

income, children and teenagers, and low-usage

customers. Pre-paid customers currently have

access to a large number of value-added

services, including voice mail, SMS, MMS,

customer care, directory inquiries and connect –

through services, i-mode services etc.
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In May 2004, COSMOTE launched commercially

its 3G services, introducing video streaming for

the first time in the Greek mobile market.

COSMOTE's range of 3G services also features

video calling. COSMOTE's 3G network at the end

of 2004 covered 46% of the country's

population, mostly the metropolitan areas of

Athens and Thessaloniki, as well as other major

Greek cities.

In June 2004, COSMOTE following an exclusive

partnership agreement signed on November

2003 with the Japanese leading provider of

mobile communications services NTT DoCoMo,

began offering exclusively to the Greek mobile

market, i-mode, the world's most popular

mobile Internet service. Through the offering of

its i-mode service, COSMOTE has significantly

enriched its data services portfolio, aiming to

meet its key strategic objectives:

ñ pioneer an innovative and unique Internet

experience over the mobile phone.

ñ stimulate the use of value added services and

subsequently increase ARPU and overall data

contribution in revenues.

ñ sustain its flexible and competitive positioning

by differentiating from competition.

ñ enhance customer loyalty and sustain market

leadership.

The "excitingly simple" world of i-mode

succeeds in combining high quality services at

a ff o rdable prices. i-mode is essentially a very

simple and user friendly service that allows

customers to easily access, at high speed, an

extensive variety of thematic content, while

made available on state of the art, easy to use

handsets that include the latest features. i-

mode is currently off e red through 11 exclusive

h a n d s e t s .

mobile telephony
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COSMOTE has secured agreements with

leading content providers both in Greece and

a b road with 157 official Greek and

i n t e rnational i-mode sites so far. By the end of

December 2004, and in just 7 months time, i-

mode customer take up has been very

encouraging, with i-mode service activations

surpassing 114,000. 

S i m u l t a n e o u s l y, during 2004 COSMOTE

continued to expand its very successful

MyCosmos services portfolio. The portal off e r s

to COSMOTE subscribers an umbrella of value

added mobile Internet services related to

entertainment, communication, information,

financial transactions, etc that is easily

accessible. Furthermore, COSMOTE since

September 2002 continues to provide to its

subscribers Multimedia Messaging Services

( M M S ) .

C O S M O T E ’s main strategic goal, as a member

of the OTE group, is to take full advantage of

the business opportunities arising in the ever-

evolving telecommunications market, so as to

continually enhance its leading position in

G reece and establish its presence in South

E a s t e rn Europe. In this respect: 

ñ It has extended its activities in the Balkans,

since 2000, with the purchase of 85% of the

Albanian Mobile Communications company

(∞ªC), that is one of the most profitable mobile

companies in the sector, with the highest

EBITDA margin in Europe of 57.6% at the end of

2004.
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ñ It has assumed the management of two of the

group’s mobile assets, Globul in Bulgaria and

Cosmofon in Skopja (F. Y.R.O.M.). More

s p e c i f i c a l l y, according the contract terms,

COSMOTE undertook the support of the

financial, technical, commercial, IT and

operations of Globul and Cosmofon that

operate in Bulgaria and Skopja respectively, with

the aim to create enhanced shareholder value in

the most efficient way. In April 2005, OTE and

COSMOTE agreed to the transfer of GloBul and

COSMOFON to COSMOTE, in exchange for a

cash consideration of € 490 million (€4 0 0

million for 100% of GloBul and € 90 million for

100% of COSMOFON). Specifically, OTE and

COSMOTE, after evaluating the method of

contribution in kind of the companies' shares in

exchange for a share capital increase in

COSMOTE, as was initially agreed upon in

November 2004, mutually decided that the

purchase of the shares by COSMOTE in exchange

for cash is the preferred method, in financial, tax

and regulatory terms. The transaction is subject

to a number of approvals from the relevant

corporate and state authorities.

ñ It participates in the first electronic commerce,

Business to Business (B2B) venture in Greece,

CosmoONE, following its affiliation with OTE

DIENEKIS PLIROFORIKI, ALPHA BANK and

N ATIONAL BANK OF GREECE. COSMOTE

participates in the biggest electronic music store

in the Greek Internet, promoting a significant

Business to Consumer (B2C) venture, through its

participation with the company VIVERE

ENTERTAINMENT, the Greek licensee of Virgin

trademarks, to the share capital of the company

COSMO-MEGALA KATASTIMATA.

COSMOTE’s international roaming agreements

enable mobile phone users to make and receive

calls using a foreign country’s GSM network

while paying the home GSM provider for the

calls. As of December 31, 2004, the Company

had 378 roaming agreements with mobile

telecommunications operators in 178 countries. 

mobile telephony
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COSMOTE Financial Performance

(US GAAP, Consolidated Results:

GREECE and ALBANIA)

Total group operating revenues for the year

ended December 31, 2004 increased by 17% to

reach € 1,587.8 million mainly reflecting the

15.4% increase in airtime revenues, the 38.8%

increase in monthly service fees, the 15.2%

increase in interconnection revenues and the

61.3% increase in revenues from sales of

handsets and accessories. 

It is noted that usage (blended AMOU) reached

132 minutes, up from 113 in 2003, while usage

of contract customers (contract AMOU) was 56

minutes higher (26% increase) compared to a

year ago, to 269 minutes per month. ∞s a

consequence, revenue per user (blended ARPU)

amounted to EUR 31.3, while contract ARPU

grew to approximately EUR 56.1.

More importantly profitability, EBITDA for the

year ended 31 December 2004 rose by 17.1%,

reaching EUR 675 million, while EBITDA margin

stood at 42.5% compared to 42.4% at the end

of 2003, despite one-off operating expenses

incurred in 2004 due to the Olympic Games held

in August and the heavy promotion of i-mode

following its launch in June.  EBITDA margin of

AMC for year 2004 stands 57.6%. 

COSMOTE Net Income (on a consolidated basis)

grew by 21.9% reaching EUR 308 million with

Net Income margin at 19.4%. Earnings per share

(EPS) amounted to EUR 0.93 compared to EUR

0.77 one year ago. It is noted that AMC’s Net

Income margin stood at 29.3%.
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COSMOTE's principal objective is to continue to

capitalize on the opportunities it believes are

available in the growing and evolving mobile

market both in Greece, as well in the

Southeastern European region. In pursuit of this

objective the company remains focused on the

following strategy:

ñ Sustain leadership in market share and

profitability.

ñ Enhance voice usage, stimulate VAS and

increase their revenue contribution.

ñ Establish model "work-place" organization, in

terms of quality and efficiency.

ñ Differentiate from competition on all fronts

ñ Optimize capital structure and increase returns

to shareholders.

ñ Enhance growth profile through footprint

expansion with selective value-added

investments.

Since August 2000, COSMOTE’s 97% subsidiary,

COSMOHOLDING ALBANIA, owns 85% of the

Albanian Mobile Communications company,

AMC. 

At the end of December 2004, the company had

638,728 customers (compared to 592,804 at the

end of 2003). Of these 97.4% (approximately

622 thousand) were prepaid customers. 

Since COSMOTE took control of AMC

operations, it has upgraded the existing network

by installing new BTSs, a new MSC, new billing

system and the pre-paid platform. The upgrade

of AMC’s network has considerably increased

coverage and quality of services in Albania.

During year 2004, the company continued the

upgrade of AMC’s network providing coverage

to the majority of Albania.

mobile telephony
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In January 2001, OTE acquired the licence to

develop the second network of GSM mobile

communications in Bulgaria by paying the

amount of 135 million dollars. The Company

Cosmo Bulgaria Mobile – Trade Name Globul –

was established with OTE being its exclusive

s h a reholder; this Company initiated its

commercial operation in September 2001.

COSMOTE since the beginning of 2003, and

following the Management Agreement signed

with OTE, manages Globul, OTE’s 100% owned

mobile subsidiary in Bulgaria. For the year ended

December 31, 2004, operating revenues of

Globul amounted to € 177.8 mil, up 79% y-o-y.

The company’s target to break even on EBITDA

level was successfully reached and exceeded

with EBITDA reaching € 45.3 million and EBITDA

margin 25.5%. The key driver behind the healthy

revenue growth was mainly the incre a s e d

customer base that grew by 62% y-o-y, reaching

m o re than 1.6 million customers, with

penetration estimated at approximately 60% at

year-end. 

In May 2005, Globul acquired the licence to

p rovide fixed telephony services thro u g h o u t

Bulgaria.
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In November 2001, acquired the second licence to

p rovide mobile telephony services in FYROM,

against the amount of 25 million dollars and, in

November 7th 2001, it established the MTS Mobile

Telecommunications Services AD, as well as the

MTS Holding BV, which is OTE’s 100% subsidiary

and the main shareholder of MTS. In 2003

COSMOTE undertook the Management of MTS.

In June 2003 and 5 months after COSMOTE

assumed the management of COSMOFON, OTE’s

100% owned mobile subsidiary, launched its

commercial operations as the second mobile

operator in FYROM. COSMOFON during 2003

succeeded in positioning itself very

competitively on all offerings at launch,

including tariffs and introduced price scaling and

per second billing, an advantage that continues

to remain unique to COSMOFON. This, coupled

with the rollout of a nationwide network in

record time, (based on COSMOTE's know-how &

experience), was the prime contributor to the

successful start of the company.

In 2004, COSMOFON made 149,217 net new

connections, with its entire customer-base to be

over than 233,500 customers on December 31st

2004 (215,500 users of card-mobile phones,

92%), exhibiting, thus, an increase of the order

of 177% on an annual basis. In 2004, the

turnover of COSMOFON amounted to EURO

23.5 million, presenting an annual increase of

251%.

In April 2005, OTE and COSMOTE agreed to the

transfer of GloBul and COSMOFON to

COSMOTE, in exchange for a cash consideration

of € 490 million (€400 million for 100% of

GloBul and € 90 million for 100% of

COSMOFON). Specifically, OTE and COSMOTE,

after evaluating the method of contribution in

kind of the companies' shares in exchange for a

s h a re capital increase in COSMOTE, as was

initially agreed upon in November 2004,

mutually decided that the purchase of the shares

by COSMOTE in exchange for cash is the

p re f e r red method, in financial, tax and

regulatory terms. The transaction is subject to a

number of approvals from the re l e v a n t

corporate and state authorities.

mobile telephony
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On 5.26.2005 the Board of Directors of

COSMOTE approved the signing of an

agreement between COSMOTE, ROMTELECOM

and COSMOROM under which COSMOTE will

a c q u i re 70% of COSMOROM’s capital by

participating in a capital increase of the latter.

More specifically, as part of this agreement,

COSMOTE will contribute €120 million in cash to

COSMOROM’s equity capital in exchange for a

70% equity stake in COSMOROM, with

ROMTELECOM retaining a 30% stake.

F u r t h e r m o re, all of COSMOROM’s liabilities,

except for liabilities to OTE International up to

€16 million and third party liabilities up to €2

million, will be capitalized or written-off by the

completion date of the transaction. Additionally,

COSMOTE and ROMTELECOM have entered into

a Shareholders’ Agreement providing for certain

minority protection rights for ROMTELECOM.

COSMOROM, the 3rd GSM operator in the

Romanian mobile market, whose activities have

been limited over the last few years, holds a

GSM license, which is anticipated to be modified

to include the right to use frequencies in both

EGSM 900 and GSM 1800 MHz frequency band.

The term of the license is also anticipated to be

extended to April 2014. 

COSMOTE will relaunch the operations of

COSMOROM. The transaction is subject to

a p p roval by the shareholders of COSMOTE.

According to the principal agreement, closing of

the transaction is scheduled to take place by no

later than 8.16.2005.



On the top, focusing on 
customer care

Annual Report 200448



Annual Report 2004 49

iii. subsidiary companies
internet



Annual Report 200450

internet

OTEnet SA (www.otenet.gr), an Internet product

and services provider, was established in 1996

t h rough the initiative of the Hellenic

Telecommunications Organizations (OTE) and

constitutes the outcome of its business strategy

in the area of new technologies.

OTEnet offers internet and web services, data

and voice communication over the Intern e t

Protocol (IP) as well as web applications and

hosting to residential users, businesses, and

organizations.

The carefully planned investments of OTEnet in

network infrastructure, the development of new

products and services which cover the modern

needs of businesses and consumers, the

excellent customer service, and the flexible

organizational structure are the main

characteristics which have brought OTEnet to

the leading position in the Internet sector. Today,

all OTEnet customers have at their disposal the

quality, reliability, speed, and consistency of the

largest Internet and IP Service Provider in our

country.

OTEnet is a member of the OTE Group, its main

s h a reholder with a stake of 90.20%.Va r i o u s

State Educational and Research Institutions also

participate in OTEnet’s shareholder structure

with smaller stakes.

On 12/31/2004 the share capital of OTEnet

amounted to Euro 5,400,000 and comprised

1,800,000 nominal shares, with a nominal value

of 3 Euro each.

Its customer base increased in 2004 reaching

317,000 active home clients, including all dial-up

and OnDSL HOME subscribers, and also all the

users of Internet prepaid access time cards.

There was an increase in the active business

customer base -fixed lines, Office gate, OnDSL

OFFICE and OTEnet's Data Centre customers -

which exceeded 9,950.
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Products - Services

Intense activity was developed in 2004 to

support OTEnet's business strategy. This activity

can be summarized in the creation and

i n t roduction of new services and pro d u c t s ,

a p p roach business and home users with

targeted special offers for consumer products,

business solutions and e-business services.

Otenet’s vision is to continually offer ground

b reaking products and services that will be

solutions and tools at business or personal level.

In 2004, OTEnet developed approximately 15

products, new or revised versions of existing

products. Some of the new products and services

introduced by the Company to the market were:

ñ Traffic based OnDSL Economy package

ñ OnDSL Office Basic and OnDSL Gate

Basic packages

ñ Security Kit service 

(Antivirus, Antispam, Firewall)

ñ CallerID service for the Smile & We b

p repaid card .

ñ Managed Network Services

ñ MPLS IP-VPNs Service

ñ Domain Name Registration Service

ñ SMS Ring Tones service

ñ Special prepaid Internet access services and

ADSL services for the needs of the Olympic

Games

OTEnet designed and developed over 50

websites for large customers, and at the same

time developed applications to support its

internal processes and operations (OTEnet sites,

etc.).
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Portals

One of the Company's strategic directions for

2004 was the development of portals. OTEnet

operates using the most up-to-date processes

and infrastructures. It develops pro d u c t ,

business/intra-business and customer internet

portals that automate the operational

procedures of a company, and make it accessible

to its customers, employees and partners around

the clock and around the globe via the Internet

or mobile phone.

OTEnet undertook to carry out the largest

I n t e rnet project in Europe, that is to plan,

develop, host and operate the official website

for the Athens 2004 Olympic Games. The

website operated with great success before and

during the Athens 2004 Olympic Games and

Special Olympics. 

During the duration of the Games, it attracted

the highest traffic (more than three times

higher) compared to any previous Games’

websites and the highest traffic amongst any

sport related website in the world during the

Games, being considered the best information

portal.

A complete system for the presentation of the

results of the Games to i-mode capable mobile

phones and the wap based MyCosmos service.

This application presented in real time the

results of the various games also featuring an

alerting function.

A new website was created for OTEnet’s

business presence allowing dynamic layouting

and product updating.

internet
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Network Infrastructure

R e g a rding its telecommunications network,

OTEnet went on to enhance its network

infrastructure, with the aim of ensuring the best

possible connection quality. In 2004, OTE's

doubled its international connections from 622

Mbps to 2x622 Mbps. This includes a 155 Mbps

connection from Thessaloniki.

Other activities off e red through OTEnet's IP

telecommunications network and its network

infrastructure include:

ñ Implementation of MPLS (Multi Protocol Label

Switching) technology in the network with the

ability to offer variable quality of service.

ñ Plan and upgrade the infrastructures for the

support of broadband ADSL services.

ñ Plan and implement high level redundancy

with automatic fail-over at the network’s critical

points.

ñ Improvements to network availability.

ñ Operation of new management infrastructure

and availability of SLA services.

ñ Expansion of the networks Wi-Fi hotspots and

implementation of new WLAN ro a m i n g

agreements.

IT Infrastructure

The following projects were completed in 2004,

regarding business operations support systems:

ñ OTEnet’s IT infrastructure (e.g. implementation

of the Stock and Procurement Management

modules in the Company’s ERP system)

ñ Support and operation of OTEnet’s products

and services (e.g. implementation and support of

the product/services ordering pro c e d u re ,

specially adapted to the needs of the Athens

2004 Olympic Games.

ñ Customer projects (e.g. implementation of a

back-up data processing centre - Disaster

Recovery Site – for a large business customer.
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Customer Service

Focused on the customer oriented philosophy

the Company is following over the last years,

OTEnet is still focusing on the highest quality

professional levels of customer care it offers to

its customers:

ñ It continues to impressively improve the

quantitative and qualitative figures in the

NEXT2U Customer Service Department for

consumer oriented products.

ñ It places great emphasis on the satisfaction of

its business customers’ needs, off e r i n g

integrated Technical and Business Support

services through the appropriately staff e d

NEXT2B support department.

OTEnet is active in the re s e a rch and

development sectors. The Company participates

in European Projects / Programs and also

re s e a rches and develops pilot services, thus

exploring new trends, technologies and

applications.

In summary, OTEnet’s strategy for the year 2005

in Greece and abroad is based on 3 guidelines:

ñ B roadband Internet Access and Services:

Increase and boost the market with competitive

effectiveness

ñ Data and voice telecommunication services for

business customers based on Internet Protocol

(IP) Technologies: Development of new markets

and services through the acquisition of other

companies.

ñ Informatics and Hosting Services based on

Internet Protocol (IP) Technologies: Development

of hosting and business portals’ management

services.

OTEnet's business plan for 2005 will be

developed upon the solid base built over the

past years. It will continue to target the

consumer and business market, with the aim to

further develop and increase the market size and

the Company's share. Emphasis will be placed on

the integrated business solutions based on

internet



Annual Report 2004 55

Internet technologies, a strategy apparent in

OTEnet’s activities in 2004. In addition to access

and hosting services, OTEnet will intensify, in

2005, its activity in the value added services

markets.

Relating to consumer products, OTEnet’s aims to

make the use of Internet more user friendly both

for the net’s user and even more so for the

customer. Emphasis will be placed upon user

friendly services-products, tools in the user’s

everyday life.

The merge of OTEnet and Travel.gr, a subsidiary

company, was completed on 11/8/2004. The

later has been fully absorbed by the mother

company.

Consolidated results were up by 30.6% and the

c o m p a n y ’s consolidated turnover in 2004

reached 87.7 mil. Euro compared to 67.2 mil.

Euro in 2003.

OTEnet’s Operating Income Before Depreciation

and Amortization (EBITDA) reached 13.6 mil.

Euro in 2004 compared to 9.9 mil. Euro in 2003.

Subsidiary Companies

The development of voice@net, an OTEnet

subsidiary Company, continued at an accelerated

rate in 2004. The Company pro v i d e s

c o m p rehensive solutions to the businesses

depending on their specialized

telecommunication needs. The sectors covered

relate to domestic, long distance, international

telephony and calls to mobiles.

The progress of the Company is quite impressive,

as it can be seen from its financial results. The

t u rnover for 2004 (16.1 million EURO) was

doubled in relation to 2003 (8.1 million EURO),

while the Company proved to be profitable for

the second consecutive year.
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OTEnet 
(Cyprus)

The majority of OTEnet (Cyprus) shares belong

to OTEnet S.A., while Germanos ABEE and

Cyprus Trading Corporation Ltd, a member of

the Siakolas Group, also participate in its share

capital.

OTEnet (Cyprus) operates on a commerc i a l

basis through its subsidiary, OTEnet

Telecommunications Ltd, which is the first

licensed telecommunications company in

Cyprus, with license number 001/2003 and

o ffers integrated telephony services at

competitive rates. In addition, the Company

p rovides integrated IP telecommunications

solutions satisfying the needs of small/medium

and large local and international companies

based in Cyprus.

The Company is offering its services to a broad

customer base that includes approximately 300

business customers, offering them

telecommunications solutions, Internet and

fixed telephony services having completed its

i n t e rconnection with the Public

Telecommunications Network of ATHK.

cosmoONE (www.cosmo-one.gr) was

established in June 2000 and commenced its

commercial activities in January 2001. As of its

first steps, major Organizations support its

effort, a fact that verifies the value of its work.

In addition to OTE (30.87%), COSMOTE

(30.87%), Alpha Bank (15%), DIINEKIS

PLIROFORIKI (13.18%) and the National Bank of

Greece (10.08%) participate in the Company’s

share capital. Today, cosmoONE has a leading

position in the Business-to-Business e-commerce

(B2B) field in our country. As of the beginning of

2001, the Company has exhibited steady

development rates and constant improvement

of its financial results. The confidence of its

customers is proved by the fact that in the time

period extending from 2001 up to 2004, the

value of the commercial transactions carried out

through cosmoONE was over EURO 1 billion.

internet
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The purpose of the Company is to provide

services and solutions leading to the increase in

the profit making of the businesses through the

decrease in the cost relating to purchases and

procurements.

In 2004, the entire value of the transactions in

cosmoONE’s electronic market was configured to

EURO 360,000,000, increased by 14.8% as

compared to the previous year. Moreover, 248

electronic auctions were carried out, with the

value of the materials and services under auction

to amount to EURO 39,000,000. It is assessed

that the average reduction in the budgeted

purchase cost, via e-auctions, was configured to

16.7%, which constitutes a quite important

financial benefit for the participating companies. 

The rate of increase of the electronic auctions,

which rose to 27% as compared to 2003, is quite

encouraging, a fact that demonstrates the

corporate world’s increasing interest in the

advantages to be gained by the electronic form

of the business negotiations. By the end of 2004,

over than 600 companies have taken advantage

of the options provided by the electro n i c

commerce, through cosmoONE’s products and

services.

The action plan of the Company for 2005 is

focused on five main services’ dire c t i o n s ,

namely:

ñ Electronic seeking of partners, services and

products (e-RFx)

ñ Electronic negotiations of prices (e-Auctions)

ñ Electronic processing of orders (e-Procurement)

ñ P ro c u rement or sales’ data analyses by

electronic means (e-Intelligent Reports), and

ñ Electronic transmission of commercial back-up

documentation among purchasers and suppliers

(e-Document Transmission).
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other activities

"OTE AKINHTA S.A." (brand name OTEestate) is

a subsidiary of the OTE Group to whom the

entire real estate property of the Organization

has been transferred in view of managing and

utilizing it. The Company was founded in

October 2000 and its headquartesr are located in

Athens (15 Stadiou Street). Its share capital

amounts to EURO 452.5 million.

The transfer of the real estate property to

OTEestate by OTE was performed based on the

" s p i n - o ff" pro c e d u re, which was the major

company transformation ever effected in Greece

and included approximately 2,300 properties.

This leading and unique task so far in the Greek

enterprising world was quite strenuous due to

the form, extent, complexity and particularities

of the transferred real estate investments.

Approximately 2,300 properties were recorded

and transferred to approximately 400 Land

registries throughout the country. To d a y

OTEestate is the only real estate company of the

former wider Public Sector having its entire

property recorded, described and transferred in

the Land registries.

The strategic objectives of the Company, under

the perspective of the OTE group are the

following:

ñ Achieving re-valuations through the

utilization, development and commerc i a l

exploitation of the real estate property;

ñ Increasing the income and profit making of the

Group and creating value for the Share holders;

ñ Rationalizing the housing policy of the Group

and the relevant expenses;

ñ Removing from OTE the activities relating to

the real estate property, which do not belong to

the its core business;

ñ Maintaining by OTE Group the control over the

real estate property that has a strategic

importance for the Company.

The purpose of the Company provides for a wide

spectrum of activities, including the

construction, development, utilization,

management and exercising of all associated

technical or commercial activities relating to real

estate property of any kind and use, privately-

owned or not, in Greece and abroad.
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The following are incorporated into the

framework of the aforesaid purpose:

ñ The more effective management of the real

estate property used in order to satisfy the

housing needs of the Companies belonging to

the OTE Group and the reduction of the housing

cost.

ñ The utilization of the surplus deriving from the

technology evolution in the telecommunications

field and the more rational use of the areas

t h rough selling, exchanging or renting self-

contained buildings or areas to third parties;

ñ The profitable investment of the pro d u c t

relating to renting and selling OTEestate’s real

estate property into purchasing of new

properties, developing or improving its existing

properties, etc.

In view of achieving its purpose, OTEestate can

establish or participate in subsidiary companies,

joint ventures and associations in order to

provide services relating to its main activity, in

investment companies and real estate funds, it

can also cooperate with consulting firms, banks,

financial organization, construction and

engineering firms.

The Company possesses an important real estate

property (one of the major real estate properties

in Greece), its value reaching the amount of

approximately 1.3 billion EURO, on the basis of

the assessment effected at the end of 2003 by

the independent company FPD Savillis Hellas.

The Company’s property includes significant

plots of land throughout Greece, in strategic

locations, the majority of the buildings being in

central locations of towns and cities. It is made

up of:

2,276 plots with an area of 9,322,000m2

approximately. Out of which:

ñ 222 are un-built plots (1,100,000m2

approximately)

ñ 10% of all plots are located within large cities

(16% of the total surface)

2,249 buildings with a surface area of

approximately 1,143,500m2.

ñ 30 buildings have an individual accounting

value of over EURO 3 million each

ñ 5.5% of the buildings are in central locations in

large cities (about 43% of the total surface

area of the buildings)

ñ 73% of the buildings were built after 1985

ñ 86% of the buildings house

telecommunications installations

ñ 94% of the areas is rented to OTE.
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The buildings are of great architectural variety

and are spread throughout the country. Many of

them exhibit a particular and unique

architectural design, adapted to the needs for

housing OTE’s operations and to the local

environment, respecting at the same time the

architectural tradition of each area. Due to their

location and telecommunications characteristics,

they can be used for the installation of mobile

telephony antennas and other kinds of wireless

(radio) communication. Their structure is most

robust; they exhibit loading strength and an

excellent behavior in earthquakes.

The largest property is the Administration

Building of OTE (99 Kifissias Avenue)

ñ It houses the Administration of the OTE Group

and its Staff Services;

ñ It has 13 floors, 1 floor for installations

(facilities), 2 basements and 2 terraces;

ñ Its total surface is 84,000m2 approximately, out

of which 54,000m2 are office areas;

ñ It was handed over for use in 1988 and is built

in a plot of 52,400m2.

OTEestate commenced its business activity in

June 2003, via the registration of the "spin-off"

contract in the records of the relative Prefecture;

it was then when the ownership of the property

was transferred to OTEestate. Until then, the

Company provided consulting services to OTE on

the basis of a Contract for Managing OTE’s

property.

The Company already manages more than 1300

property rentals to legal and physical entities. Its

main lessee is OTE. A major part of its rentals

comprise leases for the installation of base-

stations and antennas of mobile telephony,

wireless communications, etc., for which there is

a relevant demand by mobile telephony

companies and other bodies (public or private).

Worth mentioning are the 1000 leases

approximately of Cosmote and the 56 leases to

Siemens and Motorola Companies for the

installation of the C4i safety system. Until the

present date, beyond leases, the Company has

proceeded to independent sales of its regional

p roperties and to the construction,

refurbishment and renewal of some of its

buildings in view of their further utilization.

other activities
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Due to the utilization of its property (rentals,

sales, etc.), the revenues of the Company are

quite significant. In 2003, OTEestate’s turnover

reached the amount of EURO 51 million and its

profits - before taxes - amounted to EURO 20

million approximately. In 2004 it is expected that

its turnover will reach the amount of EURO 55.5

million and its profits - before taxes - will

amount to approximately EURO 22.4 million. As

regards 2005, it is anticipated that its revenues

will be over than EURO 70 million.

The actions of the Company fall into the

framework of its Strategic Plan, which was

drafted with the support of the Utilization

Consultant. Deutsche Bank - EFG Telesis Finance

constitute the business scheme of the

Consultant, while the Companies Kantor and

FPD Savillis participate therein, as Special

Consultants. The Plan provide for the utilization

of the real estate property of OTEestate through

development, sales, leases, as well as through

the Securitization and Sale & Leaseback option.

Based on the strategic plan of the Utilization

Consultant and the new state of affairs that is

going to develop with the implementation of

the volunteer departure program, the business

plans of the Company for the next three-year

period, namely 2005-1007, include, among

others, the following:

ñ Construction of a Materials’ Management

C e n t re to be rented to OTE (15,000m2 o f

Warehouses, Offices and parking areas) in a land

plot with an area of 109,000m2 at Boskiza, in

Parnitha area (near Olympic Village). The design

of this project is already completed. It is

anticipated that it would be delivered in early

2006.

ñ Utilization of the property of OTE’s

Headquarters, on 99 Kifissias Avenue, by

constructing a second 10,000m2 building with

u n d e r g round parking facilities for 500-700

spaces. The final selection of the type and the

extent of the utilization shall be based on the

new needs for housing OTE, to derive from the

implementation of the volunteer departure

p rogram of the personnel, which has been

announced by OTE Management, in

combination with the increasing housing needs

of OTE’s subsidiaries.

ñ Utilization of the OTE’s warehouse areas on

Petrou Ralli Street, by constructing an area of

21,000m2 which will be entirely free after the

transfer of the warehouses to the new Material

Management Center in Parnitha.
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ñ Utilization of a building complex with an area

of 24,000m2 in Kallithea area, on Davaki Street.

ñ Utilization of the OTE’s warehouse areas with

a surface of 15, 000m2 on 26th October Street in

Thessaloniki, with a construction area of

approximately 30,000m2.

ñ Utilization of a free land plot with an area of

8,400m2 in Taramboura area in the southern

section of Patras, with a construction area of

approximately 10,000m2.

ñ Utilization of a building with an area of

5,600m2 in Kipseli, adjacent to Courts Complex

on Evelpidon Street.

ñ Selling of smaller buildings and land plots

throughout the country.

ñ Utilization of areas with a total surface over

200,000m2 in various buildings throughout the

country, which will become available in 2005.

F u r t h e r m o re, as a result of its extensive

experience and know-how it has acquired and

developed in issues pertaining to "spin-off "

activities and the utilization of the business real

estate pro p e r t y, the Company can pro v i d e

consulting services to the companies of the

wider public sector and to private

(telecommunications or other) companies, which

are interested in proceeding to the utilization of

their property. The Company is also examining

the option to provide Facility Management

services.

The magnitude of the revenues in combination

with the levels of the Company’s own capitals

create the preconditions for OTEestate to play a

leading and dynamic role in the Real Estate

market and justify the optimism for essential

results to the benefit of the OTE Group. The

establishment and operation of the Company is

a major step on the part of the Group in a

business field very important for the Gre e k

economy and verify that OTE remain a driving

business force.

other activities
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INFOTE, a subsidiary Company of the OTE Group,

has operated as an independent unit since June

2001. In 2002, the procedures for the directory

sector’s spin off from OTE and the transfer of the

operations to the new subsidiary were

completed.

During 2004:

ñ The turnover amounted to EURO 59.41 million

against EURO 55.87 million in 2003, presenting

thus an increase of the order of 6.3%.

ñ The net profits before taxes were configured at

the amount of EURO 16.92 million, presenting

thus a positive alteration of the order of 6.7% as

compared to the profits in 2003.

ñ The EBITDA amounted to EURO 18.59 million,

i n c reased by 5.4% as compared with the

respective EBITDA in 2003.

ñ The EBITDA profit float was configured at

31.3%, as compared with 31.6% in 2003.

ñ In 2004, capitals amounting to EURO 3.91

million or 6.6% of the overall turnover were

invested.

ñ The course of sales, as compared with the

p revious year, resulted in the increase of

customers by 15%.

ñ The telephony and data networks were

integrated into a common data network with

the use of IP telephony.

ñ Sun Solaris software and ORACLE database

were installed in view of satisfying all needs of

the production system.

ñ All information systems were intergrated

under the domain headquarters.gr.

ñ A Panhellenic corporate VPN thro u g h

Hellascom was created in all points of presence

of INFOTE throughout the country.

ñ 44 publications (blue pages, guides) were

issued.



Annual Report 200466

In addition, the following activities concerned

new and existing products for 2004, namely:

ñ Assuming the rights to publish and make

available the Public Services Guide in 2004.

ñ Publication of Daily Attica Yellow Pages.

ñ Publication of "Pocket Guides" for To u r i s t s .

ñ Publication of Attica and Thessaloniki

Yellow Pages.

ñ Expansion of the voice service operation of

the "Golden Number" 11811 throughout the

c o u n t r y.

The Company’s targets for 2005 are as follows:

ñ Increasing the customers’ percentage by 20%

and the turnover of the Company by 18%. The

e l e c t ronic products of INFOTE shall play an

important role in achieving this goal.

ñ The transition to the new production software

(STIBO).

ñ Automation of contracts’ entry.

ñ Charges monitoring system - AR system.

ñ Integration of servers and databases.

ñ C reation of new Yellow Pages, the

development of "Pocket Guides", the

publication of Yellow Pages containing tourist

information, the expansion of the service of the

"Golden Number" 11888 in Cyprus, as well as

the publication of the Maritime Yellow Pages.

The Company employs 538 persons, out of

whom 157 persons are OTE’s employees. During

2004, significant benefits were provided to the

employees; actions were undertaken in view of

i m p roving their work conditions, while

important training programs were carried out. In

addition, the system pertaining to salaries and

incentives to personnel was processed and re-

defined.

other activities
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HELLASCOM is a subsidiary Company of OTE

S.A., in which the latter possesses 51.4%. In

addition, Siemens and Intracom possess 15%

each, ETEVA 7%, ANKO, Fulgor, NEXAS and

Telecalodia possess 2% each, MARAK, RAY C A P

and SPACE HELLAS 1% each, while UPTEK

P roducts of High Technology has 0.6%.

The main activity of the Company is the

implementation of telecommunications works

in foreign countries. For the last two years,

m o re than 95% of the works it has carried out

derive from companies of the OTE Gro u p .

HellasCom utilizes as suppliers basically the

companies being its shareholders, as mentioned

a b o v e .

The new OTE’s Management set as a strategic

objective the Company not to have a

s h a re h o l d e r ’s relation with its suppliers. 

M o re o v e r, OTE has decided to continue the

activity relating to the telecommunications

p rojects through OTEPlus (former Temagon). In

the near future in the OTE Group there shall be

telecommunications projects in which OTEPlus

can activate itself, such as the development of

the fixed telephony in Bulgaria, the

development of the mobile telephony in

Romania, etc. More o v e r, outside the OTE Gro u p ,

OTEPlus can activate itself in respective pro j e c t s ,

such as projects falling into the framework of

the "Information Society" Business Plan.

For the immediate and successful development

of OTEPlus in this sector, the experience

Hellascom has acquired and the list of the

p rojects that it has successfully implemented in

the past are deemed quite necessary.

In view of the above, the solution proposed and

decided upon by the Board of Directors of OTE

on 5/19/2005 consisted in the purchasing by

OTE of the shares of the minority share h o l d e r s

(48%). There f o re, Hellascom, being 100% a

subsidiary company of OTE, shall become the

executive "arm" of OTEPlus.
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OTEPLUS A.E 

Established in 1987, with OTE as its main

s h a re h o l d e r, TEMAGON is a consultancy

company providing Technology and

Management Consulting Services to the OTE

Group.

In 2004, the Company responded quite

successfully to the efforts made by our country

for conducting the Olympic Games through its

active participation in the provision of consulting

services in issues related to investment and

c o m m e rcial planning, staffing and personnel

training, operations organization and design,

risk analysis, contingency plan and disaster

recovery.

During 2004, TEMAGON developed further

specialization and know-how in the

organization, monitoring, implementation and

exploitation of the projects falling into the

framework of the 3RD CSF, and more specifically

in the "Information Society" sector which is

exploited in many other sectors of the economy,

such as Health, Culture, To u r i s m ,

Communications, Transportation, Environment,

Regional Development, etc. 

ñ The Company continued the implementation

of international Research and Development

Projects, as well as the provision of Technical

Assistance to Third Countries (countries not

included into the European Union) in the

framework of the Funded Programs of the

European Union.

ñ In the frame of the OTE Group, TEMAGON

provided technical and consulting support in

issues such as the management - support of the

chain of logistics, commercial operation of the

corporate and house customers, the provision

for marketable items demand, safety of

telecommunications and information systems,

introduction and development of information

systems and applications, while the Company’s

know-how in issues pertaining to the 3rd CSF

was systematically utilized by the Group as well.

The strategic guidelines for the development of

the Company in 2005 are the following:

ñ Entry in new markets with the simultaneous

development of the services / solutions

TEMAGON provides.

ñ Widening of the consulting services, the

technical and operational support it provides to

the OTE Group and major corporate clients

(wider public and private sector, Euro p e a n

Union) in the framework of a targeted

geographic strategy.

other activities
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ñ Developing and promoting business

s o l u t i o n s / p roducts to the private and public

sector, utilizing the know-how that is developed

through the consulting work, in sectors such as

training, regional development and electronic

management.

More specifically, in 2005 the Company aims at:

ñ Claiming major projects from the OTE Group,

as regards the provision of consulting services.

ñ Further widening the activities and the range

of services/solutions of the Company.

ñ The targeted module widening in selected

fields - priorities of the Greek Economy, such as

H e a l t h - We l f a re, Regional Development,

S t rengthening of the Competitiveness,

Transportation, Tourism, in the framework of the

3rd CSF.

ñ Claiming more projects and increasing its

participation share in the projects of the

"Information Society" Business Program.

ñ The extensive support of the OTE Group for

claiming and implementing projects of the 3rd

CSF.

ñ Development of an integrated "package" of

services/solutions for organizations, businesses,

etc.

O T E S AT-Maritel provides satellite

telecommunication services in the maritime

community and is OTE’s subsidiary Company,

which participates in its share capital with a

p e rcentage of 93.82%. Members of the

maritime community (75 physical and legal

entities) also participate in its share capital with

a percentage of 4.12%, as well as the

Companies ALCATEL S.A. and Equant

Telecommunications Hellas S.A., with a

percentage of 1.03% each.
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O T E S AT-Maritel provides Inmarsat satellite

services with a worldwide coverage and a

uniform, per system, tariff through the

«Thermopylai» Earth Satellite Station for the

Eastern Atlantic and the Indian Oceans and

through cooperating Stations for the Western

Atlantic and the Pacific Oceans via the

conclusion of Hosting Agreements.

In addition, the Company provides value added

services and integrated telecommunication

solutions in both Greek and intern a t i o n a l

maritime industry with the combination of

satellite and earth telecommunication networks

and information technology applications.

Moreover, the Company constitutes an «one

stop shop» for the products and the services

offered by OTE, COSMOTE and OTEnet in the

maritime market.

In 2004 the turnover of the Company was

increased by 6% as compared to 2003 and

reached the amount of approximately EURO

19.7 mil., while the profits before taxation,

interests and amortizations (EBITDA) amounted

to approximately EURO 2.2 million, presenting,

thus, an increase of the order of 11%. In

addition, the Inmarsat satellite

telecommunication traffic was increased by 12%

in 2004, as compared to 2003.

In 2004, the Company maintained its leading

position in the Greek maritime community with

a market share of approximately 52% (ship to

shore communication), while 50% of the Greek

owned ships is registered in its GR01 & GR12.

During 2004, OTESAT-Maritel proceeded with

the commercial operation of the following new

services:

ñ The Inmarsat Fleet55&33 satellite

telecommunications systems with high speed

capabilities and connection to the IP network.

ñ The hermes_messaging and se@COMM

software for the transfer of data to and from

ships.

other activities
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ñ The VPN services for the Inmarsat Fleet55&33,

which secure safe and controlled access to the IP

network.

ñ Voice mail services that give the option to the

ship crews to receive voice messages.

ñ SMS from mobile phone to Inmarsat – C.

During 2005, OTESAT-Maritel plans the

c o m m e rcial operation of the following new

services:

ñ Inmarsat mini-C satellite services.

ñ «Hermes_messaging», extension of the service

for sending and receiving e-mails or SMS by the

crews via the use of a scratch card and for

delivering messages in telex and fax.

ñ Se@comm extension of the service for sending

and receiving e-mails by the crews via the use of

a scratch card.

ñ Vessel and vehicular tracking system through

Inmarsat-C and Mini-C.

ñ Voice mailbox for corporate use (B2B). Satellite

broadband services.

ñ E-billing.

ñ Fleet77 at 128Kbps. The introduction of this

service forerunner of the Inmarsat broadband

services is under consideration.

At the end of 2004, the capital share of HELLAS

SAT Consortium LTD amounted to 51 million

dollars (OTE S.A.: 83.34%, AvacomNET Services

Ltd: 8.51%, Cyprus Development Bank (KTA):

3.84%, EAB: 3.92%, TELESAT: 0.39%). In

addition, it possesses 99.99% of the HELLASSAT

S.A., whose capital share amounts to EURO 3.06

million. The entire funded investment amounts

to EURO 172.14 million.

During the second semester of 2004, the

operational re-structuring was eff e c t e d

successfully; the operations of both companies

(HELLAS SAT Consortium Ltd + HELLASSAT S.A.)

w e re completed and optimised and a new

smaller and flexible organization scheme was

c reated. At the same time, the sales were

strengthened and the operation of the satellite

was transferred to Greece. In view of the

aforementioned procedures, the average annual

operational cost of the order of 15% was

reduced, while the sales were increased. HELLAS

SAT (HELLAS SAT Consortium Ltd + HELLASSAT

S.A.) employs 60 persons in total and its average

annual operational cost for the period 2004 –

2018 is estimated to amount to approximately

EURO 8.5 million.



Annual Report 200472

H E L L A S S AT provides satellite capacity for

B roadcasting, IP direct access services, IP

trunking services, Corporate networks,

Occasional Use.

The regions in which HELLASSAT is active are

We s t e rn and Central-Eastern Europe, Middle

East and Africa, India and Pakistan.

2004 was the first year of the commerc i a l

operation of HELLASSAT and during the second

semester of 2004, the Company entered the

i n t e rnational market of satellite capacity

dynamically and with great success. It managed

to attract important customers, it exhibited a

quite exceptional performance during the

Olympic Games and established its prestige and

reliability.

The satellite fullness related target for 2004 was

successfully achieved and the revenues for

HELLASSAT amounted to EURO 6.7 million. For

2005, the anticipated revenues for the Company

amount to EURO 17 million (increased by +158%

in comparison with 2004), out of which a

positive EBITDA margin (43%) will derive as of

the second year of the commercial operation.

Based on the Business Plan of the Company, it is

estimated that during the period 2005 – 2018

the average annual revenue of the Company will

reach the amount of EURO 30 million. During the

same period the average return indexes, such as

EBITDA, EBIT and Profit margin are of the order

of 70%, 40% and 20% respectively; these

percentages prove a quite dynamic perspective

for the long-term development of the Company.

The most important activities for 2004 were the

following:

ñ The transfer of the control centre of the

satellite to the HELLASSAT installations in OTE’s

Headquarters at Maroussi in October 2003 and

the technical support of the satellite by the

company’s officers.

ñ The participation in funding programs of the

E u ropean Space Agency (Host, Rural Wings,

ASAMIR) for the development of advanced

satellite services.

ñ The attendance and participation in the most

significant International Forums.

ñ The use of the HELLASSAT by the first and

greatest DVB-RCS European Platform (Satlynx),

offering satellite broadband internet.

other activities
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ñ The use of the HELLASSAT by a European High-

Definition TV transmission.

ñ The foundation of the Company Hellas on

Satellite (HOS) with the Central Union of

Chambers of Greece.

The targets of the Company for 2005 are the

following:

ñ The supply, installation and operation of a

privately-owned DVB-RCS HUB at the

HELLASSAT installations in OTE’s Headquarters

at Maroussi and the initiation of the commercial

provision on services for broadband satellite

access.

ñ The market development in Africa.

On 5/19/2005 the OTE’s Board of Directors made

a resolution for the purchase of all shares of

AvacomNet Services Ltd to the Company, as well

as the purchase of all remaining minority shares

of Hellas Sat Consortium Ltd., on condition that

the above are offered for sale.

The name of the Company is «ANONYMOS

E K PAIDEFTIKI ETAIREIA OTE» (trade-name

OTEACADEMY).

Its capital share amounts to EURO 879,000. The

share holders of the Company are: OTE with

299,970 shares and OTESAT-Maritel with 30

shares.

The Company was founded in December 2004.

The target of the Company is to be established

in the OTE’s Group as well as in the wider market

as the leading Company offering «Training for

ever» and information of high performance

related services, which are necessary for the

operation and establishment of OTE’s Group as

the World Class Performer and, by extension, of

the companies of the broader market.

Moreover, co-operations with training institutes

in Greece and abroad are under consideration in

view of widening the training activities and

covering a part of the cost through the offering

of training services outside OTE as well.
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iv. international activities
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international activities

Having as a guide the establishment of good

relations and co-operation in the countries

where OTE has made serious investments, its

Management seeked and succeeded in settling

all the accumulated in the past disputes and

differences.

A new agreement was signed in Armenia and all

disputes were settled, in Serbia there has been a

new agreement and OTE withdrew from its

mediation claims, while in Romania it went

ahead and found a solution to Cosmorom’s

issue.

Today, OTE’s relations with the governments of

the countries, in which it has a presence, are

excellent and it is investigating new

opportunities to extend its activities.

OTE International Investments was established

in October 1998 as OTEROM Ltd. to manage and

oversee OTE's investments abroad. It was

renamed to OTE International Investments in

November 2000. The company is a 100% owned

subsidiary of OTE SA

The Company’s role and orientation today is

to monitor all the OTE’s Group investments

a b road by:

ñ Effective investment management.

ñ Best optimisation of the know-how and the

synergies between the Group companies.

ñ Strengthen and develop the capabilities of the

investment companies.

ñ Support the Gro u p ’s management in its

strategic and business decision making with

regard to the Company’s investments.

ñ Implement special projects for the Group with

regard to its investments.
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In December 1998, OTE acquired, through its

subsidiary OTEROM, which during 2001 was

renamed to OTE International Investments, a

35% stake of Romtelecom, the Romanian

telephony provider.

At the beginning of 2003 the increase of its

s h a re capital in Romtelecom was finalised.

Additionally, the purchase of additional shares

f rom the Romanian State, resulted in OTE

International Investments owning 54.01% of the

share capital of the Company (initially 35%).

On 12/31/2004 Romtelecom had 4,767,261

installed lines, while its subscribers numbered

approximately 4,337,823 and the number of

card phones reached 50,348.

During 2004, 292,595 new digital connections

w e re installed, resulting in a network

digitalisation of 79.4%.

The number of employees was reduced by 5,786,

leaving 18,083 employees, at the end of the

year.

The lines per employee ratio increased from 181

in 2003 to 240 in 2004.

Consolidated turnover reached 839 mil. Euro in

2004, a 5.2% increase compared to 2003. 

Operating Expenses Before Depreciation and

Amortization reached 555.7 mil. Euro, a decrease

of 4.3% compared to 2003.

The above resulted in the Operating revenue

before taxes, depreciation and amortization and

interest (EBITDA) to reach 283.3 mil. Euro in

2004. Consolidated net profit amounted to

107.1 mil. Euro.

The Company’s targets for 2005 include:

digitalisation of the telecommunication network

to reach 92% by the end of the year, provide

b roadband services in the bigger cities in

Romania, install and operate a single network

management system, install and operate the

new customer billing system (GENEVA) and

install and operate the new ERP (ORACLE

FINANCIALS), re-organise its re g i o n a l

departments in 7 Regional Areas, further reduce

the number of employees and deal with the

Cosmorom SA issue.
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In March 1998, OTE acquired 90% of the share

capital of Armentel, the Armenian state

telecommunications organization. The

remaining 10% is owned by the Armenian State.

Armentel holds exclusive rights to provide fixed

and mobile telephony. It also has the right to

provide Internet and data services and any other

service. In March 2002, the company

commenced offering card - operated mobile

telephony with great demand.

A new agreement was concluded between OTE

and the Armenian State on 11/25/2004. With

this settlement agreement, all the disputes

between the Armenian Government, OTE and

Armentel are settled and a new Agreement is

signed for a revised Operating License for

Armentel. With the new Operating License the

telecommunications regulatory environment is

improved, the exclusive rights of Armentel in

fixed telephony and competition is introduced in

mobile telephony.

The above are expected to add to the Company’s

value, with increases in revenues, adaptation to

the competitive environment and customer

orientation.

Armentel’s revenues in 2004 increased by 23%

compared to the previous year. This increase was

mainly the result of the development of mobile

telephony, the revenues of which contribute

a p p roximately 40% to the Company’s total

revenues. An important step in 2004 was the

p rovision of VoIP (incoming traffic) which

brought revenues of 4 mil. Euro. The Company’s

international activities
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profitability is deemed satisfactory and EBITDA

rose to 58.1% in 2004 from 49% in 2003. This is

also accompanied by a significant improvement

to the Company’s available Reserves.

The Company’s investments in 2004, totalled 29

mil. Euro, 17 mil. Euro of which were invested in

mobile telephony.

At the end of 2004, the Company had 578,973

fixed telephony connections (242,672 digital and

336,301 analogue) in operation (an increase of

2.7% compared to 2003). Digitalisation reached

41.9% (digitalisation in the city of Erevan was

70% and in the rest of the country 13%). The

number of mobile subscribers, in 2004, reached

200,000 from 110,000 in 2003. 

(25% contract and 75% card - o p e r a t e d

customers). The number of cardphones reached

1.585.

The Company is at the final stage of preparing

the business plan for the subsequent 5 years, its

targets being to continue to hold the leading

position in the mobile telephony market, to

increase the digitalisation in the country (100%

in its capital – Erevan and the rest of the country

based on the return on investment criteria), to

complete the provision of VolP services through

the introduction – exclusively – of the VolP

service for outgoing telephone calls too, to re-

structure the Company and utilize the human

re s o u rces through training and provision of

incentives, with the salary cost not to exceed 12-

13% of the annual revenue of the Company, to

give a share to the shareholders during this

period with an increasing trend.
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In June 1997, OTE acquired 20% of the share

capital of Telecom Serbia, the Serbian national

telecommunications monopoly, while Telecom

Italia acquired 29% stake of the Company. The

remaining 51% remained under the ownership

of the initial shareholder, PTT Serbia.

In December 2002, Telecom Italia sold the share

it owned in Telecom Serbia to the Serbian PTT.

In May 2003, OTE had recourse to the

International Arbitration in order to ensure the

i n t e rests of the Organization and the

shareholders as regards the new situation that

had been created and, at the same time, it tried

to find a business solution, by contacting the

Serbian political leadership.

In September 2004, a Memorandum of

Understanding was finally signed among the

OTE, PTT and the Serbia Telecom, according to

which OTE withdraws the arbitration procedure

and erases the income from management fees,

on condition that a New Share h o l d e r s

Agreement and Statutes is signed and that the

loan capital that had been granted in 1997, the

stamp duty and the interests are paid off. On

September 20th 2004, Telecom Serbia paid to

OTE the loan capital (EURO 12,491,620.44). The

three instalments of the interests, as well as the

stamp duty on the loan interests have already

been paid.

In December 2004, a New Share h o l d e r s

Agreement was signed, according to which, OTE

has increased minority rights, it appoints two of

the nine members of the Board of Directors, as

well as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and

the Chief Financial Officer of Telecom Serbia.

In December 2004, the Board of Directors of the

Telecom Serbia made a resolution about the

distribution of a dividend for financial year 2003

and of a pre-dividend for 2004. The dividend

distributed for OTE is 757.9 million Dinars for

2003 and 208 million Dinars for 2004.

international activities
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At the end of 2004, Telecom Serbia had

2,528,223 fixed telephony connections (an

increase of 5.84% compared with the previous

year) and 2,323,001 mobile telephony

connections (an increase of 30.17% compared

with the previous year) and a 55.1% market

s h a re. 2,185,441 (94.1%) were card mobile

telephony connections and 137,560 (5,9%) were

contract subscribers.

The digitalization percentage was incre a s e d

f rom 60% on 12/31/2003 to 68.2% on

12/21/2004.

In mobile telephony coverage reached 95.5% in

population, geographical coverage re a c h e d

83.3% and the number of base stations

amounted to 575 (38% increase as compared

with 2003).

During 2004, the operational revenues were

i n c reased by 16% in comparison with the

previous year, although the tariff policy of the

company had not been changed. The revenues’

i n c rease resulted from the increase of the

number of the fixed telephony subscribers and

the increase of the mobile telephony customer-

base, as well as from the provision of new

services (ADSL, Intelligent Network in the fixed

telephony and MTS, MMS GPRS in the mobile

telephony).

The number of employees on 12/31/2004

amounted to 12,565.

For 2005, the targets of the Company are: the

operational revenues to increase by 21%, the

fixed telephony subscribers to increase by 6%,

the pulses in fixed telephony to increase by 15%

and the minutes in mobile telephony by 94%.

The digitalization to reach 78%, while the base

stations in mobile telephony to reach 715.

In Ukraine, OTE is active through its

participation in UKRANIAN WAVE. It has alre a d y

made its decision about its disengagement fro m

this investment, which is dealing with severe

cash flow problems that may even result in the

C o m p a n y ’s liquidation. In addition, in Jord a n

the Company TRANS JORDAN FOR

C O M M U N I C ATIONS SERVICES, in which OTE

participates, is under liquidation, while in

Yemen OTE’s disengagement from YEMEN

PAYPHONE COMPANY has already been decided

and the relevant pro c e d u res have already been

i n i t i a t e d .



When you put your heart in it 
there is no contest
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v. Olympic Sponsorship 2004
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Olympic Sponsorship 2004

The OTE-COSMOTE-OTEnet consortium, as the

telecommunications Grand National Sponsor of

the Olympic Games, was solely responsible for

the provision of telecommunications services

for the support of the Athens 2004 Olympic

Games, the Special Olympics and the test

events for the Olympic Games. The range of

telecommunications services provided by the

consortium included, among other things:

ñ provision of fixed and mobile telephony and

Internet services to the Olympic family, athletes,

journalists and sponsors of the Games, as well as

to a large number of spectators;

ñ contribution of television and commentary

signal from various Olympic Games venues to

the International Broadcasting Center (IBC)

under an agreement with Athens Olympic

Broadcasting (AOB);

ñ transmission of live television coverage signal

( a p p roximately 100 simultaneous pro g r a m s )

through our international network, making it

available to a world-wide audience of over 4

billion viewers; and

ñ interconnection of all information technology

systems supporting the Olympic Games in one

integrated network.

Under the sponsorship agreement, the OTE-

COSMOTE-OTEnet consortium contributed an

aggregate amount of Euro 58.6 million to the

Organizing Committee of the Olympic Games

("OEOA"). This included a cash contribution in

the amount of Euro 29.3 million and the

provision of telecommunications services at a

value of Euro 29.3 million.

In addition to the services provided under the

terms of the sponsorship agreement, members

of the consortium and other companies of OTE

G roup separately entered into several

agreements with third parties for the provision

of various services in connection with the

Olympic Games. The total gross re v e n u e s

derived from these agreements and the

respective services amounted to approximately

Euro 44 million for the OTE Group, including

Euro 21 million for OTE alone. These agreements

included, among other things:

ñ The deployment and operation by OTE of an

internal structured wiring network for voice and

data throughout the Olympic facilities, in

collaboration with the OEOA.

ñ The construction by Hellascom International of

a Cable Television (CATV) internal  network for

the distribution of television signal throughout

the Olympic venues, in collaboration with the

OEOA.
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ñ The transmission of television signal from the

Olympic facilities to the Olympic Games

International Business Center (IBC).

ñ The provision by OTE of leased lines and

operating facilities for the National Security

System (C4I) for a period of ten years and the

leasing by OTE Estate of space for the

installation of the C4I-TETRA equipment within

its facilities for a period of twelve years.

ñ The provision of international circuits to third

parties, including both terrestrial circ u i t s

through OTEGlobe and satellite circuits through

OTE and HellasSat.

ñ The implementation and operation of the

Olympic Games portal "Athens 2004" by

OTEnet.

The aggregate capital expenditure of the

consortium relating to the Olympic Games was

E u ro 148.5 million. OTE's total capital

expenditure for its investment program relating

to the development of telecommunications

infrastructure for the Olympic Games in the

period from 2001 to 2004 was Euro 105.7

million, excluding OTE's share (Euro 34.9 million)

of the contribution made by the consortium

under the sponsorship agreement. COSMOTE's

total capital expenditure relating primarily to

network expansion and other mobile telephony

investment in connection with the Olympic

Games over the same period was Euro 40.7

million, excluding COSMOTE's share of the

contribution made by the consortium under the

sponsorship agreement, and OTEnet's total

capital expenditure relating primarily to network

upgrade and the provision of Internet services to

the Olympic Village Data Center over the same

period was Euro 2.1 million. 

Despite increased revenues derived from both

increased telecommunications traffic and the

various agreements concluded with respect to

the Olympic Games, as we expected, OTE Group

did not realize financial profit from its

involvement in the Olympic Games. The

Company expects, however, that it may redeploy

a significant part of OTE’s and COSMOTE's

infrastructure investment and derive a financial

return from such redeployment and that it may

also derive additional benefits from business

agreements the Company expects to conclude in

the future in connection with the C4I-TETRA

telecommunications system. The Company also

believes that through its involvement in the

Olympic Games it has significantly promoted the

image of OTE Group both in Greece and abroad

and have gained significant experience and

know-how with respect to new technologies

and services which we expect to allow it to

further enhance the quality of its services.



With the appropriate recruitment 
growth is achieved
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vi. human resources
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human resources

At the end of 2004, the number of the

permanent employees was 16,206, including

those seconded to subsidiaries or other agencies.

M o re o v e r, there were 96 extraord i n a r y

employees with labour agreements of

undetermined duration. On 12/31/1004 the

Company employed 2,829 extraord i n a r y

employees with labour agreements of

determined duration, out of which 438 were

full-time employees and the remaining 2,391

were part-time (three-hour) employees.

During the last 5 years, the permanent personnel

is gradually decreased at an average annual rate

of 4.5%; however its number remains much

higher than the number required by the actual

needs constantly decreased due to the

technological evolution.

The gradual departure of the employees without

making any new recruitments has resulted in

increasing the average age of the employees. In

addition, whilst the absolute number of the

employees is much higher than the number

required, there is severe lack of certain strategic

specialities.

Throughout the second semester of 2004, the

O T E ’s Management proceeded to extensive

negotiations with the employees’ Trade-Union

(OME-OTE) as well as with the competent bodies

of the Government and TAP-OTE in view of

achieving the voluntarily re t i rement for a

significant number of employees, so that:

ñ The operational cost of the Organization

approaches the average European standards;

ñ The hiring of new younger personnel of a more

contemporary training to become possible.

ñ The re-structuring of OTE on modern bases to

become possible.

On May 25 2005, OTE’s Management and OME-

OTE signed a Collective Agreement, whereby it is

provided that the new personnel will be hired on

the basis of a depended labour agreement of

undetermined duration, which will be

terminated in accordance with the terms and

conditions of the labour legislation to be valid

each time. The signing of the Collective

A g reement puts the foundations for the

voluntarily retirement of the personnel and the

radical re-structuring of OTE, towards the

reduction of the operational cost, its flexibility,
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the increase of its efficiency, as well as the

O r g a n i z a t i o n ’s rapid adaptation to new

technologies. The Collective Agreement shall

become valid upon voting the pertinent law for

the voluntarily retirement.

The great majority of OTE’s employees

accomplish their tasks with diligence, as proved

by their performance during the Olympic Games.

All entities that cooperated with them were

quite content and congratulated those who

were involved in the Games.

The Organization sees to promoting with

meritocracy its best executives for them to get

responsibility positions. The recruitment quality

constitutes an issue of survival for a Company

that strives in the field of services and in an

environment of high and variable technology.

Revealing "from within" the Organization the

most competent employees is not an easy task,

since for many years now the personnel

evaluation system has not been implemented

properly and, thus, all the employees are graded

almost alike. Moreover, the conversion of OTE

from a monopoly into a company that has to

strive in the free market has made necessary the

changing of the attitude of the employees, who

must now contact directly the customers who

have alternative solutions, other than OTE.

The efforts towards promoting meritocracy and

c u s t o m e r-orientation constitute the

O r g a n i z a t i o n ’s first priority, as far as the

personnel is concerned.

In 2004 a decision was made for the OTE’s

training centre to become a Training Société

Anonyme, in which OTE possesses 100%. This

decision was implemented in 2005.

Intensive training courses to meet the actual

needs of the Company and its employees are

already scheduled.



We prove in practice 
our social responsibility
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social profile

OTE

"Socially Responsible Citizen"

For OTE, the Corporate Social Responsibility

constitutes a strategic decision for several

decades now, long before it is developed as

business philosophy and practice. The

Organization acts as an "active and responsible

citizen" as far as society and employees are

concerned.

Our values

Our basic values being q u a l i t y, transpare n c y,

re s p o n s i b i l i t y, sensitivity, consistence and

continuation of our actions, we pre p a re a

strategic Corporate Social Responsibility Plan,

which is expressed through an integrated,

multi-modal and multi-level Action Plan.

The actions

Our actions concern the market, society,

environment and the employees.

Certain actions from each category are given as

an example:

For the Market, we plan and provide special

programs for products and services for persons

with special needs, we invest in technologically

advanced systems aiming at protecting our

customers against telecommunication fraud and

electronic crime. The following are included in

the most important actions, namely:

ñ P rogram for selected groups of people

This is a program for the students of the Public

Universities and Technical Institutions (TEI), IASIS

Service (four-digit number 1535 – local time-

charge – for making appointments in the

National Health System (ESY) Hospitals).

ñ Products/Services for Special Needs Groups

Tele-assistance at home on a 24-hour basis,

Special Communication Line 8815555 and 210

8251000 for providing services to people with

hearing impairments, telephone sets for people

with hearing impairments, cardphones for

persons with special needs.
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ñ Marketing-Communication Social Programs

Christmas next to the children (donation of the

amount collected by the marketing and

advertisements in the associations forming the

Charity "MAZI GIA TO PAIDI" and the

Association MDA Hellas).

ñ Protection of Customers 

Protection against telecommunication fraud and

electronic crime.

ñ Cooperation with the Academic Community

and Technological Agencies

Practice of students in the facilities of the

C o m p a n y, Participation in Intern a t i o n a l

Technological Agencies (ITU, ETSI, etc.).

For the Environment, we are planning to

expand several systems for the rationale

utilization of the environment and the natural

resources (alternative sources of electric power).

We are protecting the environment through the

recycling of paper and telecommunications

equipment and we support the work of non-

g o v e rnmental organizations for rescuing the

environment. Certain actions of ours concern the

following:

ñ Protection of natural resources

Installation and operation of wind-generators in

remote Radio (Wireless) stations situated in

islands, such as Kea and Antikythira.

ñ Reducing air-pollution

Approximately 600 employees are transferred on

a daily basis by 17 coaches to / from the OTE

Headquarters.

ñ Recycling of paper

Approximately 280 tons of paper are transferred

for recycling throughout Greece on an annual

basis. Part of the revenues from the recycling

process is given to the Personnel Assistance Fund

and to the Organization for the Va c a t i o n

Centres.

ñ Support to the Environmental Organizations

Cooperation with the "VIOPOLITIKI"

I N T E R N ATIONAL ORGANIZATION, a non-

governmental organization whose purpose is to

p romote the international cooperation and

training for the protection of the environment.
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For the Society, we use new technologies for

medical and training reasons. We (the Company

and its employees) respond immediately to

major disasters, to cover the needs for blood,

through the constant voluntary blood-donation,

and we support associations that pro t e c t

children.

We hereby cite the following examples:

ñ Immediate support to disasters

Provision of Telematics and Tele-Medicine related

Services.

ñ New Technologies for Education and Health  

Tele-training for pupils of remote schools (DIAS

Research Program).

ñ R e s e a rching work for dealing with risks in

the telecommunication network due to

e a r t h q u a k e s .

ñ Telecommunication equipment / financial

support

Support to the residents of the SE Asia who

sustained severe damage. 

ñ Social Sponsorships

"To Hamogelo tou Paidiou" (The Smile of a

Child) (Installation and Operation of the

Charity’s SOS 1056 help line), MDA HELLAS

(financial support for the completion of the first

Special Unit of Neuro-Muscle Deseases in Greece

in the Childre n ’s Hospital "Agia Sofia". In

addition, OTE undertook the Contract for the

hiring of a Molecular Biologist in view of

fulfilling the needs of the Second Special Unit of

Neuro-Muscle Deseases in Greece.

ñ Culture

Sponsorship in the European Music Celebration. 

ñ Culture / History of Telecommunications

The Telecommunications Museum was

established by OTE and opened for the public in

1990. The purpose of the Museum is the

research, study and documentation, as well as

the collection, preservation and presentation of

the evolution of the telecommunications

technology until the present date.

ñ Chances for Employment

Every year, students are hired in the call Centres

in Athens, Thessaloniki, Patras and Iraklion on an

eight-month, three-hour employment basis; the

objective is to support young people during their

study period.

ñ Blood-Donation

With an increased sense of responsibility and

with particular concern for the National issue of

blood donation, since 1976, OTE has organised

blood donation volunteer – employees groups

social profile
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who donate blood twice a year in view of

contributing to this critical "matter of life".

For our People, we implement pro g r a m s

aiming at health and safety at work, at their

further education and training, at the

p rotection of their family and their support.

In this framework, some of our actions are as

f o l l o w s :

ñ Supplementary Insurance

P rovision of additional insurance coverage to

the employees.

ñ Benefits to the Personnel

Special leaves of absence, Youth Account,

Assistance Fund, Allowances for Baby-sitting,

Visits to Employees who are in Hospitals,

Financial Assistance.

ñ Rewarding

Bonus, Allowances for Further Education, Moral

rewarding.

ñ Work Environment

Since 2003, at the OTE’s Headquarters in

Maroussi area a restaurant has opened for the

employees with particular low prices.

ñ Health – Safety

Dealing with emergencies at the OTE’s

Headquarters. 

ñ Training – Further Education

Training Centres, Seminars, Te l e - t r a i n i n g ,

operation of a Library.

ñ Recreation

OTE chorus, Financial Support of the Cultural

Centres of the OTE’s Employees.

ñ Volunteering Activities

Olympic Games and Special Olympics – 90 OTE’s

employees participated as volunteers in the

Olympic Games and the Special Olympics.

Moreover, 17,000 employees responded to the

OME – OTE’s initiative and offered 3 EUROS from

their salaries in order to provide assistance to

the population of the SE Asia. 

ñ Recreation

OPAKE – OTE – Organization of Vacation Centres

for the Employees of the OTE Group.

Evaluation 

OTE is a model of a corporate social re s p o n s i b i l i t y

and is recognized for the efficiency of its activities

in the community and its employees.

F u r t h e r m o re, according to re s e a rches conducted

by specialized companies concerning the public

opinion about social responsibility exhibited by

G reek Companies, OTE holds the leading position.
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1.1 Introduction

The Annual Report contains elements and data with regard to the current status, the development of activities, the
financial results, the strategy, and the prospects of OTE and its Subsidiaries. These elements are deemed necessary for
sufficient disclosure to the investor community in the context of the article 16, decision 5/204/11-14-2000 of the Board
of Directors of the Hellenic Capital Markets Committee.
The Annual Report is available for all investors after the publication of the annual financial statements and in any case
ten (10) working days prior to the Annual Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting.

1.2 Responsible Persons

The persons responsible for the preparation of this publication and the accuracy of the information contained
within are :
ñ Panagis Vourloumis, Chairman of OTE's Board of Directors and CEO.
ñ Iordanis Aivazis, Chief Financial Officer.

The above persons duly confirm that:
(a) All elements and information contained within are true and complete.
(b) There are no other elements and no other events have taken place, which if they were not disclosed, would render
the contents of the Annual Report, in part or in whole, misleading.
(c) There are no judicial disputes or arbitration cases, which could have a significant effect on the financial position of
the Company.

1.3 Auditors

The consolidated US GAAP financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002 have been audited by Ernst &
Young (Hellas) Certified Auditors Accountants S.A. and SOL S.A., independent auditors, while the consolidated US
GAAP financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 were audited by Ernst & Young (Hellas)
Certified Auditors Accountants S.A., independent registered public accounting firm.

1.4 Tax Reviews

OTE's financial statements have been reviewed by the competent tax authorities until 2001. The financial statements
for the years 2002-2004 have not been reviewed by the Tax Authorities. 

1.5 Consolidated Companies

The following companies of the Group are fully consolidated in OTE's consolidated financial statements for the year
2004:

1. Cosmote S.A.
2. OTE-Net S.A.
3. Hellascom International S.A.
4. OTEplus S.A. (Temagon S.A.)
5. OTE SAT - Maritel S.A.
6. OTE - Estate S.A.
7. InfOTE S.A.
8. Cosmo One Hellas Market site S.A.
9. OTE Globe S.A.
10. OTE Insurance S.A.

11. OTEAcademy S.A. (OTECOM S.A.)
12. OTE PLC
13. OTE International Investments Ltd 

(and its subsidiaries ROMTELECOM & COSMOROM)
14. Armentel
15. CosmoBulgaria Mobile (Globul)
16. OTE MTS BV (COSMOFON)
17. HellasSat Consortium Ltd
18. Hatwave
19. OTE Austria Holding

Information on the preparation of the OTE's 
Annual Report and its Auditors1.
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2.1 History and Development of the Company

The Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. was established as Société Anonyme in Athens, in 1949, according
to the laws of the Hellenic Republic and the provisions of L. 1049/1949. Nowadays the Company operates as Société
Anonyme under the provisions of L. 2190/1920 concerning Société Anonymes and L. 3016/2002 concerning corporate
governance, and companies listed on stock exchanges.
Prior to the deregulation of the Greek telecom market, the Company was the exclusive provider of fixed line telephony
in Greece, offering local, long distance and international telecommunications services to Greek and foreign companies,
consumers and state owed organizations.
As of January 1st, 2001, the period of exclusive provision of fixed line telephony services by OTE expired and the market
is currently open to competition. In the context of the competition regulations and the European Union's objectives,
OTE is making efforts to remain the leader in the Greek telecom market. This can be achieved by utilizing the enhanced
capabilities of its network, rebalancing its tariffs, enriching the range of its services and finally, by activating in high
growth business segments.
In December 1995, OTE was granted the right to provide mobile telephony services throughout Greece utilizing DCS
1800 technology. In October 1996, COSMOTE was established, to provide mobile telephony services.
OTE established COSMOTE in October 1996, with the purpose to provide DCS-1800 mobile telephony services at a
national scale. The mobile services operating license was transferred to COSMOTE by Law No. 2465/1997. Following an
international tender, TELENOR-B Invest AS was selected as COSMOTE’s partner. COSMOTE’s principal business is the
provision of mobile telecommunications and related wireless services in Greece. COSMOTE is licensed to provide mobile
telecommunications services in the 1800 frequency band with the spectrum of 2x25 MHz and in the EGSM frequency
with the spectrum 2x5 MHz.  
To date the company is the leading provider of mobile telecommunications services in Greece.  During August 2001,
COSMOTE acquired one of the three UMTS licenses that were awarded in Greece at the minimum price (€ 161.4
million), that allow the Company to offer 3rd generation mobile telephony services to its customers. Furthermore, in
March 2002, ∂ETT approved the transfer of OTE’s 25 ∏z Fixed Wireless Access Special License to COSMOTE. In addition,
in October 2002 COSMOTE was granted a Special License for the use of spectrum zone 2,4 GHz for the provision of W-
Lan Public Mobile Communications Services.
COSMOTE had its Initial Public Offering in early October 2000. Prior to the IPO, COSMOTE’s shareholders were OTE, the
Hellenic Telecommunications Organisation, with 70% and Telenor-B Invest AS, a subsidiary of Telenor of Norway, with
30%. On February 26th, 2004 Telenor B-Invest announced the sale of its 29,705,255 million shares, thus exiting from
COSMOTE's share capital. As at the end of 2004 COSMOTE's shareholding structure was the following: OTE had a
58.77% stake and the remaining 41.23% was free float. On January 5th, 2005 and on March 24th, 2005 OTE bought
500,000 and 3,484,432 COSMOTE’s shares respectively. Furthermore, during April 2005 OTE bought 15,416,523
COSMOTE’s shares thus increasing its share to COSMOTE’s share capital to 64.37%. The remaining 35.63% was free
float. The share capital of COSMOTE amounts to 156.263.955,00 ∂uro and consists of 332.476.500  nominal  shares.
Through OTEnet, the leading Internet Service Provider (ISP) and 90.2% owned by OTE, the Organization has expanded
its services in the areas of the Internet and the IP (Internet Protocol) based services. OTEnet offers to residential
customers and companies, Internet access services, IP telecommunications services (data and voice) as well as e-business
and content services. The carefully planned investments in the infrastructure of the network, the development of new
products and services that cover the needs of business and residential customers, the excellent customers service and
the flexible organizational structure are the main factors which distinguished OTEnet as the leader in Internet. Today,
all OTEnet customers have at their disposal the quality, reliability, speed, and consistency of the largest Internet and IP
Service Provider in our country.
In an effort to cover the broader, national and international, needs of large corporations, OTE offers a full range of
services such as: data communications (Frame Relay, clear channel, ATM, VSAT), IP/VPN solutions, voice communication
solutions (VPN, VolP, mobile telephony, conferencing, call centres, intelligent networks). 
Furthermore, OTE through its subsidiary OTEGlobe, offers a wide range of services to telecom service providers in
Greece and abroad such as data IP, capacity, interconnection products as well as integrated services for the transmission
of voice, data, image and multimedia applications, the support of Operators in the Greek and international market,
commercial development and management of OTE’s international telephony, the planning, implementation and
management of the international DATA/IP network, the provision of integrated services to large enterprise customers
and operators in the Balkans and South-Eastern Europe.
OTE has also expanded into the area of Business-to-Business - B2B through CosmoONE. CosmoONE is a joint venture
of OTE, COSMOTE, two major Greek banks, and Diinekis Pliroforiki. The latter is the representative of CommerceOne
in Greece, the leading company internationally in the area of Business-to-Business.
Through OTE ISDN's network, which covers the entire Greek territory, OTE offers voice, video, text, and data
transmission services. The Company constantly upgrades its network and products through the introduction and
development of new applications such as: tele-working telemedicine, teletraining, teleshopping and telebanking. OTE
possesses the largest data network covering the broader Greek region and offering total telecommunication solutions
to corporate clients. These data services include packet-switched data communication transmission through the
Hellaspac network. Data services are also provided through the Hellascom network, a high-speed digital network for

Information on the Company2.
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managed leased lines. The Company has already installed and operates a public asynchronous transfer backbone
network (ATM), to serve as the basis for the nationwide broadband network. This supports the transmission of data
services, satellite TV interactive services and other multimedia services and can respond to the needs for increasing data
transmission. The above network has been named HellasStream and is currently under commercial operation. The
Company through OTEGlobe is also the provider of Infonet services in Greece, while it offers technical support to
Infonet's customers. In addition, OTE offers broadband access services, including ADSL (asymmetric digital subscriber
line) services and LMDS (local multi-point distribution services). In 2001, and in the context of fulfilling the provisions
of its License, OTE acquired two of the licenses tendered by the National Telecommunications and Post Office
Committee (EETT) in order to provide wireless fixed telephony services at bandwidths of 3,5 GHz and 24,5 - 26,5 GHz
respectively. In 2002, OTE transferred the license for the 25 GHz band, to subsidiary COSMOTE.
Over the last few years, OTE applied a regional development strategy in order to become the leading
telecommunications service provider in the South-eastern Europe and assume an active role in the growth of telecom
services in the broader Europe region. To fulfill that purpose, OTE made investments, acquiring equity stakes in state-
owned telecom service providers, obtained licenses in the mobile telephony sector, and made investments in terms of
international telecommunications infrastructure. In June 1997, OTE acquired 20% of Telekom Serbia, which was the
state-owned telecom operator of Serbia, at a total cost of DM 675 mil.(approximately GRD 106 billion or USD 256 mil.).
In March 1998, OTE acquired 90% of ArmenTel, the state owned telecom operator in Armenia, at a total cost of USD
142.5 mil. (approximately GRD 41 billion).
In December 1998, OTE acquired 35% of Rom Telecom, the state owned telecom operator in Romania, at a total cost
of USD 675 mil.(approximately GRD 189 billion). In July 2000, the joined venture COSMOTE and TELENOR acquire 85%
of Albanian Mobile Communications (AMC), which is the state-owned mobile telephony operator in Albania, for a total
cost of USD 85.6 mil. In January 2001, OTE acquired a GSM-900 license in Bulgaria, for a total cost of USD 135 mil., and
established CosmoBulgaria Mobile with the trade name Globul. In November2001, OTE acquired the second mobile
telephony license in FYROM, for a total cost of USD 25 mil., and established MTS (Mobile Telecommunication Services
AD), with the trade name Cosmofon. During 2002, OTE conducted successful negotiations with the Romanian
government in order to finance Romtelecom via a share capital increase. The relevant agreement was put in effect in
the start of 2003 while the relevant process was completed in the beginning of March. Based on the agreement, the
participation of OTE International in Romtelecom was settled at 54.01%, whereas the two parties also agreed on a
series of procedures and decisions concerning Romtelecom's operational issues.
In April 2005 a Memorandum of Cooperation was signed between OTE and COSMOTE for the acquisition by COSMOTE
of the shares of GLOBUL and COSMOFON (through the acquisition of the shares of the Dutch Company MTS HOLDING
BV (MTS) which possess 100% of the shares of the mobile telephony Company COSMOFON), against the price of EURO
490 million, which is broken down as follows: EURO 400 million for GLOBUL and EURO 90 million for COSMOFON. It is
stressed that in November 2004 the initial agreement was that the acquisition of the shares of the aforementioned
Companies by COSMOTE would be realized through their contribution in kind with an increase of the share capital of
COSMOTE. However, in April 2004, the transaction in cash was deemed to be as more advantageous in financial,
taxation and regulatory aspects. The transaction is subject to the condition of securing all necessary approvals by the
competent corporate bodies and public authorities.
OTE currently believes that the Organization can develop into a regional telecom hub without having to invest
additional funds in other telecom operators. To fulfil this purpose, OTE participates in various international projects,
which assist the establishment of an international telecom network mainly in South-eastern Europe and East
Mediterranean. OTE believes that the particular network will strengthen its operating results, by increasing its traffic
from and towards neighbouring countries. This will allow OTE to become the major telecom operator in the broader
targeted region. 
Furthermore, OTE has contributed 42.5 million dollars to the share capital of Hellas Sat Consortium Ltd. (HSCL), based
in Cyprus, and holds the majority of the company's share capital. Hellas Sat S.A., holds 99.9% of HELLAS SAT SA, based
in Greece. The two companies have a joint business operation in Greece and abroad under the trade name "HELLAS
SAT" Hellas Sat, offers all kind of satellite content transmission services (television and radio broadcasting and IP). It is
mainly active in the international arena (Western and Central-East Europe, Middle East, Africa, India, Pakistan) and it
will soon begin offering satellite broadband access to Greece, Cyprus and Middle East. 
Following the initial public offering in 1996, OTE's shares were listed on the Athens Stock Exchange (ASE) in April 1996.
The Greek State's participation in the share capital was reduced to 92.4%. In June 1997, along with a second equity
offering, the Company proceeded with an international offering in the form of Global Depository Shares (GDS).
Following that development, GDS began trading on the London Stock Exchange. After the above-mentioned equity
offering, the Greek State's participation in the share capital of OTE dropped to 81.3%. In January 1998, the Greek State
assigned 6.3% of its share to D.E.K.A S.A. After this assignment, the Greek State's participation in the share capital of
OTE dropped to 75.1%. In November 1998, after a third equity offering, OTE shares, in the form of American Depository
Shares (ADS) made their trading debut on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE).
American Depository Receipts (ADR) constitute the certificates for American Depository Shares (ADS). American
Depository Shares (ADS) represent OTE shares held by the Depository Bank (Bank of New York), which issues American
Depository Receipts, based on the Depository Agreement between the Company, the Depository Bank and the ADR
holders. Each American Depository Receipt represents and therefore states the number of American Depository Shares,
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whereas each ADS equals with 1/2 OTE share or an option for the same number of shares. ADSs are traded in US dollars.
At the same time, ADSs are also listed on the London Stock Exchange (LSE) and can be traded through SEAQ
International (LSE's security trading system). Finally, ADSs are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). After the
above offering, the Greek State's participation in OTE dropped further to 65.1%. Finally, in June 1999, OTE proceeded
with its fourth equity offering in the Greek capital market and with a new offering of ADS on the New York Stock
Exchange. Consequently, the Greek State's participation was further reduced to 51.1%. In April 2000, the Greek State
acquired 6,500,000 shares and its participation in OTE amounted to 52.4%. On 7/29/2000 D.E.K.A S.A. issued a
convertible bond issue raising funds of 14,971,222 shares.
In summer 2001, the Greek State decided to further reduce its participation in OTE’s share capital. To fulfill its purpose,
the Greek State issued a convertible bond issue raising funds of Euro 1 billion (reduction 10.68%). By August 2001, the
Greek State's participation had been brought lower, to approximately 41.7%. In June 2002, the Greek State offered an
8% stake of its share capital to institutional investors through a book building process. Following this event, the Greek
State owned approximately 33.7% of OTE's share capital.
On 17 June 2004, OTE’s General Shareholders’ Meeting approved the cancellation of 12,794,900 own shares, three
years after their acquisition. As a result the participation of the Greek State became 34.641% approx., and DEKA’s
participation 0.02%. The Company’s capital share is currently 1,174,109,724.61 divided in 491,259,299 shares with a
nominal value of 2.39 Euro each. On 07/28/2004, the bond loan issued by DEKA was expired and on 07/29/2004,
14,971,222 shares returned to its ownership, while its participation in OTE’s capital share rose to 3.07%.
On June 29th 2000, the Annual Shareholders Meeting approved an amendment of the Company's Articles of
Association. Based on that amendment, the Company created the Corporate Governance Committee that undertook
the responsibility of coordinating the Group's companies. At the same time, the number of BoD (Board of Directors)
members increased to 15.
On June 25th 2001, the Annual Shareholders Meeting approved the conversion of OTE stock's nominal value from
Greek Drachmas into Euro. Following that conversion, the nominal value of OTE's share capital settled at Euro
1,108,919,237.80 consisting of 504,054,199 shares with a nominal value of Euro 2.20 per share. According to the
relevant legislation, the conversion and rounding of the nominal value per share followed a share capital write-off - by
an amount of GRD 176,418,970 or Euro 517,737.26 - which appeared in the extraordinary reserves, under the account
"Difference from share capital conversion into Euro" in the Company's financial statements.
On September 4th 2001, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting approved the amendment or abolition - on a per case
basis - of articles 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 18, 31 and 39 of the Company's Articles of Association and the codification of the
applicable Articles of Association. These amendments, which refer to Greek State's participation in OTE and issues of
the BoD, were deemed necessary not only because after the ratification of L 2843/2000 the Greek State was granted
the right to lower its participation below 51%, but also because following the convertible bond issue, the Greek State
did not hold a majority stake in OTE's Board of Directors. In addition, since OTE's Board of Directors is now elected by
the Shareholder Meeting pursuant to the provisions of L 2190/1920 "concerning Société Anonymes", and article 29 of
L 2937/2001, the Company's Articles of Association should be aligned with the relevant provisions.
On January 28th 2002, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting approved the spin-off and transfer of the Directory
Services, International Infrastructure and Services, and Real Estate sectors, to the Companies subsidiaries InfOTE S.A.,
OTE Globe S.A. and OTE Estate S.A. respectively.
At the same time, the Shareholders' Meeting approved the amendment of article 5 in the Articles of Association with
regard to share capital provisions, as well as the quotation of the Company's share capital exclusively in Euro. In
addition, the Meeting amended article 2 in the Articles of Association with regard to the Company's purpose.
Consequently the Company's purpose included a new paragraph about "the supply, distribution, and sale (trade
activity) of any type of product that advertises and promotes Olympic Games 2004." Finally, the Shareholders' Meeting
approved that stock option plans should be offered to: a) the Company's employees, b) the executives of associated
Greek companies not listed on the Athens Stock Exchange, based on the provisions of PD 30/1988.
On March 13th 2002, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting had as the major item in its agenda, the election of a
new Board of Directors.
On June 19th 2002, the Annual Shareholders' Meeting approved the following: 1) the financial statements of fiscal year
2001, including the consolidated financial statements of the Group, income appropriation - a dividend of Euro 0.7043
(GRS 240) per share for fiscal 2001. 
2) The Meeting absolved the BoD Members and Auditors from any responsibility or obligation for compensation for
fiscal year 2001. in accordance with art. 35 of L. 2190/1920, 3) The fees for the members of the Board of Directors, 4)
The fees of the CEO and the Vice-Chairman for the year 2001 5) The election of Certified Auditors for fiscal year 2002
along with the settlement of their fees. 6) The basic contractual terms with regard to individuals described in articles
23a and 24 of L. 2190/1920 and the authorization needed for the completion of the contracts. 7) The distribution of
own shares through the stock option plan. 8) The election of a new BoD Member substituting a former member, who
resigned.
On October 17th 2002, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting determined the positions of the BoD Members
according to the provisions of L. 3016/2002 concerning corporate governance (executive, non-executive, and
independent non-executive members). The meeting also approved a share capital increase through the increase of
nominal value of existing shares. Specifically the nominal value rose by Euro 0.19 per share so that the incremental
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nominal value reaches Euro 95,770,297.81 (or 504,054,199 shares times Euro 0.19). The particular increase was due to
the capitalization of reserves following an asset revaluation (L. 2065/1992).
As a direct result of the above mentioned share capital increase, the Meeting approved the amendment of article 5 in
the Articles of Association, through a relevant amendment of the paragraph 1 and the inclusion of a paragraph titled
"d" into the paragraph 2. Thus, the Company's share capital reached one billion, two hundred and four million, six
hundred eighty nine thousand, five hundred thirty five Euro and sixty-one cents (1,204,689,535.61), consisting of five
hundred four million, fifty four thousand and one hundred ninety nine (504,054,199) common registered shares, with
a nominal value of two Euro and thirty nine cents (2.39) per share. The number of shares did not finally change.
The same Shareholders' Meeting approved the following: 1) A share repurchase plan through the Athens Stock
Exchange (article 16, paragraph 5-14, L 2190/1920). 2) The fees - other grants and the basic contract terms with regard
to individuals described in articles 23a and 24 of L 2190/192. 3) The authorization for the completion of the relevant
contracts.
On June 30th 2003, the Annual Shareholders meeting approved the financial statements, including the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, the reports on financing and procurements, the auditor’s report of fiscal year 2002,
including the consolidated financial statements and the statements on the International Accounting Standards (I.A.S).
It also endorsed the financial statements for the year 2002 and the relevant reports and approved the distribution of
dividend (343,654,024.78 Euro). It also approved on the distribution of dividend from taxed earning of previous years
(1995) – 43,477,907.87 Euro.
The Meeting absolved the BoD Members and Auditors from any responsibility or obligation for compensation for fiscal
year 2002 in accordance with art. 35 of CL 2190/1920. It approved the compensation paid to the BoD Members for
fiscal 2002 and settled their respective fees for 2003. The fees of CEO and the Vice -Chairman were approved and
settled for 2003. 
The meeting approved the election of Certified Auditors for fiscal year 2003 along with the settlement of their fees. It
also approved the basic contractual terms with regard to individuals described in articles 23a and 24 of L. 2190/1920
and authorization needed for the completion of the contracts. The meeting has also resolved to revoke the resolution
of the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting as of January 28, 2002 regarding the spin-off of OTE's international
operation and infrastructures and their transfer to "OTE Diethneis Lyseis SA". 
Finally it approved the election of a new member to the Company's Board of Directors in replacement of a resigned
member as stipulated by article 10, par. 4 in the Company's Articles of Association.
On December 1st, 2003, the Extraordinary Shareholders meeting approved to renew the company's option, as derived
by the prevailing legislation, to purchase own shares through the Athens Stock Exchange as provided by C.L 2190/1920,
article 16, par. 5-14.
On June 17, 2004 the 52nd Annual Shareholders meeting approved the election of messrs. Panagis Vourmoumis and
Nikolaos Stefanou, new members to the Board of Directors to replace resigned members messrs. S. Floudas and G.
Skarpelis, in accordance to art. 10 para 4 of the Company’s Articles of Association for the remaining of their term of
office on the BoD.
The General Shareholders’ Meeting approved the annulment of 12,794,900 owned shares, three years after their
acquisition, with the equivalent reduction in the Company’s share capital by thirty million five-hundred and seventy
nine thousand and eight hundred and eleven (60,579,811.00) Euro, the amount that is equivalent to the value of the
annulled shares, in accordance with art. 16. para. 12 of C.L. 2190/1920 and the transfer of the formatted reserve for
the purchase of own shares (261,432,056.52 Euro) to an extraordinary reserve. The Company’s capital share is
1,174,109,724.61 Euro divided to 491,259,299 shares with a nominal value of 2.39 Euro each.
The General Shareholders’ Meeting, approved the CEO’s Annual report, the reports on Financing and Procurements,
approved the auditor’s report of fiscal year 2003, including the consolidated financial statements and the statements
on the International Accounting Standards (I.A.S). It also endorsed the financial statements for the year 2003 and the
relevant reports.
It approved the distribution of dividend of thirty-five cents (0.35 Euro) per share, absolved the BoD Members and
Auditors from any responsibility or obligation for compensation for fiscal year 2003, in accordance with art. 35 of C.L.
2190/1920 and elected the Certified Auditors for fiscal year 2004 along with the settlement of their fees.
It also approved the basic contractual terms with regard to individuals described in articles 23a and 24 of L 2190/1920

and the authorization needed for the completion of the contracts. The meeting approved the compensation paid to
the BoD members for fiscal 2003 and settled their respective fees for 2004. The meeting approved the compensation
paid to the CEO and to the Executive Vice-Chairman for fiscal 2003 and settled their respective fees for 2004.
The meeting approved the termination of contracts, dated June 20, 2002, for the provision of services between OTE
and mr. L. Antonakopoulos and mr. G. Skarpelis, former OTE's Chairman of the BoD/CEO and Executive Vice-Chairman
respectively.
It also amended articles 5, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13 and 32 of the Company's Articles of Association, abolished article 14, added
a new article numbered 14 and codified the Company's Articles of Association. These amendments affect the following
items: the share capital (5), management bodies (8), election, term of service, composition and operation of the BoD
(9, 10, 11), the power of the CEO (13), the annual accounts (32) and the abolition of the Executive Committee of
Corporate Governance (14), while the addition of the new article 14 refers to the Company’s representation.



Annual Report 2004 103

The above changes, mark the changes carried out towards the modernization of the Company’s management and the
BoD in particular, which is now more flexible and effective. The number of the Members of the Board of Directors will
be nine (9) or eleven (11) instead of fifteen (15), they will be elected for a three (3) year term on the Board instead of
five (5) years and they will be renewed by 1/3 per year, members of the Board of Directors that are also members of
OTE's personnel will not be entitled any remuneration.
Finally, the executive powers of the Vice-Chairman of the BoD were abolished, as well as the Executive Committee of
Corporate Governance, which remained idle for two years.
Following the amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association, in order to avoid to call an Extraordinary
Shareholders Meeting to elect a new BoD, the General Meeting set the number and elected the members of the BoD,
as well as the independent members.
On June 16, 2005, OTE’s general assembly of shareholders, approved a number of technical amendments to the Articles
of Incorporation in order to adapt them to current legislation, which, however, have not come into effect as yet. A
proposed amendment to the Articles of Incorporation, relating to a reduction of our share capital by Euro 1,616,643.80
following the cancellation of 676,420 of the Company’s shares, was not adopted, as a special quorum of two-thirds of
the shareholders was required for this resolution. A second general assembly of the shareholders is expected to be held
on July 6, 2005, for the discussion of this amendment. In this second general assembly a quorum of at least half of the
paid up share capital is required. If the second general assembly adopts this amendment, the share capital will be
reduced to Euro 1,172,493,080.81, comprising 490,582,879 ordinary registered shares, each with a nominal value of
Euro 2.39.
On June 16, 2005, mr. Georgios Gerapetritis was elected as a member to OTE’s Board of Directors to substitute mr.
Georgios Linardatos.

2.2 Corporate Strategy 

In addition to operate and provide fixed telephony services, OTE is at the top of a large group of companies in Greece
and abroad. Despite the particular importance of specific subsidiary companies, fixed telephony in Greece will remain
in the foreseeable future the Group’s main activity. Its success will influence the course of the entire Group. On the
basis of this rationale, the main target for 2005 is to transform the Company by reducing the number of its employees,
reducing the operational cost and re-organizing the Company in order to improve its operational efficiency and its
financial performance.

In order to fulfil the above-mentioned goals, the Company’s strategic objectives are as follows:

ñ The transformation into a modern, customer orientated company
ñ To balance the losses in revenues from the traditional voice telephony services, by developing new products
(broadband) or through tariff rebalancing
ñ Carry out organizational changes to better monitor the market trends and forces and cushion the negative impact
on revenues and profitability
ñ The desire to operate within a regulatory environment, which is fair and transparent for all telecommunications
companies
ñ The rationalization of investments and capital expenditures, in order to maintain the operating infrastructures at the
highest level and also develop the necessary new generation technologies.

With regard to the subsidiaries, the intervention that appeared to bring positive effects and results over the last year,
will continue this year as well. 
Even though, each subsidiary is a separate company with its own business plan, there are basic principles and targets
for 2005 that all of the Group’s subsidiaries will need to follow:
ñ Reduce the number of subsidiaries with merges or disengagement where necessary
ñ Buy out of minority shareholders where appropriate
ñ Allocation of all mobile telephony companies under Cosmote
ñ Appointment and support of capable and effective management
ñ Close co-operation between the Group’s companies
ñ Close-up supervision without any interventions in the day-to-day operation of the company
ñ Free flow movement of executives within the group companies
ñ Establishment of a Group culture
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2.3 Investment Programme

The Organization's investment programme for fiscal year 2005 provides for investments of 389.6 mil. Euro. The relevant
breakdown indicates that Euro 331.2 mil. will be used to upgrade the network and develop new commercial sectors,
Euro 9.8 mil. will be used in order to expand international capacity and Euro 48.6 mil. will be spend on IT requirements.

2.4 OTE and its Subsidiaries Business Activities

(See page 18-81)

2.5 Wholesale Services - Interconnection

(See page 30-33)

2.6 Procurements 

During 2004, 779 Contracts-Placement of Orders were drafted and signed for the Supplies of equipment, software and
for service provision of a contractual total of EURO 318,925,267. The most important Contracts per group of items were
the following:
ñ Advertisement – Promotion: EURO 60,650,693
This scope concerns 79 Contracts – placement of orders, out of which 4 Contracts amounting in total to EURO
59,400,000 were signed with the two Joint Ventures – contractors after the tender conducted at the end of 2003 (Joint
Ventures "EXELIXI" & "PRISMA") and the remaining 75 of smaller price were signed with other Companies.
ñ PBXs for sale: EURO 36,300,000
5 Contracts with 5 Companies, of a three-year validity.
ñ Equipment for the Provision of ISDN Basic Access: EURO 18,365,725
4 Contracts.
ñ PORTAL for the Olympic Games needs, which was sold to "ATHENS 2004": EURO 11,400,000.
1 Contract.
ñ ADSL: Materials, services for installation and terminal devices: EURO 11,143,234
21 Contracts.
ñ ISDN Terminal devices: EURO 9,000,000
1 Contract
ñ Publication of Telephone Directories: EURO 8,235,445
1 Contract
ñ Software licenses and services for Microsoft products, of a three-year validity
1 Contract.

Moreover, during 2004 the invoiced delivered materials, equipment, software and services were charged with a total
value of EURO 386,972,892 (the respective amount for 2003 was EURO 473,128,835), i.e. the expenses were reduced
by 18.2% in comparison with 2003.
The aforementioned billings amounting to EURO 386,972,892 are allocated as follows:
ñ Procurement expenses of the Investment Program: EURO 178,411,727.
Respective amount for 2003: EURO 287,478,785
Reduction in comparison with 2003: 37.9%
ñ Procurement expenses for covering operating needs: EURO 22,010,769.
Respective amount for 2003: EURO 18,205,070
Increase in comparison with 2003: 20.9%
ñ Expenses for third parties services: EURO 61,021,932.
Respective amount for 2003: EURO 52,907,593
Increase in comparison with 2003: 15.3%
ñ Expenses for the procurement of investment return materials-software-services: EURO 125,528,464.
Respective amount for 2003: EURO 114,537,387
Increase in comparison with 2003: 9.6%
It is stressed that the objective needs of the Olympic Games obligated OTE to strengthen and increase the number of
its infrastructures, as well as to increase its operating expenses and the expenses for providing services to third parties;
this fact affected the 2003 and 2004 programs.
Nevertheless, OTE’s expenses in 2004 and 2003 were reduced in comparison with 2003 and 2002 respectively, due to
the rationalized and effective management of the procurements. 
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More specifically, with the exception of the investment return expenses, which relate to products procured by OTE in
order to sell them to customers, the course of the remaining expenses, i.e. expenses associated with the investment
program, operation and services to third parties, during the three-year period 2002 until 2004 is as follows:

YEAR EXPENSES REDUCTIONS
2002 410,305,589 -
2003 358,591,448 12.6%
2004 261,444,428 27.1%

More specifically, the course of the Investment Program related expenses is as follows:

YEAR EXPENSES REDUCTIONS
2002 359,025,212 -
2003 287,478,785 19.9%
2004 178,411,727 37.9%

2.7 Information Technology

Placing emphasis on the application of integrated IT systems, OTE constantly intensifies its efforts to improve its IT
systems, enhance the business processes, and invest considerably in IT technologies which are the main factors for
International technological developments.

ñ Information technologies

During 2004, additional server computing infrastructure was installed in the Central Computer Room and the Storage
Area Network (SAN) was expanded to satisfy the need for high availability during the increased demands during the
Olympic Games. After the end of the Games, this infrastructure was integrated into the existing computing systems to
serve the needs of the Company.
Today, OTE has great extended capabilities for the process, storage and archiving of data on a central system with:
about 20 high end servers on Unix/Microsoft platforms, 30 Tbytes of On Line mass storage (useable) on large storage
systems interconnected using Storage Area Network (SAN) technology and an Enterprise Backup System that serves all
critical business information systems.
Today, OTE’s Corporate Data Network (CDN) serves about 9,000 users all over Greece, using more than 450 routers and
850 switches (provided by Cisco) at 560 point in Greece. All possible measures and pre-cautions have been taken to
ensure the network’s security and high availability.
Agreements were signed regarding desktop computing equipment (IBM, HP/Compaq, Dell, Lexmark), as well as Oracle
software development technologies and e-business business applications.
The contract with Microsoft, was renewed from three years covering the needs of all companies in the Group (group
agreement).
Computer equipment were provided to OTE’s points of presence in the Olympic venues and supported during the
Games.

ñ Information Systems

Business Intelligence Systems
OTE’s Finance and Management Information System (MIS), provides extended and multi-dimensional analysis and
reporting of financial and other data. The system was extended to cover additional business analysis and reporting
requirements. Steps are being taken to evolve MIS into a Financial Business Intelligence System integrated into Oracle
E-business Suite.

Billing, CRM and Provision Systems
The uniform support and billing systems provided by OTE Group (Fixed, Mobile, Internet) were successfully supported.
The system was based on Billing, Provisioning and Oracle CRM applications and served as the technical, infrastructure
which with the appropriate additions and customisation evolved into an integrated CRM system to serve OTE’s business
customers. The system currently covers the customers’ Data Lines and it has been already extended to cover voice
telephony services.
An integrated Call-centre was installed and used for the need of the Olympic Games, to serve the Olympic volunteers
and the provision of general information, as well as a Trouble Ticketing System covering all products and services
offered during the Olympic Games.
New systems were put into operation to manage Number Portability and Interconnect Billing. InterconnectT is the third
telecommunication services billing system used by OTE for the Other Licensed Operators (OLOs). The systems is
integrated with the ERP’s financial applications.
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Construction of the technical infrastructure that will serve the Customer base Data Cleansing was completed.
Furthermore, the adaptation of IT systems and structures was successfully completed leading to the upgrade of the
quality and the integration of customer data, a project that is currently in progress. The System for the Prevention of
Telecommunication Fraud was completed and put into operation with useful results and the relevant systems were
adapted to cover new telecommunication products.
The system serving the regional Accounting departments and Customer Service centres was evolved and suitably
adapted to operate integrated with the ERP application and satisfy the needs of the International Financial Standards
(IFRS).
At the end of 2004, an Information System was prepared and operated (Dunning) to monitor and rationalise the
management of due payments by our customers. This system facilitates the collection of the amounts due to OTE by
managing the necessary collection activities and actions.
The basic CRM application, was studied and analysed and is expected to be implemented in 2005. It will focus on: deep
customer knowledge, marketing and products, sales and service, human resources. The application includes a large
number of operational transformation activities and IT projects.
Implementation of the Whole Sales CRM application is in progress, to manage the regulated products of the Other
Licensed Operators. Finally, additional projects are in progress including: the re-design and replacement of the Home
and Business Customers Billing System and the upgrade of OTE’s Telemarketing facilities.
ERP, SCM and HRM systems
During 2004, OTE operated the business applications ERP of the Oracle E-Business suite software application platform
with upgraded capabilities and it was expanded to new operations.
ñ The central Accounting Office is now served by Oracle Financial Applications (General and Analytical Ledger - GL,
Accounts Receivable and Payable- AR/AP, Fixed and Movable Assets Register- FA, Capital Management-CM), fully
integrated, both functionally and operationally, with Oracle Inventory (INV) and Oracle Project Costing (PC). These
systems are being adapted to the International Financial Report Standards (IFRS)
ñ The expansion of Oracle Financial applications has been completed and put into operation in more than 110 of the
Company’s regional financial management services.
ñ OTE’s needs and obligations during the Olympic Games were served successfully with regard to the ERP system and
in particular the availability of installations equipment and technical maintenance.
At the same time, the planning and development of Human Resources Management systems and of
Management/Costing of Personnel Training was completed, as sub-systems of Oracle E-Business suite and utilise the
new capabilities of the Oracle HRMS.
In addition during 2004, work was began for the logistics system, in order to modernise and standardise the procedures
for the management and organisation of the stock and materials in OTE warehouses all over Greece. The system is
based in applications included in the Oracle E-Business Suite (SCM) application and are compatible with the remaining
applications used in the Company.

2.8 Personnel

The Company’s priority is the development of an appropriate working environment, within which personnel will
develop and be continuously utilized in the successful delivery of the company’s objectives.
The strategic axes of the Company’s policy for human resources are the following:
ñ Optimum human resource management, such as the quantitative and qualitative definition of human resources
requirements, the design of recruitment systems at three levels: newly-hired personnel – responsibility positions –
special partners and consultants, the development of a reception and induction program for new employees and design
of incentives for voluntary retirement, in order to reduce the number of employees and to refresh personnel.
ñ Strengthening and activation of human resources through modern development programs, as well as the
enhancement of the evaluation system placing emphasis on the performance evaluation.
ñ Definition and promotion of the Corporate Social Responsibility within the Company.
ñ Coordination for the implementation of the voluntary retirement program, development of a system for the
succession of the retired personnel and implementation of the procedure for the selection of the new personnel.

Personnel composition

The following table presents the distribution of the full-time personnel as of December 31st 2004:
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2004 (1)

Specialised Personnel 347
Commercial – Administrative Personnel 4,454
Finance Personnel 879
Technical Personnel 9,628
Support Personnel 898
Total 16,206
Extraordinary (Undetermined duration agreements) 96
Grand Total 16,302
PSTN & ISDN access lines per employee (2) 389.14

(1) Includes OTE employees currently transferred to Group subsidiaries or other agencies.
(2) Includes PSTN & ISDN access lines in operation on 12/31/2004 and personnel serving in OTE or transferred to its

subsidiaries or other agencies.

Personnel’s geographic distribution per regional division:

Geographic Region Number of Employees
Sterea Hellas 773
Thessaly 736
Western Macedonia 326
Central Macedonia 2,202
Eastern Macedonia and Thrace 764
Epirus 630
Western Greece 1,192
Peloponnessos 967
Northern Agean 344
Islands* 487
Crete 874
Attica 7007
Total 16,302

* Includes the Argosaronikos islands

The average age of OTE employees is approximately 47 years, while the average years of service is 21. The number of
the employees is gradually reduced for the past five years, at an average rate of 4.5%, mainly through regular
retirement and early retirement programs. In 2000, 2,232 people left the Company out of which 1,952 through
incentives for early retirement. In 2001 1,216 people left the Company out of which 1,071 through incentives for early
retirement. In 2002, 856 persons left the Company out of which 699 through incentives for early retirement. In 2003,
944 persons left the Company out of which 776 through incentives for early retirement. In 2004, 908 persons left the
Company out of which 706 through incentives for voluntary retirement, while 41 new recruitments were made. The
early retirement program expired on 12.31.2004.
In March 1998, OTE acquired 90% of Armentel, the Armenian Public Telecommunications services which had 7,945
employees on 31 December 1999, 7,729 employees on 31 December 2000, 7,159 employees on 31 December 2001,
5,910 employees on 31 December 2002, 5,758 employees on 31 December 2003 and 5,388 employees on 31 December
2004.
At the beginning of 2003 the increase in the capital share of ROMTELECOM was completed along with the purchase
of part of the shares owned by the Romanian State so that OTE International Investments acquires 54.01% of the
company’s capital share. During 2003 there was a significant reduction of 6,694 persons in the Company’s employees
number reaching 23,869 employees at the end of 2003. During 2004 there was a further reduction of 5,786 persons in
the Company’s employees number reaching 18,083 employees at the end of 2004.
Along with the reduction of the overall number of its employees and the intensification of their training, OTE’s
objective is to recruit new personnel highly specialised, possessing the knowledge and skills required. For this reason,
OTE is constantly evaluating the "Bonus" systems for them to be fair based on the market levels, rationale for the
Company and attractive to the personnel that the Organization wishes to attract from the demanding market of
telecommunications. The salary increases agreed upon based on the two-year Business Collective Labour Agreement
for 2004, amount to an average of 4.54% for 2004 and 3.50% for 2005.
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In view of improving the safety conditions at work and pursuant to relevant provisions of Law 1568/85 and P.D. 95/99,
OTE set up an Internal Protection and Prevention Department. This Department checks the health and safety conditions
in the working environment and provides consultation for maintaining these conditions at high level. In addition, in an
effort to strengthen the feeling of security for its employees and their families outside their work places, the
Management of the Company improved the terms of the provision of an additional medical insurance via a Group
Insurance Policy, at no expense for OTE’s employees. This policy covers life and accident insurance, permanent total
disability and hospital or out-patient care and supplements the cover provided by OTE’s personnel Health Insurance
Fund. On May 25th 2005, OTE’s Management and OME-OTE proceeded to the signing of a Collective Agreement, which
foresees that the new personnel will be hired on the basis of dependent undetermined labour agreement that will be
terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the labour legislation valid each time. The signing of the
Collective Agreement opens the way for the voluntary retirement of the personnel and the radical re-structuring of OTE
towards the reduction of its operating expenses, the flexibility, and the increase of its efficiency, as well as its faster
adaptation to new technologies. The Collective Agreement will be signed upon the voting of the relevant law for the
voluntary retirement. 

2.9 Corporate Social Responsibility

OTE is a company concerned about viable Development and, thus, it is called upon to behave as an "active and
responsible citizen" before the community it activates and its employees.
In this framework, OTE has integrated the Social Responsibility in its strategy, with the objective for all interested
parties (shareholders, investors, customers, employees and public opinion) to get positive results. 
Its basic values being quality, transparency, responsibility, sensitivity, consistence and continuation of our actions, the
Company prepares a strategic Corporate Social Responsibility Plan, which is expressed through an integrated, multi-
modal and multi-level Action Plan.
The actions of the Company concern the community, society, environment and its employees.
For the Community, the Company plans and provides special programs for products and services for persons with
special needs, it invests in technologically advanced systems aiming at protecting its customers against
telecommunication fraud and electronic crime. 
For the Environment, the Company plans to expand several systems for the rationale utilization of the environment
and the natural resources (alternative sources or electric power). It protects the environment through the recycling of
paper and telecommunications equipment and it supports the work of non-governmental organizations for rescuing
the environment. 
For the Society, the Company uses new technologies for medical and training reasons. It responds immediately to major
disasters, to cover the needs for blood, through the constant voluntary blood-donation, and it supports associations
that protect children.
For its People, the Company implements programs aiming at health and safety at work, at their further education and
training, at the protection of their family and their support. 
Moreover, OTE is a model of corporate social responsibility and is recognized for the efficiency of its activities for the
community and its employees.
Further to researches conducted by specialized companies concerning the public opinion about social responsibility
exhibited by Greek Companies, OTE holds the leading position.

2.10 Management

General Assembly of the Shareholders

It is the supreme administrative body of the Company and is empowered to make decisions
with regard to any corporate matter, unless otherwise specified by the Company's Articles of Association.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is the Company's supreme administrative body. It shapes the Company’s strategy and
development policies. The principal obligation of its members is to continually pursue the long term economic value of
the Company and to uphold and protect the Company’s interests. It is empowered to decide on any matter concerning
the administration of the Company, controls the management of its property, and the attainment of its objectives, with
the exception of those issues that fall under the exclusive competence of the General Assembly of Shareholders. 

Chief Executive Officer
The CEO is the highest executive authority in the Company. The CEO oversees all the Company’s departments by
managing their activities, makes the necessary decisions in the context of the provisions which regulate the Company’s
operation, and has authorities which directly derive from the Articles of Association and by the decisions of the Board
of Directors.
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The CEO represents the Company before any courts, any other Authority including out-of court matters, acting in
person or by proxy following a written decision or authorization, unless otherwise required by Law.
Following the Board’s decision on 6/17/2004, the number of the Board Members was reduced from 15 to 9 – 11. Their
term of office is now 3 years instead of 5. The Board’s members are renewed by 1/3 every year. The aforementioned
changes make the Board of Directors more flexible and functional and following the abolishment of the Corporate
Governance Committee, there are now significant improvements towards the modernization of the management
operation in the Company.

OTE’s Board of Directors is comprised as follows:

Name Position
Panagis Vourloumis Chairman/ CEO - Executive member
Iakovos Georganas Vice-Chairman - Non executive member
Panagiotis Tambourlos Independent - Non executive member
Nikolaos Stefanou Non executive member
Georgios Tzovlas Independent - Non executive member
Ilias Gounaris Non executive member
Xeni Skorini-Paparrigopoulou Independent - Non executive member
Georgios Bitros Non executive member
Charalambos Dimitriou Non executive member
Theodoros Veniamis Non executive member
Georgios Gerapetritis Independent - Non executive member

Panagis Vourloumis. Mr. Vourloumis is a graduate of the London School of Economics and the Economic Development
Institute. He headed the Southeast Asia division of the International Finance Corporation from 1966 to 1973, was CEO
of the Commercial Bank of Greece Group from 1979 to 1981 and Chairman and CEO of ALPHA Finance, ALPHA Mutual
Funds and ALPHA Bank Romania from 1988 to 2000 while at the same time serving as Executive Director of ALPHA
Bank. From 2000 until recently, Mr. Vourloumis was Chairman of Frigoglass and of the Aegean Baltic Bank. He has been
President of the Association of Institutional Investors and member of the Board of the Federation of Greek Industries.

Iakovos Georganas. Mr. Georganas holds a degree in Economics from the School of Economics and Trade of Athens
(ASOEE); he also attended the Advanced Management Program of the Harvard University Business School. He worked
with the Greek Bank for Industrial Development (ETBA) from 1958 to 1991 and served from 1989 to 1991 as Vice-
President and Member of the Capital Markets Commission. Since 1991, he has served as Executive Vice-Chairman of
the board of directors of Piraeus Bank and since June 2000 he has been President of the Bank of Piraeus Audit
Committee. He is Chairman of the Board of Directors of Hellenic Exchanges Holding S.A. He also serves as a non-
executive member of the Board of Directors of several financial, commercial and industrial companies. Since 2000, he
has been a member of the Board of Directors of OTE and since May 2004 he has been its Vice-Chairman.

Panagiotis Tambourlos. Mr. Tambourlos is a graduate of the Piraeus University of Economics and holds a Master's
degree in Business Administration from McGill University (Montreal, Canada). He worked since 1980 as Financial
Manager in various corporations, including Milchem International, Hilti SA, American Express and ICI. From 1990 to
2003 worked for Warner Lambert SA, an affiliate of Pfizer where immediately prior to his departure he held the position
of Regional Financial Manager for Europe, Middle East and Africa. From June 2003 until April 2004 he held the position
of Chief Financial Officer of OTE. Since then he has been Financial Director of the Frigoglass Group. He is the Chairman
of OTE’s Audit Committee and the "audit committee financial expert."

Nikolaos Stefanou. Mr Stefanou holds a degree in Business Administration and Financial Analysis from Piraeus
University with Post-graduate studies. From 1990 to 1993, he was financial councillor to the Minister of Finance and
Vice-President of the Deposit and Loans Fund as well as a member of various governmental commissions. From 1994
to 2004, he was founder and General Manager of the consulting firms TAXCO and M.W., specializing in financial
analysis, taxation, developmental legislation and marketing. Since March 2004, he has been General Secretary of the
Ministry of Development. He has also been a member of the boards of directors of various private firms.

Georgios Tzovlas. Mr. Tzovlas holds a Bachelor's degree in Mathematics from the University of Athens and a Master
of Science in Operational Research, as well as a PhD from the School of Production Studies, from the Cranfield Institute
of Technology (UK). He worked as advisor at the Ministry of Transport and Communications and as expert of
telecommunications-informatics at the General Staff of the Ministry of National Defense. He is a member of OTE’s Audit
Committee.



Annual Report 2004110

Ilias Gounaris. Mr. Gounaris (Honorary Ambassador) has a Law Degree from the University of Athens. He has served
with the Greek Ambassador in Bonn and served as Ambassador of Greece in Moscow and London. In 1999, he was
appointed Permanent Representative of Greece at the UN headquarters in New York, where he represented Greece in
the negotiations with the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia on the official denomination of the latter. In May
2002, he was appointed Chair of the Foreign Ministry's Committee for the Environment and Sustainable Development.

Xeni Skorini-Paparrigopoulou. Ms Skorini-Paparrigopoulou holds a Law Degree from the University of Athens. She has
done postgraduate studies (DESE) at the Centre des Études Europeennes of the University of Nancy (France) and she
holds a Ph.D. in Common Law from the University of Athens. Since 2000 she has been teaching common law at the
same university and since 2002 she has been Chair of the CJFA of the Council of Europe.

Georgios Bitros. Mr. Bitros is Professor of Economics and Chair of the Faculty of Economic Sciences at the Economic
University of Athens. He holds a Batchelor's degree from ASOEE and a PhD from the University of New York. He has
specialized in microeconomics, industrial organization and cost-benefit theories. He has authored a number of books,
monographs and papers, published in journals and magazines of international repute by both foreign and Greek
publishers. He is a member of OTE’s Audit Committee.

Charalambos Dimitriou. Mr. Dimitriou is a graduate of the Athens University Law School, admitted to the Athens
Court of Appeals. He holds an L.L.M. from the London School of Economics, specializing in EU law, International
Economics Law, Comparative International Law and European Organisations Law. From 1982 to 1983 he was lecturer
at the London University College and he also served as scientific partner and member of the Board of Directors of the
Institute of Political Studies and Training. He was legal counsel to the Deputy Minister of Agriculture from 1992 to 1993.
Mr. Dimitriou has served as special legal counsel to the Minister of Economy and Finance since 2004.

Theodoros E. Veniamis. Mr. Veniamis is a ship owner and a graduate of the School of Economics and Trade of Athens.
He has worked in different shipping businesses in London and Piraeus. He is the founder and Chairman of the Golden
Union Group of Companies. He is a member of the Board of Directors of the Union of Greek Shipowners, a member of
the Board of Directors of London Steamship Owners Mutual Insurance Association (P&I) and Vice President of the Greek
Committee of Det Norske Veritas. He actively contributes in committees and unions. He has been Chairman of the
Board of Directors of Maritel since July 1999.

Georgios Gerapetritis. Dr. Gerapetritis is a lawyer and Lecturer of Constitutional Law at the University of Athens. He
is a graduate of the Athens University Law School and holds an LL.M. from the University of Edinburgh in the field of
public law and philosophy of law and a D.Phil. in the field of European public law from the University of Oxford. He
has been a fellow of the Greek State Scholarships Foundation (π.∫.À.), the British Council and of the U.S. German
Marshall Fund. He has conducted, and participated in, more than 50 research programs of national, European and
international character and has addressed more than 30 seminars and conferences in Greece, Europe and America. He
has published two books and more than 40 articles in Greek and international journals in three languages. He has been
counsel to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Ministry of the Interior, Public Administration and Decentralization
and has served as legal counsel to subsidiaries of our Group. 

Chief Financial Officer
Iordanis Aivazis: Mr. Aivazis holds a degree in Economics from Athens University, a Master of Arts (M.A.) in Marketing
and Finance from Lancaster University, UK, as well as a Postgraduate Diploma in Industrial Economics from the same
university. He speaks English and French in addition to his native Greek. He worked at the Greek Bank for Industrial
Development (ETVA) from 1980 to 1983, at the Greek Industry of Ammonia S.A. as member of the board of directors
from 1982 to 1983 at Bank of America (1983 to 1986), at Midland Bank (1986-1994), at ABN-AMRO Bank as General
Manager of the Corporate Banking Unit from 1994 to 1995. He has also been a Vice President and Executive Director
at Chios Securities (1998-1999), as well as Director of Corporate Banking and Risk Management at Chios Bank (1995-
1999). From March 1999 to November 1999, he was Risk Management Manager as well as Manager of Investments &
Capital Market of the Piraeus Group. From November 1999 until February 2001 he was General Manager at Egnatia
Bank SA, Vice President of the Board of Directors of Egnatia Mutual Funds and Chairman and Managing Director of
Egnatia Leasing SA. Since February 2001, he has been member of the Board of Directors and Executive Vice President
of OTE International Investments. Since March 2003, he has held the position of Chief Officer for Group Financial Affairs
and since April 2004 he has held the position of Chief Financial Officer of OTE.
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Legal Counsel
Andreas Kalogeropoulos: Mr. Kalogeropoulos, a former Judge of the Court of First Instance of the European
Communities, is a graduate of the University of Paris and holds a PhD in Law with honors from the same university. He
has been a member of the Athens Bar Association since 1976, Chargé de cours of Administrative Law (1978-1980) and
Counsel to the Greek government (1978-1980). He has represented the Greek Government before the European Court
of Justice (1988-1990). He served as first Legal Secretary (Référendaire) to the Court of Justice of the European
Communities (1981-1987) and to the Court of Auditors of the European Communities (1990-1992) and as Judge of the
Court of First Instance of the European Communities (1992-1998). Since 2000, he has been the President of the
Adjudication Panel of the European Investment Bank and since 2004 he has been Counsel to the European Commission.
From 2001 to 2002 he was President of the European Lawyers Association. He was appointed as Chief Legal Counsel
in November 2000 and until October 2003 he also served as Legal Counsel to OTE’s Group.

Dimitris Tzouganatos: Mr. Tzouganatos is a graduate of the Law School of the University of Athens. In 1976, he
received an LL.M. from the University of Michigan and a Dr.iur (doctorate) from the Eberhard-Karls Universität
Tübingen. He is admitted to the Athens Bar and is currently an Associate Professor of Commercial Law at the University
of Athens Law School. From June 2000 to October 2003 he was the President of the Greek Competition Commission
(the National Competition Authority). In October 2003, he was appointed as Chief Officer for OTE Group Legal Affairs
and as of July 9, 2004, he is Special Counsel on Regulatory Matters.

2.11 Corporate Governance differences (Section 303 A.11 of NYSE Manual)

We adhere to the principles of corporate governance for Greek listed companies set forth in Law 3016/2002 and the
decision of the Capital Markets Commission No. 5/204/14.11.2000. Within this framework, we have implemented key
principles of corporate governance in connection with:
ñ the composition of OTE’s Board of Directors;
ñ the transparency and disclosure of information; and
ñ the protection of the rights of the shareholders.
The corporate governance rules applicable to OTE as a Greek corporation differ in many respects from the corporate
governance standards applicable to domestic corporations in the United States, which have securities listed on the New
York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). Most notably, there are differences with respect to the proportion of directors who have
to be independent and the role, structure, composition and organization of the committees of the board of directors.
A c c o rding to Law 3016/2002, at least one-third of the directors must be non-executive and of these at least two must be
independent. Of the 11 members of our current board, five are independent. Independence of directors in Greece is
supervised by the Greek Capital Markets Commission, which may impose sanctions in cases of violations of applicable law.
According to NYSE corporate governance rules, companies listed on the NYSE must adopt and disclose corporate
g o v e rnance guidelines relating to director qualifications standards, responsibilities, access to management,
compensation and various other matters. There are no similar requirements applicable to OTE and we have not adopted
guidelines of this nature.
NYSE corporate governance rules stipulate that non-management directors must meet at regularly scheduled meetings
without management being present. There are no similar requirements applicable to OTE and its non-management
directors do not ordinarily hold separate meetings.
Other differences are summarized as follows. Greek law does not require companies to have a nominating/corporate
governance committee. The Company previously had an Executive Committee of Corporate Governance, which was
abolished pursuant to amendments to OTE’s Articles of Incorporation enacted by the ordinary general assembly of its
shareholders of June 17, 2004. There is no Greek law requirement for a compensation committee and the compensation
of OTE’s directors is determined by the general assembly of shareholders, as required under Greek company law.
OTE’s board of directors has established an Audit Committee and an internal set of regulations, adopted by its Board
of Directors on May 24, 2004. OTE’s Audit Committee is currently comprised of three independent members and
includes an audit committee financial expert. A more detailed description of OTE’s Audit Committee is set forth below.

2.12 Audit Committee

In April 1999, OTE established an Internal Audit Committee and approved its Operating Regulation. According to its
Regulation, the Audit Committee is comprised of two or three non-executive members of the Board of Directors of
which at least one is of economic expertise. One of the members also serves as chairman. The role of this Committee
is to assist OTE's Board of Directors with its overseeing responsibilities by checking the financial information that is
published, the audit systems established by the management and the Board of Directors, as well as the audit process,
based on the legislative and regulatory framework for the Organization's operation and the current legislation on the
operation of certified public auditors.
The Audit Committee is convened in four regular sessions every year following the preparation of the financial
statements but before their publication. It may also be convened in extraordinary sessions whenever this is deemed
necessary. The Audit Committee is in full session when all members are present and any decisions are taken
unanimously.
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The specification of the Audit Committee duties is revised at least once a year and is improved in whatever way and
whenever it is deemed necessary according to International Standards.

The authorities of the Audit Committee, among others are the following:
ñ Consideration and evaluation of the effectiveness and weaknesses of the Internal Audit Framework, focusing on the
procedures for the evaluation of significant risks and the measures required for the secure management and the
availability and control of the information systems.
ñ Review of the quarterly and annual financial results of OTE and implementation of its budget.
ñ Proposes to the Board of Directors on the selection of External Auditors, expressing its agreement or not on regarding
the services provided by the certified External Accountants and controls and ensures the independence of external
auditors.
ñ Monitors the activities of Internal Audits and ensures the independent and effective work of the Internal Auditors,
with unhindered access to all basic information and data available in the Company
ñ Monitors and evaluates the procedure for the various Internal Auditing activity projects, brings them for approval to
the Board of Directors, monitors their implementation and evaluates the progress and effectiveness of the auditing
activities
The Audit Committee consists of Panagiotis Tambourlos (Chairman) – expert on financial matters, Georgios Bitros and
Georgios Tzovlas as members.

2.13 Internal Audit

OTE has developed the Internal Audit since 1996, that is before the 5/204/12-6-2000 decision of the Capital Markets
Committee and L. 3016/2002 that created the legislative framework of Corporate Governance in Greece. The main role
of the Internal Audit System is to aid the Company's management and the Audit Committee in the execution of their
duties, providing independent evaluation of the efficiency and effectiveness of the Internal Audit environment and of
the systems in effect, as well as their ongoing management. Its recommendations serve to constantly improve the
internal audit systems. The Internal Audit is hierarchically independent, reports to the Board of Directors, and has
unlimited access to any information necessary for the fulfilment of its object.

2.14 Pending Judicial Disputes

OTE is involved in various disputes, as a result of its normal business activities. OTE believes that any liability resulting
from these claims will not have a significant influence on its financial statements or its operational results.
With regard to tax disputes:
ñ The FAEE Athens Inland Revenue Office has imposed on OTE stamp duties, interest and fines amounting to some
27,803,094,509 Euro for the administrative period 1982-1992. The tax dispute was pending in the B’ department of the
Supreme Court, after the submission of three annulment applications by the IR Office against OTE and concerning
resolutions 6091/1999, 6092/1999, 6093/1999 in favour of OTE by the five member Administrative Court of Appeals in
Athens. The case has been pending since 2000 and after many postponements the case was heard on the 28th of April
2004. During the hearing of the case, the Councillor (Special Advisor or Reporting Councillor) to the Supreme Court
recommended a proposal (judgement) in favour of OTE’s position and supported the resolutions of the appeal, asking
for the dismissal of the three annulment applications submitted by the IR office. However, the Supreme Court issued
decisions 3581/2004, 3582/2004, and 3583/2004 – to be typed, accepting the IR Office claims and referred the cases for
re-examination again by the Court of Appeals, as it considered that they need clarification. Despite this turn of events,
nothing has been finalised yet regarding OTE’s obligation to pay the relevant taxes and duties

Additionally:
ñ ALPHA DIGITAL SYNTHESIS S.A. has resorted to arbitration, regarding a claim of 254,230,199 Euro with interest,
against OTE, for the losses it claims to have suffered from the failure to create a company involving ALPHA, OTE and
ERT for the provision of subscriber television services. The judicial process started at the Court of Arbitration on the
4/27/2004 and remains in progress.
ñ A claim by ERT S.A. to the Athens Court of First Instance (Regular Process) requesting payment by OTE for the amount
of 42,945,788 Euro with interest from the 5.15.2002, due to loss it claims it suffered from the failure to create a
company involving ERT, OTE and ALPHA DIGITAL SYNTHESIS S.A. The hearing was made on 4/24/2005 following a
postponement.
ñ ECONOPHONE resigned from its claim of 3,593,347.40 Euro with its resignation statement no. 23/01-13-2005
submitted to the Athens Court of First Instance
ñ A claim of GREEK TELECOM S.A. against OTE that is scheduled to be heard on 5/10/2007 by the Athens Court of First
Instance requesting the payment of the amount of Euro 45,390,095.
ñ A claim by "K. PRINIANAKIS SA" against OTE for the amount of 10,905,613.92 Euro. The case was to be heard on
1/27/2005 by the Athens Court of First Instance but it has been cancelled.
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ñ A claim by "INFOSHOP SA" against OTE for the amount of 6,968,938.88 Euro. The case was to be heard on 1/27/2005
by the Athens Court of First Instance but it has been cancelled.
ñ A claim by "KOUTSOKOSTAS ELIAS & CO EE"" against OTE for the amount of 7,887,451.10 Euro. The case is to be
heard on 10/13/2005 by the Athens Court of First Instance.
ñ A claim by "DEP INFO EPE" against OTE for the amount of 6,968,938.88 Euro. The case is to be heard on 3/9/2006 by
the Athens Court of First Instance following a postponement
ñ A claim by "ERT SA" against OTE for the amount of 1,467,350 Euro. The case is to be heard on 7/2/2007 by the Athens
Court of First Instance following a postponement.
ñ A claim by "St. Constantine Shipping Limited" etc against OTE for the amount of 2,109,192.30 Euro. The case was
heard on 3/1/2005 by the Piraeus Court of First Instance and the decision is pending.
ñ A claim by "VITALS, Inc & VICTOR SHTATNOV" against OTE, EQUANT SA and ECONOPHONE SA for an amount over
50,000 USD. The case is to be heard by the Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia, State of Pennsylvania , USA. The
claim demands compensation from ECONOPHONE SA for failing to meet its contractual obligations. ECONOPHONE SA
filled a counter-claim against OTE. OTE submitted an objection regarding the lack of jurisdiction of the US courts and
in the opinion of the Company’s American attorneys, its acceptance is quite possible. 
ñ A claim by "FORTHNET SA" against OTE for the amount of 26,707,222 Euro. The case is to be heard on 4/19/2007 by
the Athens Court of First Instance
ñ A claim by "TELEPASSPORT SA" against OTE for the amount of 27,395,100 Euro. The case is to be heard on 6/8/2005
by the Athens Court of First Instance following a postponement
ñ A claim by "TELEPASSPORT SA" against OTE for the amount of 24,763,087.22 Euro. The case is to be heard on
6/8/2005 by the Athens Court of First Instance following a postponement

OTE has filed the following claims:
ñ Two actions against the companies INTRAKOM S.A. and SIEMENS TELEVIOMIHANIKI for the amount of 29,794,308,47
Euro, which are at the stage of hearing witness testimonials in front of the Judge at the Athens Court of First Instance.
ñ An action against the company GEMPLUS CARD INTERNATIONAL, which was heard on the 1/9/2003 and was
dismissed by the Athens Court of First Instance, resolution 3528/6-13-2003. On the 9/26/2003 an appeal was submitted
against that resolution, reference number 8239, which was heard on the 3/11/2004 and the decision No 2379/2004
ratified the earlier decision No. 3528/2003 by the Athens Court of First Instance.
ñ An action against the company "KARTOTILEFONIA EPE", claiming the amount of 1,566,173.09 for un-paid invoices.
The case was herd on 3/9/2005 by the Athens Court of First Instance, without the presence of the other party, and the
decision is pending.
ñ An action against GREEK TELECOM S.A. claiming the amount of 1,563,204.78 Euro, due from un-paid
telecommunication bills. The case is scheduled to be heard, by the Athens Court of First Instance, on 5/10/2007 
ñ Counter-action against the company DEP INFO EPE claiming the amount of 1,700,844.29 Euro. This case will be heard
together with the respective case against OTE on 3/9/2006.

Also there are:
ñ Actions by OTE personnel against OTE, totalling (from 1/1/2004 to 12/31/2004) 40,955,963.15 Euro. It is noted that
from this amount, the cases regarding employees leave on the optical registration monitors, for the amount of
2,346,499.46 Euro are anticipated to be dismissed following the decision No. 568/2004 of the Supreme Court.

2.15 Compensation of BoD Members and Chief Officers

In 2004, the total compensation paid to Members of the Board of Directors came to the sum of Euro 997,975, and the
corresponding sum paid to the Chief Officers to the sum of Euro 1,880,437.
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3.1 Legislative Framework

(See page 12-14)

3.2 Regulatory Framework

(See page 16-17)

3.3 Operating License

Pursuant to the provisions of L. 2246/1994 (earlier law regarding telecommunications), OTE was granted through P. D.
437/1995 (Government Gazette Issue A' 250), a special license to install, develop, and operate telecommunications
networks and to provide any other telecommunications services (OTE license). With L. 2867/2000 (Government Gazette
Issue A' 273) concerning the "Organization and operation of telecommunications and other provisions" (new
telecommunications law), the telecommunication market in Greece was fully deregulated as from 1/1/2001. Thereby,
all exclusive rights (mainly in voice telephony) that were granted to OTE by then in effect legislation were abolished.
From the moment the recent law was ratified, OTE operates under conditions of full competition with all other
telecommunication companies, without any exclusive rights and preferential treatment or prejudice for or against, but
is subject to equal treatment with all these telecommunications companies. With respect to the regulatory
conformation of the existing, at the time of the new law's ratification, telecommunications companies to the provisions
of article 6, paragraph 9 of the new telecommunications law, the National Telecommunications and Post Office
Committee (EETT) was empowered to amend through decisions, published in the Government Gazette, all special
licenses issued before this law was ratified, if they contained terms that were in conflict with the new law, irrespective
of the manner of the initial issue of the initial License. Pursuant to the above, the EETT modified OTE's operating license
in this direction through decision 229/26/9.14.2001 (Government Gazette Issue B' 1303).
According to the new amended license, OTE is granted the right to provide, pursuant to the provisions of the current
legislation, the following services through its public switched telephone network:
a) Any Public Telecommunication Service for which it has received numbers or radio frequencies, as allocated in the
National Registry of Allocated Frequency Bands (EEKKZS), for the provision of specific telecommunication services
offered through its fixed public telecommunication network.
b) Public Satellite Telecommunication Services.
c) Maritime Mobile Telecommunication Services.
d) Paging services at 155 MHz.
e) National and European Paging services, through the European radio Messaging System (ERMES).
f) Fixed wireless access services.
g) Fixed co-channelled radio system services (TETRA), for the provision of which it was granted special license by the
EETT on 7/11/2002.

Legislative - Regulatory Framework3.
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According to the resolution of the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 3/6/1996 and pursuant to Law 2374 / 1996 for
"the Listing of Hellenic Telecommunications Organization SA on the Athens Stock Exchange (ASE) and other
provisions", the Organization’s share capital amounted to three hundred sixteen billion four hundred ninety nine
million, one hundred forty eight thousand Greek drachmas (GRD 316,499,148,000), divided into four hundred and
twenty one million, nine hundred and ninety eight thousand, eight hundred and sixty four (421,998,864) common
registered shares with a nominal value of seven hundred and fifty (750) Greek drachmas per share. Subsequently, with
the resolution of the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on 6/14/1997, the Organization’s share capital was increased
by an amount of twenty three billion, seven hundred and thirty seven million, four hundred and thirty six thousand,
two hundred fifty (23,737,436,250) Greek Drachmas paid in cash, through the issue of thirty one million, six hundred
and forty nine thousand, nine hundred and fifteen (31,649,915) new common registered shares, with a nominal value
of seven hundred and fifty (750) Greek drachmas per share. Consequently, the Organization’s total share capital
amounted to three hundred forty billion, two hundred and thirty six million, five hundred and eighty four thousand,
two hundred fifty (340,236,584,250) Greek drachmas, divided into four hundred fifty three million, six hundred forty
eight thousand, seven hundred and seventy nine (453,648,779) common registered shares with a nominal value of
seven hundred and fifty (750) Greek drachmas per share. 
According to the resolution of the Annual Shareholders Meeting on 6/17/1998, OTE’s share capital increased by thirty
seven billion, eight hundred and four million, sixty five thousand Greek drachmas (37,804,065,000) due to capitalization
of reserves which in turn resulted from an asset revaluation on 12/31/1996, pursuant to the provisions of Law
2065/1992 and through the issuance of fifty million, four hundred and five thousand, four hundred and twenty
(50,405,420) new common registered shares, with a nominal value of seven hundred and fifty (750) Greek drachmas
per share. Consequently, the Organization’s total share capital amounted to three hundred seventy eight billion, forty
million, six hundred and forty nine thousand, two hundred and fifty (378,040,649,250) Greek drachmas, divided into
five hundred and four million, fifty four thousand, one hundred and ninety nine (504,054,199) common registered
shares with a nominal value of seven hundred and fifty (750) Greek drachmas per share.
On June 25th, 2001, the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting approved the conversion of OTE stock’s nominal value from
Greek drachmas into EUR. As a result, the Organization’s nominal share capital settled at EUR 1,108,919,237.80,
consisting of 504,054,199 common registered shares with a nominal value of EUR 2.20 per share. According to the
legislation, the conversion and rounding of the nominal value resulted from a reduction - of GRD 176,418,970 or EUR
517,737.26 - in the share capital. The afore-mentioned reduction appeared on the account titled "Difference from share
capital conversion into EUR" in the Company’s financial statements.
On October 17, 2002, the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting approved a share capital increase resulting from an increase
in the nominal value of existing shares by EUR 0.19 per share. The implied incremental value of EUR 95,770,297.81
(504,054,199 times EUR 0.19) resulted from capitalization of reserves due to revaluation of assets (L. 2065 / 1992).
Following these corporate actions, the Company’s share capital settled at one billion, two hundred and four million, six
hundred and eighty nine thousand, five hundred and thirty five EUR and sixty-one cents (1,204,689,535.61). The share
capital was therefore divided into five hundred and four million, fifty four thousand, one hundred and ninety nine
shares (504,054,199) with a nominal value of EUR 2.39 per share. 
After a relevant resolution by its Shareholders’ Meetings for five consecutive years 1999- 2003, OTE proceeded with a
share repurchase plan - buying shares through the Athens Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange - in an
effort to support its share price and improve capital structure and financial ratios. OTE repurchased 2,989,010 shares
during 1999, 9,645,440 shares in 2000, 836,870 shares in 2001 and 432,490 shares in 2002 and 2003. On 1/1/2004, the
Organization held 13,903,810 shares or 2.758% of its total share capital - as treasury stock of which 13,759,260 were
acquired through ASE and 144,550 through NYSE.
On 17th of June 2004, the General Shareholders’ Meeting approved the annulment of 12,794,900 owned shares, three
years after their acquisition, with the equivalent reduction in the Company’s share capital by thirty million five-hundred
and seventy nine thousand and eight hundred and eleven (30,579,811.00) Euro, the amount that is equivalent to the
value of the annulled shares, in accordance with art. 16. para. 12 of C.L. 2190/1920.
The Greek State’s share was 34,641% and DEKA’s share was 0.02%. OTE’s share capital is 1,174,109,724.61 Euro divided
into five hundred and four million, 491,259,299 shares with a nominal value of EUR 2.39 per share. Treasury stock is
0,226% of its total share capital (1,108,910 shares).
On 28 July 2000, DEKA SA, an OTE shareholder, issued a bond loan transferring 14,971,222 shares to Hellenic Finance
No S.C.A., expiring on 28 July 2004. In summer 2001, the Greek State in order to reduce its participation in OTE’s share
capital, opted to issue a bond loan of 1 bil. Euro, exchangeable to OTE shares (53,841,600 shares). This bond loan is set
to expiry on 2 August 2005.
As of 12/31/2004, the Company’s shareholding structure is the following: Greek State 34.641% or 170,176,004 shares,
DEKA SA 3.065% or 15,055,692 shares following an extra stock exchange transfer of 14,971,222 shares (as a result of
the Hellenic Finance No S.C.A bond loan maturity), other shareholders (domestic – foreign) 62.068%. 
The Organization is not aware of any other shareholder directly or indirectly owning more than 3% of its share capital.
There was no dividend for 2004 while the dividend for 2003 was 0.35 Euro per share.

OTE - Share price perfomance4.



√∆∂ Stock: Share Price performance and transaction volume during 2004

* Last session of the month

** OTE’s share is listed in NYSE, in the form of American Depository Receipts - ADR. 
Each ADR represents 1/2 of OTE’s share.

OTE Stock on the Athens OTE Stock on the New York
Stock Exchange (A.S.E.) Stock Exchange (N.Y.S.E.)**

Month Share Price Total Monthly Share Price Total Monthly 

(in Euro)* Transaction volume (in USD)* Transaction volume 

(in Euro) (in USD)

January 12,32 461,819,260 7.65 17,494,833

February 12,30 278,561,137 7.60 15,935,233

March 11,48 284,057,394 7.20 15,290,782

April 12,14 279,871,199 7.15 23,044,717

May 10,78 330,813,908 6.42 16,637,734

June 10,68 174,650,625 6.47 6,819,525

July 10,12 122,547,490 6.32 4,808,986

August 10,38 171,958,430 6.35 5,408,208

September 10,82 257,770,518 6.68 6,374,901

October 12,14 249,184,540 7.57 9,061,515

November 12,36 380,252,526 8.12 23,528,462

December 13,22 261,576,188 8.80 13,501,085
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To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of 
Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. (a
G reek corporation) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004.  These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States).  Those standards re q u i re that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.  We were not engaged to perform an audit of the
C o m p a n y ’s internal control over financial reporting.  Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial
reporting as a basis for designing audit pro c e d u res that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
e x p ressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accord i n g l y, we
e x p ress no such opinion.  An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
d i s c l o s u res in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements re f e r red to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. and its
subsidiaries changed their method of accounting for asset re t i rement obligations effective January 1, 2003.

ERNST & YOUNG (HELLAS)
C E RTIFIED AUDITORS ACCOUNTANTS S.A.

Athens, Gre e c e
May 31, 2005

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
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HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME



124

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
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HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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1. COMPANY'S FORMATION AND OPERATIONS:

The Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. (hereinafter re f e r red to as "OTE"), was founded in 1949 in accord a n c e

with Law 1049/49, as a state-owned Société Anonyme.  OTE operates pursuant to Law 2246/94 (as amended), Law 2257/94

( O T E ’s Charter) and Presidential Decree 437/95.   Until December 31, 2000, based on an extension granted on June 18, 1997,

by the European Commission to the Greek State, OTE had the exclusive rights to install, operate and exploit the public fixed

switched telecommunications network in Greece and to provide public fixed switched voice telephony services.  Eff e c t i v e

January 1, 2001 and pursuant to the provisions of the new Telecommunications Law 2867/2000, issued in December 2000,

which amended certain provisions of the previous Law 2246/1994, the above mentioned exclusivity rights expired and the

relevant market is open to competition.  At December 31, 2004, OTE had a total of approximately 6.3 million access lines in

service in Gre e c e .

OTE also benefited from an extension of the deadline under European Union ("EU") regulations for the introduction of

number portability and carrier selection and pre-selection to January 1, 2003. Carrier pre-selection for international calls was

implemented in December 2002, while carrier pre-selection for national, local and mobile calls was introduced on February

1, 2003. Number portability is available since June 1, 2004. 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of OTE and all subsidiaries where OTE has contro l

( h e reinafter re f e r red to as the "Group").  The following table summarizes OTE’s consolidated subsidiaries:

Company Name Line of Business Ownership Interest

At December 31,

2003 2004

( a ) COSMOTE MOBILE 

T E L E C O M M U N I C ATIONS S.A. ("Cosmote") Mobile telecommunication services 5 8 . 9 5 % 5 8 . 7 7 %

( b ) OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LT D Investment holding company 1 0 0 . 0 0 % 1 0 0 . 0 0 %

( c ) ROMTELECOM S.A. ("Romtelecom") Fixed line and mobile telecommunication services 5 4 . 0 1 % 5 4 . 0 1 %

( d ) ALBANIAN MOBILE 

C O M M U N I C ATIONS Sh.a ("AMC") Mobile telecommunication services 4 8 . 6 0 % 4 8 . 4 6 %

( e ) ARMENIA TELEPHONE 

C O M PANY CJSC ("ArmenTe l " ) Fixed line and mobile telecommunication services 9 0 . 0 0 % 9 0 . 0 0 %

( f ) OTE MTS Holding B.V. Investment holding company 1 0 0 . 0 0 % 1 0 0 . 0 0 %

( g ) COSMOFON MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS 

S E RVICES A.D. – SKOPJE 

("Cosmofon") (ex "MTS")  Mobile telecommunication services 1 0 0 . 0 0 % 1 0 0 . 0 0 %

( h ) OTE AUSTRIA HOLDING GMBH Investment holding company 1 0 0 . 0 0 % 1 0 0 . 0 0 %

( i ) COSMO BULGARIA MOBILE EAD ("Globul") Mobile telecommunication services 1 0 0 . 0 0 % 1 0 0 . 0 0 %

( j ) HELLAS SAT CONSORTIUM LIMITED Satellite communications 8 3 . 3 4 % 8 3 . 3 4 %

( k ) COSMO-ONE HELLAS MARKET SITE S.A. 

( " C O S M O - O N E " ) E - c o m m e rce services 4 1 . 3 3 % 4 9 . 0 1 %

( l ) OTENET S.A. ("OTEnet") I n t e rnet services 8 0 . 2 0 % 9 0 . 2 0 %

( m )HELLASCOM INTERNATIONAL S.A. 

( " H e l l a s c o m " ) Telecommunication pro j e c t s 5 1 . 4 0 % 5 1 . 4 0 %

( n ) OTE PLC Financing services 1 0 0 . 0 0 % 1 0 0 . 0 0 %

( o ) S ATELLITE MOBILE AND PERSONAL 

C O M M U N I C ATIONS HELLAS S.A. 

("OTE SAT- Maritel") Satellite telecommunication services 9 3 . 8 2 % 9 3 . 9 9 %

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)
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1. COMPANY’S FORMATION AND OPERATIONS (Continued):

Company Name Line of Business Ownership Interest

At December 31,

2003 2004

( p ) TEMAGON S.A. ("Te m a g o n " ) Consulting services 9 9 . 0 0 % 9 9 . 0 0 %

( q ) OTE ESTATE S.A. ("OTE Estate") Real estate 1 0 0 . 0 0 % 1 0 0 . 0 0 %

( r ) INFOTE S.A. (InfOTE") D i rectory and other information services 1 0 0 . 0 0 % 1 0 0 . 0 0 %

( s ) OTE INTERNATIONAL SOLUTIONS S.A. 

( O T E G l o b e " ) Wholesale telephony services 1 0 0 . 0 0 % 1 0 0 . 0 0 %

( t ) H AT WAVE HELLENIC-AMERICAN 

T E L E C O M M U N I C ATIONS WAVE LTD. 

( " H a t w a v e " ) Holding company 5 2 . 6 7 % 5 2 . 6 7 %

( u ) OTE INSURANCE AGENCY S.A. 

("OTE Insurance") Insurance brokerage services 1 0 0 . 0 0 % 1 0 0 . 0 0 %

( v ) COSMO-HOLDING ALBANIA S.A. ("CHA") Investment holding company 5 7 . 1 8 % 5 7 . 0 0 %

Information relating to acquisitions, establishment and disposals of the Gro u p ’s subsidiaries during the years presented, is

summarized as follows.

(a) Cosmote: Cosmote was incorporated on October 2, 1996 and is one of the four operators licensed to pro v i d e

mobile telecommunication services in Greece. In 2004, Cosmote’s share capital was increased by € 0.6 as a re s u l t

of new shares issued relating to the options exercised under its share option plans (See Note 16b). Accord i n g l y,

O T E ’s share decreased by 0.18% to 58.77%. As the respective shares were off e red in excess of their carrying value,

OTE recognized a pre-tax gain of € 4.7, which is included in "Other income/(expense)" in the accompanying 2004

consolidated statement of income.

(b) OTE International Investments Ltd: OTE International Investments Ltd (formerly OTEROM) is an OTE’s wholly owned

s u b s i d i a r y, incorporated on October 26, 1998, for the purpose of acquiring an initial 35% interest in Romtelecom

S.A. ("Romtelecom"), the public switch network operator in the Republic of Romania [See (c) below].

(c) Romtelecom: On December 30, 1998, OTE, through its subsidiary OTE International Investments Ltd, acquired a

35% interest in Romtelecom S.A., a company which was established on November 1, 1997, through the

contribution of the business and substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Romtelecom R.A. (the former state

telecommunication entity).  Based on the agreements signed, OTE was granted up to an additional 16% voting

rights, for a period of five years.  However, according to Romtelecom’s statutes, OTE could not exercise such

additional 16% voting rights in extraordinary general shareholders meetings. In all extraordinary general

s h a reholders’ meetings the Romanian State, through the Ministry of Communications, had 65% voting rights while

OTE had 35% voting rights.  OTE, given the temporary nature of its additional 16% voting rights and considering

a series of factors preventing it from having control of the company, has accounted for its investment in

Romtelecom using the equity method, up to March 3, 2003, when it became majority shareholder in Romtelecom

(see below).  Factors considered included the inability of OTE and Romtelecom to: (i) increase tariffs, as a result of

the Romanian State’s indirect influence, (ii) improve Romtelecom’s cost structure through the centralization of the

existing 41 territorial divisions to a small number of regional centers, (iii) approve an increase in Romtelecom’s share

capital as such an increase could only be approved by an extraordinary general shareholders’ meeting where OTE

held only 35% of the voting rights and (iv) obtain significant borrowings, as provided in Romtelecom’s business plan

p re p a red at the time of acquisition, due to the Romanian State’s unwillingness to discuss the pledging of assets or

f u t u re revenues of Romtelecom, which would be re q u i red to obtain such additional borro w i n g s .

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)
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1. COMPANY’S FORMATION AND OPERATIONS (Continued):

The initial 35% stake acquisition cost amounted to approximately € 557.1 (U.S.$ 675 million) and was paid on

December 30, 1998.  The resulting excess of the acquisition cost over the net identifiable tangible and intangible

assets, or goodwill of Romtelecom, amounted to € 152.3 and was initially amortized on a straight-line basis over 20

years.  Such goodwill as well as part of the carrying amount of the investment were written off in 2001 and 2002

t h rough impairment charges of € 256.3 and € 1.5, re s p e c t i v e l y.  The fair values of the assets acquired, net of

impairments, are included in OTE’s 2003 consolidated financial statements, as a result of Romtelecom’s consolidation

since March 3, 2003. 

On March 3, 2003, as part of OTE’s strategy to obtain control of Romtelecom, OTE International Investments Ltd.

a c q u i red an additional 19.01% in Romtelecom through:  (a) the acquisition of 994,546 existing shares from the

Romanian State, for € 28.8 (U.S.$ 31 million) and (b) the issuance of 7,783,927 newly issued shares directly fro m

Romtelecom for € 229.2 (U.S.$ 242.6 million). In accordance with the provisions of the purchase agre e m e n t ,

Romtelecom capitalized debts related to OTE International Investments Ltd. of € 94.6 (U.S.$ 98.5 million) while the

remaining € 134.6 (U.S.$ 144.3 million) was paid-in-cash.  As a result of this transaction OTE’s share in Romtelecom

has increased to 54.01%, and, accord i n g l y, OTE has started consolidating Romtelecom from the date of the transaction

closing, March 3, 2003.

The acquisition was accounted for as a step acquisition under the purchase method of accounting. The following

re p resents the calculation of the total consideration:

Cash given to Romtelecom 1 3 4 . 6

Cash given to Romanian State 2 8 . 8

Debt capitalized 9 4 . 6

Acquisition costs 3 . 3

Total consideration 2 6 1 . 3

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)
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1. COMPANY’S FORMATION AND OPERATIONS (Continued):

OTE has performed an allocation of the purchase price above to the fair value of the acquired tangible and intangible

assets and liabilities assumed as of March 3, 2003.  The following represents the allocation of the above purchase price.

Fair Value of Assets and 

Romtelecom’s Liabilities

Assets and Acquired

Liabilities at by OTE on

Date of March 3,

acquisition 2003

(March 3, 2003)

Current assets 343.2 65.2

Property, plant & equipment 1,983.0 248.6

Intangible and other non-current assets 158.6 58.0

Total assets 2,484.8 371.8

Current liabilities (549.0) (104.4)

Long-term debt (215.5) (41.0)

Other long-term liabilities (247.7) (47.1)

Total liabilities (1,012.2) (192.5)

Fair value of net assets acquired 179.3

Capital contribution to Romtelecom 

to maintain the initial 35% interest 82.0

Total consideration 261.3

No goodwill has resulted from this transaction.

The purchase price allocation of the 19.01% interest in Romtelecom was carried out by involving external experts and

specialists with respect to the valuation process.

Current assets at fair value, reported in the table above, consist principally of cash and banks, accounts receivable and

other assets.  Accounts receivable to be recovered in the short-term are at fair value, based on estimated net realizable

value.

Property, plant and equipment at fair value consist principally of fixed assets utilized for Romtelecom’s operations.  Fair

value for fixed assets utilized for Romtelecom’s operations is based on replacement cost as determined by independent

experts.

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)
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1. COMPANY’S FORMATION AND OPERATIONS (Continued):

Intangible assets at fair value include those assets which have been identified by the external qualified experts and

valued in accordance with the valuation criteria methods developed by them.  The identified intangible assets relate to

the brand name for fixed telephony services, and the business and residential contractual customer relationships.

Current and long-term liabilities at fair value consist principally of short-term borrowings, long-term debt and trade and

other accounts payable.

The following table presents the pro-forma results of operations, net income before cumulative effect of accounting

changes and net income, as if the acquisition of the 19.01% interest in Romtelecom had occurred as of January 1, 2002

and 2003, instead of the effective date of March 3, 2003.  If the acquisition of the 19.01% interest had occurred as of

January 1, 2002 and 2003, instead of the effective date March 3, 2003, consolidated revenues would have increased by

approximately € 959 and € 133 respectively.  Pro-forma adjustments are principally related to the amortization of the

fair value adjustments on the acquired tangible and intangible assets.

2002 2003

Net income before cumulative effect of 

accounting changes 358.5 471.8

Net income 318.2 471.3

Earnings per share (basic and diluted) before

cumulative effect of accounting changes 0.73 0.96

Earnings per share (basic and diluted) 0.65 0.96

For the period January 1 – March 2, 2003 (prior to the additional 19.01% acquisition), OTE accounted for Romtelecom

under the equity method.  In this respect, losses of € 37.9 have been recognized in the accompanying 2003 consolidated

statement of income.  

Cosmorom, Romtelecom’s wholly owned mobile subsidiary, was experiencing financial difficulties and had overdue

payments to its principal equipment supplier of approximately € 100.  The failure by Cosmorom to make payments to

its supplier and Romtelecom’s breach of the financial covenant discussed above, caused a non-payment default by OTE

under (i) the € 1.1 billion 6.125% guaranteed notes due 2007 - the "Eurobond" (issued by its subsidiary OTE PLC and

guaranteed by OTE) and (ii) OTE’s $ 1 billion revolving credit facility, as OTE has become Romtelecom’s major shareholder

in March 2003. 

In order to remedy the above mentioned events of default OTE has taken the following measures: 

i) Eurobond : On May 30, 2003 OTE and OTE PLC issued a solicitation statement wherein OTE and OTE PLC sought

consents (the "Solicitation") from the holders of OTE PLC’s outstanding bonds, to be represented and vote at a

meeting of holders to adopt the following proposed amendments (the "Proposed Amendments") and waivers (the

"Waivers"):

ñ Proposed Amendments: 1) modify the events of default under the Eurobond by replacing "Subsidiaries" with

"Significant Subsidiaries" (excluding Romtelecom and OTE Estate and 2) modify the applicability of negative pledge

covenant to Romtelecom and OTE Estate, thus permitting non-recourse financing to be undertaken by other

subsidiaries.
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ñ Waivers: waive any event of default caused by the failure of Cosmorom to make payment of any

indebtedness.

As a result of the Proposed Amendments and Waivers being adopted by the Holders, OTE disbursed an

amount of approximately € 2.5 to the Holders who have given their consent on or prior to the applicable

deadline. 

At the meeting of the Holders of Notes held on June 30, 2003, the consent of the requisite majority of the

Holders of the Notes to the Waivers and the Proposed Amendments was obtained.

(ii) Revolving credit facility: By a letter dated June 24, 2003, the agent for the syndicate of financial institutions

participating in the $ 1 billion revolving credit facility agreed, on behalf of such financial institutions, to grant

irrevocable waivers to OTE in respect of non-payment defaults arising under such facility as a result of

Cosmorom’s failure to reach agreement with its principal equipment supplier.  Notwithstanding the above,

in August 2003, OTE fully paid its revolving credit facility through the issuance of € 1.250 notes due 2013,

under its Global Medium Term Note Program established on June 10, 1999 [see Note 10(d)].

In December 2003, Intracom S.A. and Intrarom S.A. (the "claimants") commenced arbitration proceedings before

the International Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce ("ICC") against OTE, OTE

International Investments Ltd, Romtelecom and Cosmorom, seeking to recover from the respondents an amount in

excess of € 156.4 allegedly due to the claimants pursuant to a 1999 contract made between the claimants and

Ericsson Radio Systems AB ("Ericsson") (collectively, the "Union of Suppliers") on the one hand, and Cosmorom on

the other, pursuant to which the Union of Suppliers undertook to design and supply equipment for Cosmorom’s

mobile telecommunications network in Romania. The claimants named as respondents Romtelecom, OTE

International Investments Ltd and OTE  in the proceedings on the basis that all the respondents together  constitute

an "undivided economic reality", and that OTE allegedly had an obligation to fund Cosmorom but had failed to do

so and that OTE allegedly gave an "impression" to the Union of Suppliers that it guaranteed Cosmorom’s

obligations under the contract. Cosmorom has disputed the claim as to the amount, has made counterclaims

against the claimants and requested that Ericsson be joined as a party in the arbitration proceeding. The court has

ruled in favour of Cosmorom on the latter request, ordering that Ericsson be joined as a party. OTE strenuously

denied any liability to the respondents and the jurisdiction of the ICC over them in this matter and intended to

vigorously defend its position (See Note 21 for developments on this issue). 

(d) AMC: On August 22, 2000, Cosmote acquired from the Albanian Ministry of Public Economy and Privatization,

through CHA, 85% of the share capital of the Albanian Mobile Communications ("AMC") Sh.a, for a consideration

of approximately € 93.6. The resulting excess of the acquisition cost over the net identifiable tangible and

intangible assets, or goodwill of AMC amounted to € 76.8 and through December 31, 2001, was amortized on a

straight-line basis over 15 years.  Effective January 1, 2002, with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Group is no

longer amortizing goodwill and is instead testing it for impairment at least annually.  See Note 2(g) for further

information regarding the adoption of this standard and the related goodwill tests.
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The Group’s participating interest in AMC as of December 31, 2004 was 48.46%.  Such interest derives through an

85% interest held by CHA, Cosmote’s 97% owned subsidiary.

AMC holds a licence to operate a GSM 900 network in Albania and was the sole provider of mobile

telecommunications services in Albania up to February 2001, when a second license to operate a GSM 900 network

in Albania was granted to a competitor, whose network became operational in January 2002. 

(e) ArmenTel:  On March 3, 1998, OTE purchased a 90% interest in ArmenTel from the Government of the Republic of

Armenia ("GoA") (41%) and Trans-World Telecom Ltd. (49%). The related acquisition cost amounted to € 120.3.

The purchase of ArmenTel was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting.  The resulting excess of

the acquisition cost over the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets, or goodwill of ArmenTel amounted to

€ 77.3 and through December 31, 2001, was amortized on a straight-line basis over 20 years.  Effective January 1,

2002, with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Group is no longer amortizing goodwill and is instead testing it for

impairment at least annually.  See Note 2(g) for further information regarding the adoption of this standard and

the related goodwill tests.

ArmenTel is the exclusive provider of fixed telephony services in Armenia. Armentel has a telecommunications

licence (as amended on November 4, 2004), which grants an exclusive right for fifteen years, ending in 2013, with

an option for additional fifteen years if the company complies in all material respects with the terms of the license

and other applicable laws, regulations and rules.  The amended license deprived Armentel of its exclusive rights in

the field of mobile communications.

(f) OTE MTS Holding B.V.: OTE MTS Holding B.V., OTE’s wholly owned subsidiary, was incorporated during 2001 for the

purpose of acquiring OTE’s interest in Cosmofon (See (g) below).

(g) Cosmofon: Cosmofon was incorporated in Skopje on November 20, 2001, as OTE’s wholly owned subsidiary, for the

purpose of providing mobile telecommunication services in the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia.  In this

respect, and under the terms of the Concession Agreement published as a decision of the Minister of the Transport

and Communications of the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Cosmofon was granted a GSM license for a

consideration of € 28.5, such license being amortized over its life of twenty two (22) years. Out of this amount,

€ 15.7 was paid on November 26, 2001 and the remaining amount of € 12.8 was held in escrow, to account for

possible challenges to the validity of the award which was pending before competent courts.  Following, a verdict

of the Supreme Court of the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia issued in June 2002, the funds held in escrow

account were released and the balance of the consideration was paid.

(h) OTE AUSTRIA HOLDING GMBH:  OTE AUSTRIA HOLDING GMBH, OTE’s wholly owned subsidiary, was incorporated

during 2001 under the laws of Austria, for the purpose of acquiring OTE’s interest in Globul (See (i) below).
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( i ) Globul: Globul, OTE’s wholly owned subsidiary, was incorporated during 2001 in order to provide mobile

telecommunication services in the Republic of Bulgaria. In this respect, a GSM license granted to OTE on January 11,

2001, by the Bulgarian State Telecommunications Commission for a consideration of € 144.2, was transferred to Globul

at cost, such license being amortized over its term of fifteen years.  The company is also licensed to provide leased lines

services as well as public telecommunications services in the territory of Bulgaria.

( j ) Hellas Sat Consortium Limited:  Hellas Sat Consortium Limited was incorporated in Cyprus on August 9, 2001, as a

limited liability company.  In 2002, OTE increased its participation in Hellas Sat Consortium Limited from 25% to 85%

t h rough a share capital increase of approximately € 40.0. This acquisition was accounted for as a step acquisition under

the purchase method of accounting. No goodwill resulted from the purchase price allocation related to this step

acquisition as OTE acquired fixed assets under construction and respective payables to suppliers contracted with the

company in connection with the construction of the satellite.

The fair values of the significant assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Hellas Sat Consortium Limited, are as follows:

Fixed assets under construction 9 0 . 0

Other current assets 7 . 0

Total assets 9 7 . 0

Trade payables ( 4 7 . 0 )

Minority Intere s t ( 7 . 0 )

( 5 4 . 0 )

Net assets of acquisition 4 3 . 0

Less:  Equity in Hellas Sat Consortium Limited held by OTE 3 . 0

Net assets acquired (cash consideration) 4 0 . 0

During 2003, the Group did not exercise its pre-emptive rights in this company’s share capital increase, and, accord i n g l y,

its interest therein decreased by 1.66% to 83.34%.

Hellas Sat Consortium Limited is to provide space segment capacity, telecommunication and broadcast services thro u g h

its own satellite system.  For this purpose, based on concession agreements signed with the Greek State and the Cypriot

State, a license to use the geostationary orbit (39o) was granted to the Group for a period of twenty years, pro v i d i n g

for the construction, orbit positioning and exploitation of a satellite system, consisting of at least two satellites.  The

first satellite was successfully launched into orbit on May 14, 2003.  Under the concession agreements, the Gro u p

undertook the obligation to provide free of charge three transmitters to the Greek State, two upon the launch of the

first satellite and the third upon the launch of the second satellite, as well as a lump sum payment of € 1 to the Gre e k

State and annual rental expenses to the Cypriot State in an aggregate of approximately € 9.0 for the twenty years

period.  The second satellite has not yet been launched nor has the third transmitter been made available to the Gre e k

State (for which the contractual deadlines were March 31, 2004 and April 30, 2004, respectively).  The delays in the

launch of the second satellite and the provision of the use of the third transmitter could give rise to a claim for monetary

compensation by the Greek State or a right of the Greek State to terminate the concession agreement and revoke the

G ro u p ’s license.
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The Group is currently into negotiations with the Greek State in order to amend the deadlines imposed by the

concession agreement.  As of December 31, 2004, the Gro u p ’s management could not make a reasonable estimate of

the final outcome; however, an adverse result could have a material effect on the Gro u p ’s consolidated financial position

and results of operations. 

( k ) COSMO-ONE:  The Gro u p ’s participating interest in COSMO-ONE as of December 31, 2003 was 41.33%. In 2004, the

G roup exercised its pre-emptive rights in COSMO-ONE’s share capital increase, and, accord i n g l y, its interest there i n

i n c reased by a further 7.68% to 49.01%. Such 49.01% interest derives through OTE’s direct 30.87%% participation in

this company and an additional 30.87%% held by Cosmote, OTE’s 58.77% consolidated subsidiary.

( l ) OTEnet: In 2004 OTE increased its participation in OTEnet through the acquisition of an additional 10.0% share fro m

minority shareholders. The acquisition was accounted for as a step acquisition under the purchase method of

a c c o u n t i n g .

The fair values of the significant assets acquired and liabilities assumed of OTEnet, are as follows:

P ro p e r t y, plant & equipment 2 . 7

Intangible assets 3 . 5

Other assets 3 . 2

Total assets 9 . 4

Long-term debt ( 0 . 4 )

D e f e r red tax liability ( 1 . 6 )

Other liabilities ( 3 . 7 )

Total liabilities ( 5 . 7 )

Fair value of net assets acquire d 3 . 7

Goodwill on acquisition 9 . 1

Total consideration 1 2 . 8
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

( a ) Principles of Consolidation :  The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of OTE and all

subsidiaries where OTE has control. Control is presumed to exist when OTE through direct or indirect ownership re t a i n s

the majority of voting interest or has the power to control the Board of the investee.

All material intercompany balances and transactions and any intercompany profit or loss on assets remaining within the

G roup, have been eliminated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Gro u p ’s investments in other significant entities, in which the Group exercises significant influence, are accounted

for using the equity method.  Under this method the investment is carried at cost, and is adjusted to recognize the

i n v e s t o r ’s share of the earnings or losses of the investee after the date of acquisition and is adjusted for impairment

whenever facts and circumstances determine that a decline in fair value below the cost basis is other than temporary.

The amount of the adjustment is included in the determination of net income by the investor and such amount re f l e c t s

adjustments similar to those made in preparing consolidated financial statements including adjustments to eliminate

i n t e rcompany gains and losses, and to amortize, if appropriate, any diff e rence between investor cost and underlying

equity in net assets of the investee at the date of acquisition. The investment of an investor is also adjusted to re f l e c t

the investor’s share of changes in the investee’s capital.  Dividends received from an investee reduce the carrying amount

of the investment.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the equity of a subsidiary due to issuances by that subsidiary of its own stock,

a re re c o rded in income by the Group, and are presented as a separate line item in "Other income/(expense)" in the

consolidated statements of income.  If those issuances of stock by the subsidiary are connected with corporate

reorganizations contemplated or planned by the Group, the gains or losses generated in the transaction are accounted

for as capital transactions and recognized in "Paid-in surplus" in the consolidated financial statements.

Investments in which the Group does not exercise significant influence are accounted for at cost and adjusted for

impairment whenever facts and circumstances determine that a decline in fair value below the cost basis is other than

t e m p o r a r y.

( b ) Basis of Financial Statements: OTE maintains its accounting re c o rds and publishes its statutory financial statements

pursuant to the Greek tax and corporate regulations and has made certain adjustments to these re c o rds to present the

accompanying consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S.

G A A P " ) .

( c ) Use of Estimates: The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP re q u i re s

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

d i s c l o s u re of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the re p o r t e d

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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( d )F o reign Currency Translation: O T E ’s functional currency is the Euro.  Transactions involving other currencies are

translated into Euro using the exchange rates, which are in effect at the time of the transactions.  At the balance sheet

dates, monetary assets and liabilities, which are denominated in other currencies, are adjusted to reflect the curre n t

exchange rates.  Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency re m e a s u rement are reflected in the accompanying

consolidated statements of income.

Except for operations in highly inflationary economies, where the financial statements are re m e a s u red as if the re p o r t i n g

c u r rency of OTE had been the functional currency of the subsidiary, the functional currency of the Gro u p ’s operations

outside of Greece is the local country’s foreign curre n c y.  Consequently, assets and liabilities of operations outside Gre e c e

a re translated into Euro using exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.  Revenues and expenses are translated

at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period.  Cumulative translation gains and losses are reported as

cumulative translation adjustment in "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/ (Loss)", a separate component of

s h a reholders’ equity.  Transaction gains and losses are reported in the consolidated statements of income.

( e ) Telecommunication Licenses: Pursuant to the New Telecommunications Law 2867/2000 and Decision 229/26/9-10-2001

issued by the Greek Telecommunications and Postal Commission ("EETT"), OTE was granted a license for pro v i d i n g

telecommunication services.  In accordance with the Ministerial Decision 92093/29.12.1995, certain lump sum and

annual charges were determined, which are re c o rded on an accrual basis.

F u r t h e r m o re, in accordance with the above-mentioned Ministerial Decision, a lump sum charge of € 41.9 for pro v i d i n g

t e r restrial mobile telecommunication services was determined.  During 1996, OTE established Cosmote, for the purpose

of providing terrestrial mobile telecommunication services.  According to Law 2257/94 (as amended by Law 2465/97),

the license for providing mobile telecommunication services was transferred, at carryover basis, to this subsidiary in

February 1997. This license is being amortized over its life of 24 years.

In December 2000, two licenses for fixed wireless access services were granted to OTE, the first covering the 3.5 GHz

range of frequencies and the second covering the 25GHz range of frequencies, for a total consideration of € 11.8. The

second license was transferred to Cosmote in November 2002. These licenses are being amortized over their lives of 15

y e a r s .
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On August 6, 2001, Cosmote was awarded a third generation license ("the 3G License") for a term of twenty (20) years

at a cost of approximately € 161.4.  Of this amount, € 113.0 was paid in August 2001, while the remaining balance of

€ 48.4 will be paid, intere s t - f ree, in three equal annual instalments, commencing in December 2005.  The 3G License

and the related outstanding liability are presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at their discounted

p resent values (fair value).  The discounted present value of the outstanding liability at the acquisition date of the 3G

License amounted to approximately € 35.4, which has been increased with the notional interest through December 31,

2004, of approximately € 10.7. The total liability at December 31, 2003 and 2004, amounted to approximately € 4 4 . 5

and € 46.1, re s p e c t i v e l y. Of these amounts, € 44.5 and € 30.0 are included in "Other long-term liabilities" in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The current portion of the liability at December 31, 2004, of € 16.1 has been

classified under current liabilities in the accompanying 2004 consolidated balance sheet. The notional interest of

a p p roximately € 1.3 and € 1.6 re f e r red to above is included in interest expense in the accompanying 2003 and 2004

consolidated statements of income.  The discounted present value of the 3G License at the acquisition date amounted

to approximately € 148.4.  Interest is being capitalized on the cost of the 3G License during the related network’s

construction period. Interest capitalized through 2004, amounted to approximately € 11. Cosmote launched 3G services

in May 2004 and the related 3G License started be amortized over its remaining life of approximately seventeen (17)

years.  On August 29, 2002, Cosmote was awarded a GSM 900 license at a cost of € 38.2. This license is being amortized

over its life of fifteen (15) years.

Romtelecom, OTE’s consolidated subsidiary since March 3, 2003 (see Note 1) is the public switch network operator in

the Republic of Romania. The telecommunications market in Romania has been liberalized since January 1, 2003.

F u r t h e r m o re, CosmoROM SA ("Cosmorom"), Romtelecom’s wholly owned subsidiary, provides mobile

telecommunications services in the 1800 Mhz bandwidth in accordance with a license granted by the Romanian Ministry

of Communications and Information Technology ("MCTI") in January 1999 for an initial period of ten years, which may

be extended subject to the agreement of the parties.

Amortization of the licenses held by the Group amounted to € 12.0, € 17.1 and € 27.9 for the years ended December

31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, re s p e c t i v e l y, and is included in "Depreciation and amortization" in the accompanying

consolidated statements of income. The estimated aggregate amortization expense of the licenses for each of the five

(5) succeeding fiscal years (2005-2009) approximates € 30 per year.
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( f ) Materials and Supplies: Materials and supplies are stated at the lower of cost or market.  The cost is determined

using the weighted average cost method.  A reserve is established when such items are determined to be

technologically obsolete or slow moving.

(g) Goodwill: Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired in business

combinations accounted for as a purchase.  Prior to January 1, 2002, goodwill was amortized on a straight-line basis

over periods not exceeding twenty (20) years.  Effective with the adoption of SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002, the

G roup is no longer amortizing goodwill, and is instead testing it for impairment at least annually.  The goodwill

impairment test is a two-step process that re q u i res goodwill to be allocated to reporting units.  In the first step, the

fair value of the reporting unit is compared to the carrying value of the reporting unit.  If the fair value of the re p o r t i n g

unit is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit, a goodwill impairment may exist, and the second step of the

test is performed.  In the second step, the implied fair value of the goodwill is compared to the carrying value of the

goodwill and an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying value of the goodwill exceeds the implied

fair value of the goodwill.  As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Group has re-assessed the classification of

its previously acquired goodwill.  The assessment did not result in any adjustments to previously re c o rded amounts.

The completion of the first step of the goodwill impairment test, indicated potential impairment of goodwill re l a t i n g

to Armentel.  Consequently, the Group completed the second step of the goodwill impairment test, as a result of

which, unamortized goodwill of Armentel of € 62.0 as of January 1, 2002, net of the related deferred income tax of

€ 21.7 was written off and reflected as "Cumulative effect of changes, net of income taxes", in the accompanying

2002 consolidated statement of income.  The Group has also acquired goodwill of approximately € 70 on AMC

included in segment "All other".  The fair value of this reporting unit was above the carrying amount at January 1,

2002 and December 31, 2003 and 2004. Furthermore, in 2004 the Group increased its goodwill by approximately € 9

due to its acquisition of additional shares in OTEnet, which is included in the segment "All other" [See Note 1(l)]. The

fair value of this reporting unit was above the carrying amount at the acquisition date. 

( h ) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: The U.S. Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 144

"Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets", which addresses financial accounting and

reporting for the impairment or disposal of long lived assets and supersedes SFAS No. 121 "Accounting for the

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of" and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No.

30, "Reporting the Results of Operations for a Disposal of a Segment of a Business".  The Group adopted SFAS No.

144 as of January 1, 2002, without any effect on the Gro u p ’s financial position and results of operations.  The standard

re q u i res that long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles held and used or disposed of by an entity be

reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets

may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss for an asset held for use should be recognized, when the estimate of

undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, expected to be generated by the use of the asset is less than its

carrying amount. Conditions which may indicate that an impairment exists include an economic downturn in a market

or a change in the assessment of future operations.  Measurement of the impairment loss is based on the fair value

of the asset, which is computed using discounted cash flows.
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( i ) Asset Retirement Obligations: E ffective January 1, 2003, the Group changed its method of accounting for asset

re t i rement obligations in accordance with FASB Statement No.143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations".

P re v i o u s l y, the Group had not been recognizing amounts related to asset re t i rement obligations. Under the new

accounting method, the Group now recognizes asset re t i rement obligations in the period in which they are incurre d

if a reasonable estimate of a fair value can be made and if the removal costs do not exceed the salvage value of the

relevant assets. The associated asset re t i rement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived

asset. 

The cumulative effect of the change on prior years resulted in a charge to income of € 0.5 (net of income taxes of

€ 0.3), which is included in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2003. The eff e c t

of the change on the year ended December 31, 2003, was to decrease income before the cumulative effect of the

accounting change by € 0.2. The pro forma effects of the application of SFAS No. 143 as if the Statement had been

adopted on January 1, 2002 (rather than January 1, 2003), are presented below:

P ro-forma amounts assuming the accounting change is applied re t roactively net-of-tax:

Year ended December 31,

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3

P ro-forma effect [incre a s e / ( d e c rease)] on net income ( 0 . 3 ) 0 . 3

P ro-forma effect on net income per share - -

The pro-forma asset re t i rement obligations liability balances as if SFAS No. 143 had been adopted on January 1, 2002

(rather than January 1, 2003), are as follows: 

Year ended December 31,

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3

P ro-forma amounts of liability for asset 

re t i rement obligations at beginning of year 2 . 8 3 . 0

P ro-forma amounts of liability for asset 

re t i rement obligations at end of year 3 . 0 3 . 6

Over the course of its life, the Group has leased property upon which it constructs its mobile transmission and re l a y

towers.  The Group enters into new leases each year and, in most cases, has the unilateral right to renew the initial

lease term.  The Group is legally re q u i red to dismantle the mobile transmission and relay towers and, where necessary,

recondition the site at the end of the lease period.
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The Group recognized the fair value of the liability for the asset re t i rement obligations and capitalized the relative cost as

part of the cost of the related asset and depreciates it on a straight-line basis over its expected life. The following table

reflects all changes to the Gro u p ’s asset re t i rement obligations liability:

December 31,

2 0 0 4

Asset re t i rement obligations at January 1, 2003 - 

Liability recognized at transition 3.0 

Liability recognized in 2003 0.5  

A c c retion expense for the year 0 . 1

Asset re t i rement obligations at December 31,2003 3 . 6

Liability recognized in 2004 0 . 4

A c c retion expense for the year 0 . 2

Asset re t i rement obligations at December 31, 2004 4 . 2

( j ) Telecommunication Pro p e r t y, Plant and Equipment: Telecommunication pro p e r t y, plant and equipment are stated

at cost, net of subsidies received primarily from the EU, plus interest costs incurred during periods of construction.

Newly constructed assets are added to pro p e r t y, plant and equipment at cost, which includes direct technical payro l l

costs related to construction (inclusive of related employer contributions) and applicable general overhead costs.

Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.  The cost and related accumulated depreciation of assets

re t i red or sold are removed from the accounts at the time of sale or re t i rement, and any gain or loss is included in the

accompanying consolidated statements of income. An impairment loss is recognized when the estimated expected

f u t u re cash flows (undiscounted and without interest) are less than the carrying amount of the asset under SFAS No.

1 4 4 .

( k ) D e p reciation: D e p reciation is computed based on the straight-line method at rates, which approximate average

estimated economic useful lives.

( l ) Reserve for Staff Retirement Indemnities and Youth Account: S t a ff Retirement Indemnities and Youth Account

(collectively "Retirement and Youth Account") obligations are calculated at the discounted value of the future

re t i rement benefits and benefits to children of OTE’s employees deemed to have accrued at year-end, based on the

employees earning Retirement and Youth Account benefit rights steadily throughout the working period.  Retire m e n t

and Youth Account obligations are calculated on the basis of financial and actuarial assumptions detailed in Note 11.

Net pension costs for the period are included in payroll in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and

consist of the present value of benefits earned in the year, interest cost on the benefits obligation, prior service cost

and actuarial gains or losses. Prior service costs are recognized on a straight-line basis over the average re m a i n i n g

service period of the employees expected to receive benefits under the plan. Unrecognised gains or losses are

recognized over the average remaining service period of active employees and included as a component of net pension

cost for a year if, as of the beginning of the year, it exceeds 10% of the projected benefit obligation.  The Retire m e n t

and Youth Account benefit obligations are not funded. Contributions that are related with employees who re t i re

under the voluntary re t i rement program are recognized when employees accept the offer and the amounts can be

reasonably estimated.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued):

( m ) Income Ta x e s : Income taxes have been accounted for using the liability method in accordance with SFAS No. 109

"Accounting for Income Taxes".  Deferred income taxes have been provided for the tax effects of temporary

d i ff e rences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using enacted tax rates in effect in the

years in which the diff e rences are expected to reverse.  Valuation allowances are re c o rded to reduce deferred tax

assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be re a l i z e d .

( n ) Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Group considers time deposits and other highly liquid investments with original

maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.  Restricted cash is excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

(o) Advertising Costs: Advertising costs are expensed as incurred (see Note 19).

( p ) R e s e a rch and Development Costs: R e s e a rch and development costs are expensed as incurred. Such costs for the

years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 amounted to € 9.9, € 3.1 and € 2.0, re s p e c t i v e l y, and are included

in "Other operating expenses" in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. 

( q ) Recognition of Revenues and Expenses: Fixed revenues primarily consist of connection and subscription fees,

exchange network and facilities usage charges, other value added communication services fees, and sales of handsets

and accessories.  Revenues are recognized as follows:

ñ Connection charges: Connection charges for the fixed network are deferred and amortized to income over the

estimated service life of a subscriber’s life.  No connection fees are charged for mobile services.

ñ Monthly network service fees: Revenues related to the monthly network service fees are recognized in the month

that the telecommunication service is provided. 

ñ Usage Charges and Value Added Services Fees: Call fees consist of fees based on airtime and traffic generated by

the caller, the destination of the call and the service utilized.  Fees are based on traffic, usage of airtime or volume

of data transmitted for value added communication services.  Revenues for usage charges and value added

communication services are recognized in the period when the services are provided. Revenues from outgoing calls

made by OTE’s subscribers to subscribers of mobile telephony operators are presented at their gross amount in the

consolidated statements of income as the credit and collection risk remains solely with OTE.  Interconnection fees for

mobile-to-mobile calls are recognized based on incoming traffic generated from other mobile operators’ networks.

Unbilled revenues from the billing cycle date to the end of each period are estimated based on traffic.  The accrued

unbilled revenues for services provided were approximately € 206.2 and € 112.7 as of December 31, 2003 and 2004,

respectively and are included in "Accounts receivable" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)



142

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued):

Revenues from the sale of pre-paid airtime cards and the pre-paid airtime, net of discounts allowed, included

in the Gro u p ’s pre-paid services packages, are recognized based on usage. Such discounts re p resent the

d i ff e rence between the wholesale price of pre-paid cards and boxes (consisting of handsets and pre p a i d

airtime) to the Gro u p ’s Master Dealers and the retail sale price to the ultimate customers.  Unused airtime is

included in "Deferred revenue" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  All pre-paid airtime card s

have a contractual life of two years or less.  The majority of deferred revenue from all categories of pre - p a i d

c a rds is used within the following year.  Upon the expiration of pre-paid airtime cards, any unused airtime is

recognized to income.

Airtime and acquisition commission costs due to the Gro u p ’s Master Dealers for each subscriber acquire d

t h rough their network are expensed as incurred.  Commissions paid for each contract subscriber acquired by

the Master Dealers as well as bonuses paid to Master Dealers in respect of contract subscribers who renew their

annual contracts, are deferred and amortized to expense over the contract period.  Bonuses for the

achievement of mutually agreed targets and commissions based on revenues billed to each subscriber acquire d

by the Master Dealers are expensed as incurred. 

ñ Handsets and Accessories: Revenues from the sale of handsets and accessories, net of discounts allowed, are

recognized at point-of-sale. 

E ffective January 1, 2002, the Group adopted the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 01-9, "Accounting for

Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the Ve n d o r ’s Products".  The adoption of Issue No. 01-

9 by the Group did not have a material impact on its consolidated statements of income for the years pre s e n t e d .

E ffective January 1, 2004, the Group adopted EITF Issue No. 00-21, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple

Deliverables" ("EITF 00-21"). EITF 00-21 provides guidance on how to account for arrangements that involve the

delivery or performance of multiple products, services and/or rights to use assets. The adoption did not have a material

impact on the Gro u p ’s consolidated financial statements.

( r ) Concentrations of Credit Risk and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: Financial assets that potentially subject the

G roup to concentrations of credit risk are trade accounts receivable. Due to the large volume and diversity of the

G ro u p ’s customer base, concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable are limited. At each

reporting period/date, all accounts receivable are assessed based on historical trends and statistical information and a

p rovision is re c o rded for the probable and reasonably estimable loss for these accounts.  The balance of such allowance

for doubtful accounts is adjusted by re c o rding a charge to the consolidated statement of income of the re p o r t i n g

period. Any amount written-off with respect to customer account balances is charged against the existing allowance

for doubtful accounts.  All accounts receivable for which collection is not considered probable are written-off .
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued):

( s ) E a rnings per Share: Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted

average number of shares outstanding during each year.  In accordance with SFAS No. 128, the effect of options

outstanding at December 31, 2003 and 2004, has been computed using the treasury stock method.  The number of

s h a res granted under the Share Option Plans during 2002, 2003 and 2004, did not affect diluted earnings per share ,

because the impact of stock options was antidilutive. The diff e rence between outstanding shares and weighted

average number of shares outstanding used for both basic and diluted earnings per share is attributable to purc h a s e s

of treasury stock.

( t ) Stock-Based Compensation: In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation, Transition and Disclosure".  SFAS No. 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary

change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation in accordance with SFA S

No. 123.  SFAS No. 148 also re q u i res that disclosures of the proforma effect of using the fair value method of

accounting for stock-based employee compensation be displayed more prominently and in a tabular format.

A d d i t i o n a l l y, SFAS No. 148 re q u i res disclosure of the proforma effect in interim financial statements.  The transition

and annual disclosure re q u i rements of SFAS No. 148 are effective for the Gro u p ’s fiscal year 2002.  The Group has opted

to continue to account for stock-based compensation based on the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25. Refer to the

"Stock-Based Compensation" section in Note 16 for disclosures related to stock-based compensation.

The Group accounts for stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method prescribed in APB Opinion

No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees". Compensation cost for stock options granted to employees is

m e a s u red as the excess of the quoted market price of the Gro u p ’s stock on the measurement date over the amount

an employee must pay to acquire the stock (the "intrinsic value"), and is recognized ratably over the vesting period.

The intrinsic value of the options for which the measurement date has not been reached is measured on the basis of

the current market value of the Gro u p ’s stock at the end of each period.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Group had applied the fair value

recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, to stock-based employee compensation.

Year ended December 31,

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Net Income as re p o r t e d 3 4 5 . 8 4 1 0 . 7 1 7 1 . 3

Add: Stock-based employee compensation

expense included in net income, net of tax 5 . 1 1 . 9 1 . 0

Deduct: Total stock-based compensation

expense determined under fair value based

method for all awards, net of tax ( 2 3 . 3 ) ( 1 0 . 0 ) ( 2 . 0 )

P ro-forma net income 3 2 7 . 6 4 0 2 . 6 1 7 0 . 3

E a rning per share – Basic and diluted:

Basic and diluted– as re p o r t e d 0 . 7 1 0 . 8 4 0 . 3 5

Basic and diluted– pro forma 0 . 6 7 0 . 8 2 0 . 3 5
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued):

( u ) Av a i l a b l e - f o r-sale marketable securities: The Group has investments in equity securities, which are traded on the

Athens Stock Exchange. These investments have been classified as available-for-sale and are carried at their fair value

with the unrealized holding gains and losses reflected under "Other comprehensive income" in the accompanying

consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity.  Realized gains and losses, dividends and declines in value judged to

be other than temporary are included in "Other income/(expense)" in the accompanying consolidated statements of

income. The fair value of these securities was below cost throughout 2002. The Group considered such reduction in

value to be other than temporary, and consequently, recognized in the accompanying 2002 consolidated statement of

income a loss of € 8.8. In 2003, an unrealized gain of € 7.8, net of € 4.1 tax effect was recognized and is included in

"Other comprehensive income" in the accompanying 2003 consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity. In 2004, an

u n realized gain of € 4.3, net of € 2.4 tax effect was recognized and is included in "Other comprehensive income" in

the accompanying 2004 consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity. 

( v ) B o r rowing Costs: Underwriting, legal and other direct costs incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term

debt are treated as a deferred charge, classified as "Other assets", and amortized using the effective interest rate

method over the life of the debt.  Amortization for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, amounted to

€ 0.7, € 2.0 and € 3.0, respectively and is included in "Interest expense" in the accompanying consolidated statements

of income.

( w )Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss: Accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2002, 2003 and

2004, is analyzed as follows:

December 31,

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

F o reign currency translation ( 5 2 . 8 ) ( 5 1 . 0 ) ( 2 8 . 0 )

D e f e r red tax liability on subsidiary’s statutory

revaluation surplus - - ( 1 8 4 . 7 )

U n realized gain/(loss) from available for 

sale securities - 7 . 8 1 2 . 1

Additional minimum liability for employee

benefit plans, net of income taxes ( 3 2 . 9 ) ( 1 4 . 1 ) ( 2 4 . 2 )

( 8 5 . 7 ) ( 5 7 . 3 ) ( 2 2 4 . 8 )

E ffective July 1, 2004, Romtelecom ceased hyperinflation accounting and changed its functional currency from €

to Romanian Lei.  As of this date, the company has re c o rded deferred taxes for diff e rences related to its pro p e r t y,

plant and equipment which resulted from indexation for tax purposes, the recognition of which was prohibited as

long as the Romanian economy was considered highly inflationary.  As a result, an amount of € 184.7 (net of

minority interests of € 157.3) was charged to Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss.

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)



145

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued):

( x ) Derivative Financial Instruments:  The Group enters into interest-rate swap agreements to modify the intere s t

characteristics of its outstanding debt. Each interest-rate swap agreement is designated with all or a portion of the

principal balance and term of a specific debt obligation. These agreements involve the exchange of amounts based on

a fixed interest rate for amounts based on variable interest rates over the life of the agreement without an exchange

of the notional amount upon which the payments are based. The diff e rential to be paid or received as interest rates

change is accrued and recognized as an adjustment of interest expense related to the debt (the accrual accounting

method). The related amount payable to or receivable from counterparties is included in other liabilities or assets. The

fair value of the swap agreements and changes in the fair value as a result of changes in market interest rates are not

recognized in the financial statements.

Gains and losses on terminations of interest-rate swap agreements are deferred as an adjustment to the carrying

amount of the outstanding debt and amortized as an adjustment to interest expense related to the debt over the

remaining term of the original contract life of the terminated swap agreement. In the event of the early

extinguishment of a designated debt obligation, any realized or unrealized gain or loss from the swap would be

recognized in income coincident with the extinguishment gain or loss.

In fiscal year 2001, the Group entered into interest rate swaps to cover the change in the fair value of its fixed-rate

E u robond (see Note 10). The Group has a policy of entering into such contracts with parties that meet stringent

qualifications and, given the high level of credit quality of its derivative counter parties, the Group does not believe it

is necessary to obtain collateral arrangements. For financial reporting purposes, these derivative instruments were not

designated as hedges, as they did not meet the applicable criteria set by SFAS No. 133. Such interest rate swaps were

fully settled within 2003. Net gain for 2002 and net loss for 2003 resulted from these derivative instruments amounted

to € 14.0 and € 0.4, re s p e c t i v e l y, and are included in "Other income/(expense)" in the accompanying consolidated

statements of income. 

In fiscal year 2002, Cosmote, the Gro u p ’s consolidated subsidiary, entered into cross currency swaps to hedge against

changes in the fair value of certain of its foreign currency denominated debt relating to changes in foreign curre n c y

exchange rate.  These swaps qualified for hedge accounting as fair value hedges and their fair value at December 31,

2003 and 2004, of approximately € 70.0 and € 90.7, re s p e c t i v e l y, are re c o rded as a derivative liability. The fair value

of the swaps at December 31, 2003, of approximately € 70.0 is included in other long-term liabilities in the

accompanying 2003 consolidated balance sheet while the fair value of the swaps at December 31, 2004, of

a p p roximately € 90.7 is included in "Accrued and other liabilities" reflected under current liabilities in the

accompanying 2004 consolidated balance sheet. Losses for 2003 and 2004 resulting from these derivative

instruments amounted to approximately € 57.0 and € 20.7, re s p e c t i v e l y, and are included in "Foreign exchange

(losses)/gains, net" in the accompanying 2003 and 2004 consolidated statements of income.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued):

( y ) Recent Accounting Pronouncements: Recent Statements of Financial Accounting Standards issued by the FASB are

summarized as follows: 

( i ) In 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of

Variable Interest Entities ("FIN 46"). FIN 46 provides guidance on the identification of entities for which contro l

is achieved through means other than through voting rights ("variable interest entities") and how to determine

when and which business enterprise (the "primary beneficiary") should consolidate the variable interest entity.

This new model for consolidation applies to an entity in which either (i) the equity investors (if any) do not have

a controlling financial interest; or (ii) the equity investment at risk is insufficient to finance the entity’s activities

without receiving additional subordinated financial support from other parties.  In addition, FIN 46 re q u i res that

the primary beneficiary, as well as all other enterprises with a significant variable interest in a variable intere s t

e n t i t y, makes additional disclosures.  FIN 46 and its revision FIN 46-R are effective for the year ended December

31, 2004.

As of December 31, 2004, these interpretations did not have an impact on the Gro u p ’s consolidated financial

statements. 

( i i ) In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement 123 (revised 2004) ("SFAS 123(R)"), "Share-Based Payment."

Statement 123(R) replaces FASB Statement 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation", supersedes APB

Opinion 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" and amends FASB Statement No. 95, "Statement of

Cash Flows." SFAS 123(R) re q u i res all share-based awards to employees, including grants of employee stock

options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their grant-date fair values. The re l a t e d

compensation costs are to be recognized over the period during which an employee is re q u i red to pro v i d e

service in exchange for the award. Excess tax benefits are to be recognized as an addition to paid-in capital and

reflected as financing cash inflows in the statement of cash flows. The prospective provisions of SFAS 123(R)

to new and existing plans will be adopted as of January 1, 2006. The grant-date fair values of unvested award s

that are outstanding on the date of adoption will be charged to expense over their remaining vesting periods.

Management is currently assessing the impact that the implementation of SFAS 123(R) will have on the Gro u p ’s

consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued):

( i i i ) In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 153 ("SFAS 153"),

"Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets - an amendment of APB Opinion 29." The guidance in Accounting

Principles Board Opinion 29 ("APBO 29"), "Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions," is based on the general

principle that exchanges of non-monetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the assets

exchanged. The guidance in APBO 29 included certain exceptions to that principle. SFAS 153 amends APBO 29

to eliminate the narrow exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with

a broader exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance (that is,

transactions where future cash flows are not expected to significantly change as a result of the exchange).  The

p rovisions of SFAS 153 will be adopted for non-monetary asset exchange transactions after December 31, 2005.

The adoption of SFAS 153 is not expected to have a material impact on the Gro u p ’s consolidated financial

position or results of operations.

( i v ) In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") reached a consensus on EITF Issue 03-6 ("EITF 03-6"),

"Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement No. 128, Earnings per Share." The

consensus addresses how to determine whether a security should be considered a "participating security" for

purposes of computing earnings per share and how earnings should be allocated to a participating security

when using the two-class method for computing basic earnings per share. The provisions of EITF 03-6 are

e ffective for reporting periods beginning after March 31, 2004. The adoption of this consensus is not expected

to have a material impact on the Gro u p ’s consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

( v ) In March 2004, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue 03-1 ("EITF 03-1"), "The Meaning of Other- T h a n -

Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain Investments". EITF 03-1 addresses the meaning of other-

than-temporary impairment and its application to investments in debt and equity securities accounted for

under SFAS 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities" and to investments in

equity securities accounted for using the cost method, as well as new disclosure re q u i rements for investments

that are deemed to be temporarily impaired. EITF 03-1 currently provides a multi-step model for determining

whether an impairment of an investment is other- t h a n - t e m p o r a r y, and re q u i res that an impairment charge be

recognized in earnings in the period in which an other-than-temporary impairment has occurred based on the

d i ff e rence between the adjusted cost basis of the investment and its fair value at the balance-sheet date. EITF

03-1 re q u i res certain quantitative and qualitative disclosures about unrealized losses pertaining to certain

investments and beneficial interests, in addition to certain disclosures about cost method investments when

the fair value of such investments is not currently estimable. While the disclosure re q u i rements for specified

debt and equity securities and cost method investments are effective for annual periods ending after December

15, 2003, the FASB has delayed the effective date for the application of multi-step measurement and

recognition guidance until issuance of implementation guidance contained in FSP EITF 03-1-1, "Effective Date

of Paragraphs 10-20 of EITF Issue No. 03-1, "The Meaning of Other- t h a n - Temporary Impairment and its

Application to Certain Investments." The adoption of this consensus is not expected to have a material impact

on the Gro u p ’s consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued):

( v i ) In July 2004, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue 02-14 ("EITF 02-14"), "Whether an Investor Should

Apply the Equity Method of Accounting to Investments Other Than Common Stock." EITF 02-14 re q u i res an

investor to apply the equity method of accounting to investments in common stock of a corporation or in-

substance common stock of a corporation, when the investor has the ability to exercise significant influence

over the operating and financial policies of the investee. For investments in corporations that are not common

stock or in-substance common stock that were previously accounted for under the equity method, EITF 02-14

re q u i res that the investor discontinue the equity method unless re q u i red by other applicable guidance. The

p rovisions of EITF 02-14 are effective for the first reporting period beginning after September 15, 2004. The

e ffects of the adoption of EITF 02-14, if any, is to be presented as the cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle. The adoption of this consensus is not expected to have a material impact on the Gro u p ’s

consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

( v i i ) In September 2004, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue 04-1 ("EITF 04-1"), "Accounting for Pre - e x i s t i n g

Relationships between the Parties to a Business Combination." EITF 04-1 re q u i res that termination settlements

of pre-existing contractual relationships between two parties to a business combination be individually

evaluated and accounted for separately from the business combination. The provisions of EITF 04-1 apply to

business combinations consummated and goodwill impairment tests performed after December 31, 2004. The

adoption of this consensus is not expected to have a material impact on the Gro u p ’s consolidated results of

operations, financial position and cash flows.

( z ) P resentation Changes: Certain reclassifications have been made to the presentation of the 2002 and 2003

consolidated financial statements to conform with those of 2004.
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3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE:

Accounts receivable are analyzed as follows:

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

ñ Subscribers 8 4 4 . 2 8 0 9 . 0

ñ International traff i c 1 2 8 . 0 1 2 3 . 5

ñ Other accounts re c e i v a b l e 1 4 8 . 8 1 2 8 . 2

1 , 1 2 1 . 0 1 , 0 6 0 . 7

Less- Allowance for doubtful accounts ( 1 7 3 . 1 ) ( 2 2 2 . 0 )

9 4 7 . 9 8 3 8 . 7

Accrued unbilled revenues (see Note 2 (q)) 2 0 6 . 2 1 1 2 . 7

1 , 1 5 4 . 1 9 5 1 . 4

The movement of the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and

2004 was as follows:

B a l a n c e , Balance fro m B a l a n c e ,

b e g i n n i n g newly acquire d e n d

of year s u b s i d i a r y E x p e n s e d U t i l i z e d of year

2 0 0 2 1 2 4 . 2 - 8 9 . 8 ( 7 0 . 3 ) 1 4 3 . 7

2 0 0 3 1 4 3 . 7 1 . 8 9 9 . 9 ( 7 2 . 3 ) 1 7 3 . 1

2 0 0 4 1 7 3 . 1 - 1 3 7 . 6 ( 8 8 . 7 ) 2 2 2 . 0

4. DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES:

The Greek State, as a principal shareholder of OTE, is a related party to the Group.  The Group, in the normal course of

business, provides telecommunication services to State Entities and Organizations.

Amounts due from related parties are as follows:

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Accounts receivable from State Entities 

and Organizations 1 3 7 . 9 1 2 8 . 3

1 3 7 . 9 1 2 8 . 3
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4. DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES (Continued):

Revenues generated from State Entities and Organizations amounted to approximately 5% of total revenues for each

of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004.

5. INVESTMENTS:

OTE's investments are analyzed as follows:

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

( a ) Investments in and advances to associates 1 8 9 . 3 1 7 5 . 1

( b ) Investments in satellite companies and organizations 1 2 . 9 1 2 . 9

2 0 2 . 2 1 8 8 . 0

( a ) Investments in and advances to associates:

O T E ’s investments in and advances to associates are analyzed as follows:

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Telekom Srbija a.d. 1 8 2 . 9 1 7 0 . 6

Other investments 6 . 4 4 . 5

1 8 9 . 3 1 7 5 . 1

TELEKOM SRBIJA a.d. ("Telekom Srbija"): During June 1997, OTE acquired a 20% interest in Telekom Srbija, a

company which was established on May 23, 1997, through the contribution of the telecommunications sector

of the Public Enterprise of PTT Tr a ffic, Serbia effective June 1, 1997.  The acquisition cost amounted to € 3 1 2 . 0 .

The investment in Telekom Srbija was accounted for under the equity method of accounting until 2003 (see

below).  The resulting excess of the acquisition cost over the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets, or

goodwill of Telekom Srbija, which amounted to € 80.1 and was amortized on a straight-line basis over twenty

(20) years, has been written off in 2002 through the impairment charge described below.

On November 25, 1997, OTE granted a loan of € 12.5 to Telekom Srbija for its working capital re q u i re m e n t s .

This loan bore interest at the European Interbank Offering Rate ("EURIBOR") plus 10% and has been

periodically extended.
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5. INVESTMENTS (Continued):

Condensed financial statements for Telekom Srbija are as follows:

Condensed balance sheets December 31,

A S S E T S 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

C u r rent assets 2 1 9 . 7 1 2 5 . 1

P ro p e r t y, plant and equipment, net 1 , 0 9 6 . 5 1 , 1 9 2 . 7

Other non current assets 8 0 . 1 1 0 6 . 8

T O TAL ASSETS 1 , 3 9 6 . 3 1 , 4 2 4 . 6

Condensed balance sheets December 31,

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Other long-term liabilities 7 5 . 3 6 9 . 2

C u r rent liabilities 1 1 8 . 4 1 6 9 . 9

Long-term debt 2 8 . 1 2 4 . 4

S h a reholders’ equity 1 , 1 7 4 . 5 1 , 1 6 1 . 1

T O TAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 1 , 3 9 6 . 3 1 , 4 2 4 . 6

Condensed statements of income Year ended December 31, 

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Operating re v e n u e s 5 0 6 . 7 5 3 5 . 1 5 6 3 . 5

Operating expenses ( 4 1 5 . 3 ) ( 4 4 5 . 1 ) ( 4 7 1 . 2 )

Operating pro f i t 9 1 . 4 9 0 . 0 9 2 . 3

Other income/(expense), net ( 1 8 . 2 ) 7 5 . 5 1 . 0

7 3 . 2 1 6 5 . 5 9 3 . 3

Income taxes - ( 7 . 1 ) ( 6 . 9 )

Net  income 7 3 . 2 1 5 8 . 4 8 6 . 4

O T E ’s share 1 4 . 6 7 . 2 9 . 0

The corporate income tax rate was 20% up to 2003, 12.33% for 2004 and will be 10% for 2005.  Taxes have

been provided on OTE’s share of the undistributed profits of Telekom Srbija at the applicable Greet tax rates as

such taxes will be payable in Greece upon distribution of such pro f i t s .

Dividend distributions from Serbia to Greece are subject to a withholding tax of 20%.

Due to the consequences of the NATO military actions conducted in Yugoslavia in 1999 and the curre n t

implementation of the United Nations’ Security Council Resolution 1244 relating to the situation in Kosovo and

Metohija, Telekom Srbija does not have control over the telecommunication activities in Kosovo and Metohija.
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5. INVESTMENTS (Continued):

In late 2002, Telecom Italia, the other minority share h o l d e r, which held 29% of Telekom Srbija, forwarded to OTE a

copy of an offer made to Telecom Italia by the Serbian PTT, and which it has accepted, for the acquisition by the latter

of Telecom Italia’s shareholding in Telekom Srbija, in order to give OTE the opportunity to elect whether or not to

e x e rcise its pre-emption right to purchase Telecom Italia’s shareholding in Telekom Srbija. In this respect, the Minister

of Telecommunications of Serbia announced that the Serbian Government would seek to veto OTE’s pre-emption right.

The withdrawal of Telecom Italia from Telekom Srbija, which was completed in February 2003, was expected to re d u c e

O T E ’s ability to influence the management of this company.  Furthermore, since its acquisition, OTE, has received no

dividends from Telekom Srbija.  These factors indicated a decline in its value, which was considered by management

to be other than temporary.  As a result, based upon an independent valuation of Telekom Srbija, OTE re c o rded an

impairment charge of € 114.9, which is included in the accompanying 2002 consolidated statement of income and

reduced the carrying amount of the investment to its fair value.  Furthermore, in response to the above mentioned

developments, OTE, in May 2003, served arbitration notices on Telekom Srbija, Telecom Italia and its affiliates and the

Serbian PTT, in order to protect its interest in Telecom Srbija and requesting, among others, the collection of

outstanding management fees of approximately € 28.6 due from Telecom Italia and of the loan of € 12.5 granted to

Telekom Srbija plus interest and penalties.

In addition, OTE has examined if, based on the indicators as set forth in FASB Interpretation No. 35, "Criteria for

Applying the Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock an interpretation of APB Opinion No.

18" continued to exercise significant influence in the company. Factors considered included: the Serbian Govern m e n t ’s

80% stake in the company, the fact that the Board of Directors of the company is not actually convening and that

significant decisions are being taken without the consent of OTE’ s re p resentative. OTE has concluded that it does not

e x e rcise significant influence and, consequently, effective July 1, 2003, it accounts for its investment in Telekom Srbija

at cost.

In September 2004, a memorandum of understanding was signed between OTE, Telekom Srbija, the Serbian PTT and

Telecom Italia.  It was agreed that the arbitration initiated by OTE will be halted, provided that:

ñ Telekom Srbija should pay to OTE the loan, the respective stamp duty and part of the accrued intere s t ,

ñ all parties should waive their claims from each other,

ñ a new shareholders’ agreement should be executed between OTE, Telekom Srbija and the Serbian PTT, under the

terms of which OTE would not be prevented from participating in a potential sell of shares in a company to whom

the mobile business of Telekom Srbija may have been transferred, such selling pro c e d u re being at the sole discre t i o n

of the Government of the Republic of Serbia.

As a result of the above, OTE wro t e - o ff management fees of approximately € 21.3 as well as accrued interest of

a p p roximately € 3.5, which amounts were charged to its 2004 consolidated statement of income. The loan re c e i v a b l e ,

the respective stamp duty and part of the accrued interest were fully repaid by the end of May 2005.  The new

s h a reholders’ agreement was signed in December 2004. Consequently, the arbitration proceedings were terminated.
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5. INVESTMENTS (Continued):

During December 2004, Telekom Srbija’s Shareholders’ Meeting decided to distribute dividends out of the 2003 pro f i t s

and an interim dividend out of the expected 2004 pro f i t s .

( b ) Investments in satellite companies and organizations:

OTE participates in international satellite companies and organizations. These are not traded investments, and since

OTE does not exercise significant influence, they are carried at cost.  OTE’s participations in international satellite

companies and organizations at December 31, 2003 and 2004 were as follows:

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

(%) (%) 

C o s t I n t e re s t C o s t I n t e re s t

(i)    INTELSAT LT D 3 . 4 8 0 . 2 3 3 . 4 8 0 . 2 3

(ii)   INMARSAT VENTURES PLC 0 . 0 0 0 . 0 0 0 . 0 0 0 . 0 0

(iii)  EUTELSAT S.A. 9 . 3 7 0 . 8 7 9 . 3 7 0 . 8 7

(iv)  Other 0 . 0 1 0 . 3 1 0 . 0 0 0 . 0 0

1 2 . 8 6 1 2 . 8 5

( i ) Intelsat Ltd., a Bermuda-based holding company, was formed as a privately held commercial entity in July 2001

t h rough the transformation of the International Telecommunications Satellite Organization ("IGO"), the

I n t e rnational Organization of Satellite Communications with participation of approximately 148

telecommunications organizations, including OTE.  As of the date of transformation, substantially all of the

I G O ’s assets, liabilities, rights, obligations and operations were transferred to the company and its wholly

owned subsidiaries, which, in turn, issued ordinary shares to the previous shareholders of IGO. 

( i i ) Inmarsat Ve n t u res Plc (formerly Inmarsat Holdings Ltd.), was converted to a limited liability company on Marc h

15, 2001, re g i s t e red in England and Wales.  It is the parent company of Inmarsat Ltd., which, on April 15, 1999,

has undertaken all assets and liabilities of the International Mobile Satellite Organization, founded in 1979 in

o rder to establish global satellite communications with ships, aeroplanes, trucks and trains with participation

of 80 countries, including Greece. In 2003, OTE sold its 4.68% participating interest in Inmarsat Ve n t u res Plc for

a consideration of € 56.1. This sale resulted in a pre-tax gain of € 31.6, which is included in "Other

income/(expense)" in the 2003 accompanying consolidated statement of income. 
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5. INVESTMENTS (Continued):

( i i i ) Eutelsat S.A., formed as a limited liability company on March 22, 2001, re g i s t e red in Paris-France, to which the

net assets of the European Telecommunication Satellite Organization ("EUTELSAT") were transferred on July 2,

2001.  In re t u rn, the company issued shares to EUTELSAT, which were then transferred to its former

s h a reholders.  Approximately 55 telecommunications operators and/or authorities participate in the company. 

( i v ) In 2004, OTE sold its participating interest in New Skies Satellite N.V. for a consideration of € 1.7. This sale

resulted in a pre-tax gain of € 1.7, which is included in "Other income/(expense)" in the 2004 accompanying

consolidated statement of income. 

6. TELECOMMUNICATION PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:

Telecommunication pro p e r t y, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of related subsidies and is analyzed as follows:

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

L a n d 2 4 . 1 2 4 . 3

B u i l d i n g s 6 5 5 . 3 6 9 5 . 5

Telecommunication equipment and installations 8 , 9 9 0 . 5 1 0 , 0 1 6 . 4

Investment supplies 2 0 3 . 2 1 8 9 . 5

Transportation equipment 5 6 . 5 5 8 . 3

F u rn i t u re and fixture s 3 9 9 . 2 4 2 7 . 0

Construction in pro g re s s 8 9 5 . 4 6 8 6 . 8

1 1 , 2 2 4 . 2 1 2 , 0 9 7 . 8

Accumulated depre c i a t i o n ( 4 , 3 5 0 . 8 ) ( 5 , 3 6 1 . 4 )

6 , 8 7 3 . 4 6 , 7 3 6 . 4

D e p reciation is computed based on the straight-line method using rates that are substantially equivalent to the average

economic useful life rates and are analyzed as follows:

C l a s s i f i c a t i o n Annual Depreciation Rates

B u i l d i n g s 2 . 5 - 5 %

Telecommunication equipment and installations:

ñ Telephone exchange equipment 8 - 1 2 %

ñ Radio relay stations 1 2 . 5 %

ñ Subscriber connections 1 0 %

ñ Local and trunk network 6 - 1 2 %

ñ O t h e r 1 0 - 2 0 %

Transportation equipment 1 2 - 2 0 %

F u rn i t u re and fixture s 2 0 %

D e p reciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 amounted to € 687.5, € 909.7 and

€1,023.1, re s p e c t i v e l y.
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6. TELECOMMUNICATION PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued):

As of December 31, 2003 and 2004, cumulative subsidies provided to the Group for fixed asset acquisitions amounted to

€ 576.9 and have been reflected as a deduction from the acquisition cost of the related fixed assets.

The Group recognizes subsidies based on the pro g ress of the subsidized projects and when all conditions to their payment

a re met. The receipt of these subsidies is subject to the submission of the related costs of the approved projects to the

Ministry of National Economy. Out of the respective receivables, which, at December 31, 2003, amounted to € 22.4 and

w e re included in "Subsidies receivable", reflected under current assets in the accompanying 2003 consolidated balance

sheet, an amount of € 19.5 was collected in 2004. The Gro u p ’s management believes that no realization problem exists

in respect to the collectibility of the remaining amount of € 2 . 9 .

Interest costs capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, amounted to € 26.1, € 27.4 and

€ 20.9, re s p e c t i v e l y.

Total interest costs incurred during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, amounted to € 148.6, € 1 7 3 . 9

and € 186.2, re s p e c t i v e l y.

7. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS:

Short-term borrowings re p resent draw-downs under various lines of credit maintained by the Group with several banks.

The aggregate amount of available lines of credit was € 132.0 at December 31, 2004, of which € 94.7 were unused as of

the above date.

The weighted average interest rates on short-term borrowings for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, was

a p p roximately 4.9% and 4,3%, re s p e c t i v e l y.

On September 19, 2003, OTE PLC established a Euro Commercial Paper Programme under which it may issue and have

outstanding at any time euro - c o m m e rcial paper notes, fully and unconditionally guaranteed by OTE, up to a maximum

a g g regate amount of € 500 or its equivalent in alternative currencies, with a maximum maturity of one (1) year.  Notes

may be interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing.  Interest (if any) may accrue at a fixed rate or at a floating rate.  No

issuance of notes under this program took place as of the date of this report. 

8. ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES:

Accrued and other liabilities are analyzed as follows:

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Accrued social security contributions 6 6 . 9 6 8 . 9

Accrued payroll 3 8 . 0 2 4 . 2

Other taxes payable 4 6 . 6 4 9 . 9

Accrued interest payable 8 8 . 6 8 9 . 6

Reserve for pension contributions 4 2 . 4 8 . 3

Reserve for litigation and claims 3 5 . 4 4 7 . 9

Customer advances 4 6 . 8 5 6 . 2

Derivative liability (see Note 10 (c) (i) (b)) - 9 0 . 7

Other 8 6 . 1 1 0 2 . 8

4 5 0 . 8 5 3 8 . 5
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9. INCOME TAXES:

In accordance with the Greek tax regulations, the income tax rate through December 31, 2004, was 35%, but based on

Law 3296/2004 will be reduced to 32% in 2005, 29% in 2006 and 25% in 2007 and onward s .

Tax re t u rns are filed annually but the profits or losses declared for tax purposes remain provisional until such time as the

tax authorities examine the re t u rns and the re c o rds of the tax payer and a final assessment is issued.

Under Greek tax regulations, an income tax advance of 55% of each year’s current income tax liability is paid to the tax

authorities.  Such advance is then netted off with the following year’s income tax liability.  Any excess advance amounts

a re refunded to the companies following a tax examination.  As of December 31, 2004, an amount of € 91.5, re p re s e n t i n g

income tax advances paid by OTE in 2004 in excess of its current income tax liability based on its statutory taxable pro f i t s

is included under "Other current assets" in the accompanying 2004 balance sheet.  OTE’s intention is to appeal to the tax

authorities for a tax examination and the refund of the above mentioned amount within 2005.

In 2003, the tax audits of OTE’s books for the years 1999-2001 and of Cosmote’s books for the years 2000-2001 were

completed and additional income taxes and penalties of approximately € 26.7 were assessed, out of which € 23.6 were

charged against the related reserve provided in prior years and € 3.1 were included in the provision for income taxes in

the accompanying 2003 consolidated statement of income. In 2004, the tax authorities completed the tax audit of AMC

for the fiscal years 2000 and 2001, which resulted in an assessment of additional taxes of approximately € 1.1 which are

included in the provision for income taxes in the accompanying 2004 consolidated statement of income. Furthermore, a

p rovision of € 28.1 has been made in respect with OTE’s and Cosmote’s unaudited fiscal years 2002-2004, which is

c o n s i d e red by management to be adequate.

The provision for income taxes reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of income is analyzed as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Income taxes:

C u r re n t ( 3 4 2 . 3 ) ( 3 4 0 . 9 ) ( 2 0 8 . 4 )

D e f e r re d 3 7 . 9 ( 3 7 . 0 ) 8 7 . 6

Total provision for income taxes ( 3 0 4 . 4 ) ( 3 7 7 . 9 ) ( 1 2 0 . 8 )
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9. INCOME TAXES: (Continued):

The reconciliation of the provision for income taxes to the amount determined by the application of the Greek statutory

tax rate of 35%, to pre-tax income before the effect of accounting change is summarized as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Income tax at the statutory rate ( 2 7 5 . 8 ) ( 3 2 7 . 7 ) ( 1 8 4 . 0 )

Additional tax assessments - ( 3 . 1 ) ( 1 . 1 )

E ffect of change in statutory rates - ( 2 . 3 ) 7 7 . 0

Tax on statutory revaluations of land & buildings - - 3 7 . 2

Tax on subsidiaries taxed at diff e rent rates ( 0 . 5 ) ( 0 . 8 ) ( 6 . 8 )

( 2 7 6 . 3 ) ( 3 3 3 . 9 ) ( 7 7 . 7 )

E ffects of non-taxable income and expenses not

deductible for tax purposes:

-  Change in valuation allowance ( 4 1 . 0 ) ( 4 4 . 2 ) ( 3 9 . 1 )

-  Other 1 2 . 9 0 . 2 ( 4 . 0 )

( 2 8 . 1 ) ( 4 4 . 0 ) ( 4 3 . 1 )

P rovision for income taxes ( 3 0 4 . 4 ) ( 3 7 7 . 9 ) ( 1 2 0 . 8 )

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)



158

9. INCOME TAXES (Continued):

The Group has net operating losses carry forwards in the amount of approximately € 165, the majority of which may be

applied against taxable profits through 2008.

D e f e r red income taxes relate to temporary diff e rences between the book values and the tax bases of assets and liabilities.

Significant components of the Gro u p ’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are summarized below:

December 31,

D e f e r red tax asset 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Impairments on subsidiaries and associates 1 5 8 . 7 1 1 3 . 3

Reserve for Staff Retirement Indemnities 9 1 . 8 6 6 . 3

Reserve for Youth Account benefits 9 0 . 6 6 9 . 3

Excess of bad debt provision over tax allowable pro v i s i o n 8 9 . 4 9 7 . 6

Reserve for voluntary re t i rement program contributions 2 0 . 0 8 . 8

Reserve for litigation and claims 2 0 . 2 2 2 . 8

Accrued and other liabilities 1 6 . 8 1 3 . 7

Net operating losses carry forwards 4 2 . 0 2 3 . 9

Expenses capitalized for statutory purposes 1 1 . 6 1 1 . 2

O t h e r 2 2 . 8 9 . 0

G ross deferred tax asset 5 6 3 . 9 4 3 5 . 9

Valuation allowance ( 1 2 8 . 1 ) ( 1 2 6 . 3 )

D e f e r red Tax Asset 4 3 5 . 8 3 0 9 . 6

D e f e r red tax liability

P ro p e r t y, plant and equipment ( 1 2 3 . 2 ) ( 7 7 . 5 )

Temporary diff e rences on equity ( 1 7 4 . 0 ) ( 3 4 1 . 0 )

D e f e r red tax liability ( 2 9 7 . 2 ) ( 4 1 8 . 5 )

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) 1 3 8 . 6 ( 1 0 8 . 9 )

Net current deferred tax asset/(liability) 1 2 . 3 ( 1 2 . 5 )

Net non-current deferred tax asset/(liability) 1 2 6 . 3 ( 9 6 . 4 )

1 3 8 . 6 ( 1 0 8 . 9 )

The deferred tax asset on impairments includes an amount of € 21.7, recognized for the SFAS No. 142 impairment of

goodwill in Armentel, with the corresponding benefit included in the "Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of

income taxes", in the accompanying 2002 consolidated statement of income.

The effect of change in statutory rates in 2004 of € 77.0 is primarily due to the following decreases enacted in December

2 0 0 4 :

ñ Greek tax rate:  35% in 2004, 32% in 2005, 29% in 2006, 25% in 2007 and onward s .

ñ Romanian tax rate:  25% in 2004, 16% in 2005 and onward s .

The Group has established a valuation allowance of € 126.3 at December 31, 2004, for deferred tax assets mainly re l a t i n g

to accounts receivable, for which there is an uncertainty re g a rding their re a l i z a t i o n .
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10. LONG-TERM DEBT:

Long-term debt is analyzed as follows:

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

( a ) E u ropean Investment Bank 9 3 . 6 8 1 . 1

( b ) Loans from suppliers and their aff i l i a t e s 4 0 . 3 3 4 . 1

( c ) Consortium loans 2 8 0 . 0 2 5 9 . 5

( d ) Revolving Credit Facilities - -

( e ) E u ro b o n d 1 , 0 9 8 . 9 1 , 0 9 9 . 0

( f ) Global Medium Term Note Pro g r a m 1 , 4 9 2 . 0 1 , 4 9 2 . 4

( g ) Other bank loans 2 2 4 . 6 1 7 7 . 2

Total long-term debt 3 , 2 2 9 . 4 3 , 1 4 3 . 3

L e s s - C u r rent maturities ( 7 4 . 8 ) ( 3 2 0 . 6 )

Long-term portion 3 , 1 5 4 . 6 2 , 8 2 2 . 7

At December 31, 2003 and 2004, the fair value of the Gro u p ’s long-term debt amounted to approximately € 3,304.3 and

€ 3,261.3, re s p e c t i v e l y.

The annual repayment of long-term debt subsequent to December 31, 2004, is as follows:

Ye a r A m o u n t

2 0 0 5 3 2 0 . 6

2 0 0 6 3 1 0 . 9

2 0 0 7 1 , 1 3 7 . 8

2 0 0 8 3 2 . 7

2 0 0 9 3 3 . 0

2010 and there a f t e r 1 , 3 0 8 . 3

3 , 1 4 3 . 3

( a ) EUROPEAN INVESTMENT BANK 

The long-term loan to OTE by the European Investment Bank ("EIB") was granted in 1995 and is denominated in Euro .

The loan bears interest at 8.3% and after an amendment to the agreement on June 30, 2002, is repayable in annual

instalments through 2009.

Significant loan covenants include, among others, (i) that OTE must inform the EIB of any material alteration to its

equity and of any significant change in the ownership of its capital and (ii) that loans shall be immediately re p a y a b l e

in case that OTE ceases or resolves to cease to carry on its business, is dissolved, liquidated or wound up or in the event

of significant reduction in the value of its assets.
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10. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued):

( b ) LOANS FROM SUPPLIERS AND THEIR AFFILIAT E S

( i ) OTE had obtained long-term loans from Siemens A.G. for the purpose of financing the acquisition of

investment supplies and services from Siemens Te l e - I n d u s t r y. These loans, denominated in Euro, bore intere s t

at 5.29% - 5.94% and were fully paid within 2003.

( i i ) Armentel has obtained vendor-financing facilities from Intracom, Siemens Tele-Industry and Greek Cable

I n d u s t r y, in relation with the supply of equipment and services to Armentel.  These facilities which bear intere s t

at one year London Interbank Offering Rate ("LIBOR") + 1.5%, six month LIBOR + 1.5% and 12.9%,

re s p e c t i v e l y, are denominated in Euros and U.S. dollars and are repayable through 2011.

( c ) C O N S O RTIUM LOANS

( i ) C o s m o t e :

( a ) On November 20, 2000, Cosmote entered into a credit facility agreement (the "Syndicated Loan") with a

consortium of international banks, which provided it with a syndicated revolving credit facility of € 3 5 0 . 0 .

The Syndicated Loan accrued interest at the EURIBOR plus an applicable margin of 0.35% (and mandatory

costs) and was repayable in one balloon installment 364 days after the agreement date unless Cosmote

e x e rcised an option to extend the maturity date in respect of amounts outstanding under this facility by a

further 12 months.  Cosmote exercised this option in 2001 and, accord i n g l y, the Syndicated Loan was re p a i d

during November 2002. 

( b ) On November 12, 2002, Cosmote entered into a new credit facility agreement with a consortium of banks,

which provided it with a term credit facility ("Term Loan") of US $ 280 million and a revolving credit facility

("Revolving Loan") of US $ 140 million (together hereinafter re f e r red to as the "Loan").

The Loan bears interest at the LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.50% - 0.70% (and mandatory

costs).  The Term Loan is repayable in full by the latest on November 12, 2005; however, earlier re p a y m e n t

in full or part is permitted.  Drawdowns under the Revolving Loan are repayable on the last interest period,

as defined, for each particular drawdown or, if ro l l e d - o v e r, in the following interest period and at the latest

on November 12, 2005. It is management’s intention to repay both the Term Loan and the Revolving Loan

on November 12, 2005.

Drawdowns under the Term Loan and Revolving Loan through December 31, 2004, amounted to US $ 350

million. The fair value of the loan was € 256.0 and is included in current maturities of long-term debt in the

accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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10. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued):

The Loan contains Events of Default including, without limitation, failure to make payments under the Loan

and related documents, breach of re p resentations and warranties, cross default under other agre e m e n t s ,

certain events of insolvency relating to Cosmote, appointment of receivers and managers, cessation or

e x p ropriation of business, termination, suspension or revocation of the Licenses, enforcement of security,

certain litigation or other proceedings, involuntary cease or suspension (for more than 5 business days) of

trading of Cosmote’s shares on the Athens Stock Exchange, decrease of OTE’s ownership (directly or

t h rough its subsidiaries) to less than 35% of Cosmote’s issued share capital and the occurrence of events

having a material change (as defined there i n ) .

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the facility agent may, and shall if so directed by a majority of

the banks, declare that an Event of Default has occurred, terminate the commitment under the Loan,

d e c l a re all or any amounts under the Loan to be due and payable and take certain other actions.

The Loan agreement contains a set-off clause with the banks, the facility agent and the other finance parties

( " S e t - O ff" clause). The terms of the Set-Off clause provide that after the occurrence of an Event of Default

and while such Event of Default is continuing a Finance Party may set-off or apply any matured obligations

owed by the Borrower under the Finance Documents against any obligation (whether or not mature d )

owed by that Finance Party to the Borro w e r, re g a rdless of the place of payment, booking or currency of

either obligation. If the obligations are in diff e rent currencies, the Finance Party may convert either

obligation at a market rate of exchange in its usual course of business for the purpose of the set-off or

application. If either obligation is unliquidated or unascertained, the Finance Party may set-off or apply in

an amount estimated by it in good faith to be the amount of that obligation.

The Loan also contains financial covenants including re q u i rements to maintain minimum ratios of

consolidated borrowings to consolidated EBITDA and consolidated EBITDA to consolidated intere s t

e x p e n s e .

F u r t h e r m o re, Cosmote has also given certain undertakings relating to the financial information given to the

Agent, restrictions on disposals of assets, on investments and acquisitions, on maintenance of intellectual

p roperty rights, environmental matters, insurance status and maintenance of the nature of the business and

compliance with laws and regulations. 

Cosmote cannot, subject to certain limited exceptions, dispose of assets with an aggregate book value or

market value (whichever is higher) in excess of € 25.0 in any one financial year.  
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10. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued):

Also, Cosmote cannot, subject to certain limited exceptions, dispose of equity participations or similar

investments in entities who are in the Telecommunications Business (as defined therein) whose book

value or market value (whichever is higher) exceeds € 50.0 in aggregate, except if these amounts are

reinvested within 180 days in other entities who are in the Telecommunications Business or in assets

relevant to the Telecommunications Business or if no disposal will result in Material Subsidiary (as

defined therein) ceasing to be a Subsidiary.  If the amounts are not reinvested within this period they

should be applied towards mandatory prepayment and cancellation. 

On December 16, 2002, Cosmote entered into cro s s - c u r rency swaps whereby it converted (i) the

outstanding amount of the Loan, from US $ to € (U.S.$ 350 million to € 346.7) and (ii) the intere s t

rate from the LIBOR  plus 0.55% to the EURIBOR  plus 0.60%.  The cro s s - c u r rency swaps mature on

November 12, 2005.

The swaps qualified for hedge accounting and their value at December 31, 2003 and 2004, of

a p p roximately € 70.0 and € 90.7, re s p e c t i v e l y, is re c o rded as a derivative liability. The fair value of the

swaps at December 31, 2003, of approximately € 70.0 is included in other long-term liabilities in the

accompanying 2003 consolidated balance sheet while the fair value of the swaps at December 31,

2004, of € 90.7 is included in "Accrued and other liabilities" reflected under current liabilities in the

accompanying 2004 consolidated balance sheet. 

( i i ) Hellascom: On February 24, 1999, Hellascom obtained a long-term loan from a consortium of banks of US $ 7

million to finance capital expenditures.  On April 20, 2000, the loan agreement was amended and the amount

of the loan was increased to US $ 12 million.  This loan, bearing interest at LIBOR plus 0.70%, was fully paid in

2 0 0 2 .

( i i i ) O T E n e t : In February 2003, OTEnet entered into a new credit facility agreement with a consortium of banks,

which provided it with a term credit facility of up to € 12 and a revolving credit facility of up to € 6 .

Drawdowns under the term credit facility through December 31, 2004, amounted to € 3.5. No drawdowns

under the revolving credit facility have been made. The credit facility bears interest at EURIBOR plus an

applicable margin ranging from 0.90% - 1.30% for the term credit facility, decreased by 0.25% for the re v o l v i n g

c redit facility. The term credit facility is repayable in full by the latest in August 2007; however, earlier

repayment is permitted. As OTEnet’s management committed to the consortium of banks to repay the facility

in January 2005, the outstanding amount as of December 31, 2004, is included in "Current maturities of long-

term debt" in the accompanying 2004 consolidated balance sheet. 
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10. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued):

( d ) R E V O LVING CREDIT FA C I L I T I E S

On June 10, 1999, OTE entered into a revolving credit facility of U.S. $ 1 billion or equivalent in Euro from a group of

banks.  This facility, as amended on June 21, 2001, has a term of five years and bore interest at LIBOR or  EURIBOR plus

0.3%.  As of December 31, 2001, an amount of € 658 was outstanding.  During 2002, a drawdown of € 361.3 was

made under the loan and a repayment of € 43.3 was also made.  Accord i n g l y, the outstanding amount as of December

31, 2002 was € 975.8.  After the above- mentioned drawdown, there is no remaining portion of the credit facility to

be drawn down, at December 31, 2002. As discussed in Note 1(c) in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements, a non-payment default by OTE under its revolving credit facility was caused as a result of OTE becoming

Romtelecomãs major shareholder in March 2003. On June 24, 2003, OTE obtained the necessary waivers for the non-

payment default resulting from Cosmorom, while, on June 27, 2003, it obtained confirmation from EBRD that it was

extending to September 30, 2003, the grace periods to cure any existing defaults under the EBRD facilities.

Notwithstanding the above, in August 2003 OTE fully paid its revolving credit facility through the issuance of € 1 , 2 5 0

notes due 2013, issued by its subsidiary OTE PLC under its Global Medium Term Note Program [see (f), below]. 

On March 2, 2004, OTE PLC entered into a credit facility agreement with a consortium of banks, which provided it with

a revolving credit facility of € 350, guaranteed by OTE.  Drawdowns under the facility are repayable within one year

f rom the date of the agreement; however, this maturity date may be extended for one more year upon the company’s

request.  Furthermore, the company has the option to convert the revolving facility into a term loan facility.

Drawdowns can be made either in € or in other currencies (Sterling or $ or other currency readily available in the

amount re q u i red and freely convertible into € in the relevant interbank market).  The facility bears interest at the

LIBOR (or EURIBOR for drawdowns denominated in €) plus a margin of 0.3% (and mandatory costs).  The facility

contains Events of Default including, among others, failure to make payments, breach of re p resentations, warranties

and statements, cross default under other agreements, certain events of insolvency, and the occurrence of events

having a material adverse change (as defined therein) in the financial condition of OTE PLC or OTE. 

( e ) EUROBOND 

On February 7, 2000, OTE PLC issued a bond of € 1.1 billion, fully and unconditionally guaranteed by OTE bearing

i n t e rest at 6.125%, maturing on February 7, 2007.  As of December 31, 2004, unamortized discounts and pre m i u m s

amounted to € 0.8 and € 0.2, re s p e c t i v e l y.  Amortization for fiscal year 2004 amounted to € 0.4 and was charged to

" I n t e rest expense", in the accompanying 2004 consolidated statement of income. As discussed in Note 1(c) in the

accompanying consolidated financial statements, a non-payment default by OTE under its Eurobond was caused as a

result of OTE becoming Romtelecom’s major shareholder in March 2003, in remedy of which, OTE, on June 30, 2003,

obtained the necessary Waivers and the Proposed Amendments from the Holders of the Notes. 
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10. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued):

( f ) GLOBAL MEDIUM TERM NOTE PROGRAM

On November 7, 2001, OTE PLC established a Global Medium Term Note Program for the issuance of up to € 1.5 billion

in aggregate principal amount of notes, fully and unconditionally guaranteed by OTE, with a maximum maturity of up

to ten years. On June 5, 2003, OTE’s Board of Directors approved the extension of the maturity of the notes to thirty

years. Notes may be interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing.  Interest (if any) may accrue at a fixed rate or at a floating

rate or other variable rate.  Within 2003, OTE PLC used this facility and issued notes amounting to € 1.5 billion, fully

and unconditionally guaranteed by OTE, in two tranches, bearing interest as follows:

( i ) € 1.25 billion notes issued in August 2003 at 5%, maturing in 2013.

( i i ) € 0.25 billion notes issued in November 2003 at floating rate, maturing in 2006.

On September 16, 2003, OTE’s Board of Directors approved to raise the aggregate principal amount of notes under

the Global Medium Term Note Program from the initial € 1.5 billion to € 2.5 billion. The process of preparing the

necessary documentation and obtaining appropriate approvals in order to enforce this decision was concluded within

November 2004. 

As of December 31, 2004, unamortized discounts amounted to € 7.6.  Amortization for fiscal year 2004 amounted to

€ 0.5 and was charged to "Interest Expense", in the accompanying 2004 consolidated statement of income.

(g) OTHER BANK LOANS

Romtelecom has obtained long-term loans in various currencies, amounting to approximately € 175.5 as of December

31, 2004.  Out of these loans approximately € 128.5 bear interest at floating rates (either linked with LIBOR/EURIBOR

plus margins ranging from 0.50% - 2.5% or between 5% - 8%), while approximately € 47.0 bear interest at fixed rates

ranging from 2.5% - 10.4%. Included in the abovementioned loans are two loans from the EBRD, which are subject

to restrictive covenants.  These covenants re q u i re Romtelecom to achieve minimum ratios in respect of tangible net

worth, financial debt, the debt coverage and current ratio, computed on its annual consolidated financial statements

p re p a red under International Financial Reporting Standards. With the exception of current ratio, all other ratios have

been met for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.  As a result of the breach of the above ratio as of

December 31, 2004, such facilities may have become payable on demand.  Romtelecom has officially notified the EBRD

of this breach.  The EBRD has not issued a waiver that this breach will not result in the facilities being withdrawn, nor

have they notified Romtelecom of such withdrawal.  The other long-term loans do not include clear cross default

covenants.  Management believes that the actual breach of current ratio will not result in changes of the re p a y m e n t

terms.  Furthermore, in case that the EBRD calls the above debt, OTE has the ability under the GMTN plan and the

intention is to refinance the debt [see Note 10(f), above].  As a result, the long-term portion of the EBRD loans

amounting to € 19.3 is presented under long-term loans, without being reclassified into current liabilities.
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11. RESERVES FOR PENSIONS, STAFF RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES AND OTHER BENEFITS:

OTE employees are covered by various pension, medical and other benefit plans as summarized below:

Defined Contribution Plans:

(a) Main Pension Fund (TAP-OTE):

The TAP-OTE fund, a multiemployer fund to which OTE contributes, is the main fund providing pension and medical

benefits to OTE employees.  The employees of the National Railway Company and the Greek Post Office are also

members of this fund.  The Group recognizes as net pension cost the contributions required for the period and as

a liability any contributions due and unpaid.

The TAP-OTE pension fund (hereinafter referred to as "TAP-OTE") provides members who were members prior to

1993 with a pension of approximately 80% of salary at retirement age, which is estimated at an average of 55 years

for current employees.  In accordance with Law 2084/92, benefit levels have been reduced and retirement age has

been advanced. Pension levels for new employees from 1993 are 60% of final average salary after 35 years of

service at age 65.  From January 1, 2002, contribution rates were 25% of salary for the employer and 11% for the

employee, regarding members joined before January 1, 1993. For members joined after that date, the relevant

contribution rates are 13.33% of salary for the employer and 6.67% for the employee. 

The TAP-OTE medical fund provides day-to-day hospital and pharmaceutical care to active employees, retired

employees and to dependants.  The current contribution rates are 5.10% of salary for the employer and 2.55% plus

0.5% for each dependant of an employee. 

According to Law 2257/94, OTE was liable to cover the annual operating deficit of the TAP-OTE up to a maximum

amount of € 32.3, which could be adjusted with the Consumer Price Index. Pursuant to Greek legislation (Law

2768/99), a fund was incorporated on December 8, 1999, as a société anonyme under the name of EDEKT-OTE S.A.

("EDEKT"), for the purpose of administering contributions to be made by OTE, the Greek State and the Auxiliary

Pension Fund, in order to finance the TAP-OTE deficit. The Greek State’s and the Auxiliary Pension Fund’s

contributions to the fund were set to € 264.1 and € 410.9, respectively.  EDEKT’s authorized share capital amounts

to € 2.9, divided into 100,000 shares with nominal value of € 29.3 (twenty nine point three Euro) each.  OTE has a

40% interest in EDEKT acquired for a consideration of € 1.2.  Pursuant to Law 2937/01, OTE’s contribution has been

set at € 352.2, representing the equivalent to the net present value of ten (10) years’ (2002-2011) contributions to

TAP-OTE.  This amount was paid on August 3, 2001 and is being amortized over the ten-year period.  Pursuant to

Law 2843/00, any deficits incurred by TAP-OTE are covered by the Greek State.

Furthermore, pursuant to Law 2937/01, OTE was obliged to pay to TAP-OTE an amount of € 50.2 comprised as

follows: (i)  € 28.5 relating to interest for the period 1984 through 1993 on loans granted to TAP-OTE by the Medical

Fund and (ii)  € 21.7, relating to adjustments of its obligations to cover the annual operating deficit of the TAP-OTE

for the years 1999 and 2000 by using a compounded consumer price index with fiscal year 1994 as the base year.
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11. R E S E RVES FOR PENSIONS, STAFF RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES AND OTHER BENEFITS
(Continued):

Pursuant to Law 3029/02, TA P - O T E ’s Pension Fund part only, is to merge with IKA-ETEAM (the main social security

Fund in Greece) the latest by January 1, 2008.  In accordance with the provisions of this law, the duration of

employers’ obligations to cover the annual operating deficits of their employees’ Pension Funds, as defined by Law

2084/92 will be determined through a Ministerial Decision.  

Due to financial difficulties of TAP-OTE, payments of € 47.2 were made through to December 31, 1993, in excess of

those re q u i red to be covered by OTE, out of which € 19.6 have been settled and were fully collected thro u g h

December 31, 2000.  With respect with the remaining payments of € 27.6 made by OTE, TAP-OTE believed that these

payments were made to cover the deficit incurred during the first ten months of 1990, in accordance with Law

1902/90, based on which law (published on October 17, 1990), OTE was obliged to cover the total deficits of TA P -

OTE.  TAP-OTE considered that the application of Law 1902/90 had a re t roactive effect from January 1, 1990.

H o w e v e r, in 1997, the Legal Counsel of the State, with its Decision 259/97, determined that Law 1902/90 is eff e c t i v e

f rom the date it was published (October 17, 1990) and that, accord i n g l y, OTE was not obliged to cover the deficits of

TAP-OTE for the first ten months of 1990.  During 1999, and after notification to TAP-OTE, OTE proceeded in

withholding € 2.9 from the annual operating deficit payments, and, accord i n g l y, the receivable amount as of

December 31, 2000, amounted to € 24.7. Additional withholdings took place in 2001 and reduced the re c e i v a b l e

amount from TAP – OTE to € 21.4 as of December 31, 2001.

Although TAP-OTE did not object to the above mentioned withholdings, in February 2002, it refused to provide OTE

with a confirmation that it was not in default with its monthly social security payments, on the grounds that monthly

social security contributions must be paid in full and withholdings from such contributions are not permitted.  In ord e r

to resolve this issue, in May 2002, OTE agreed to refund all withholdings made from contributions to TAP-OTE, and

the receivable amount was readjusted to € 24.7.  By its letter dated May 24, 2002, TAP-OTE officially accepted OTE’s

claim for the above- mentioned amount but, simultaneously, raised an issue of a possible legal right to write-off this

claim. Both parties agreed to request a legal opinion on this issue from a mutually acceptable legal counsel, who

issued an opinion favourable to OTE.  Based on this opinion and following an announcement letter to TAP-OTE dated

January 24, 2004, OTE netted off the amount of € 24.7 with social securities payable to TAP-OTE. Consequently, the

amount was classified under current assets in the accompanying 2003 consolidated balance sheet.  
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(Continued):

( b ) Auxiliary Pension Fund:

( i ) The Auxiliary Lump Sum benefit fund provides members with a lump sum benefit upon re t i rement or death

which, in accordance with Law 2084/92, is capped at a maximum of € 0.03 after 35 years of service adjustable

annually in line with the yearly change in the civil servants' pensions. The current contribution rate is 4% for

the employee. 

During 1996 an intere s t - f ree loan of € 6.3 was advanced to this fund for the payment of lump sum benefits

to staff that had re t i red in 1995 under the voluntary re t i rement program.  This loan was being repaid in 80

equal monthly instalments, beginning January 1, 1997, and was fully settled within 2004.

( i i ) The Auxiliary Pension Benefit fund provides members, who were members prior to 1993, with a pension of

20% of salary after 30 years service.  Law 2084/92 has fixed minimum contributions and maximum benefits,

after 35 years of service, for new entrants from 1993.

F u r t h e r m o re, for members that joined prior to 1993 it has made the benefits payable subject to "a decision of the

Ministry of Health and Social Security following an actuarial study and the opinion of the Fund’s Board of Dire c t o r s " .

Advances made by OTE to the Auxiliary Fund against future contributions through December 31, 1993, amounted to

€ 11.1.  During 1995, arrangements were made with the Auxiliary Fund for the settlement of € 11.1 in monthly

instalments of € 0.04, effective January 1, 1996.

The advances to pension funds are analysed as follows:

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

N o n - i n t e rest bearing payments and advances:

- EDEKT 2 4 6 . 5 2 1 1 . 3

- Auxiliary Fund 5 . 7 5 . 0

2 5 2 . 2 2 1 6 . 3

Less: unamortized discount based on imputed interest rates

5.0% and 3.8% for 2003 and 2004, re s p e c t i v e l y ( 0 . 9 ) ( 0 . 5 )

Long-term portion 2 5 1 . 3 2 1 5 . 8

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

N o n - i n t e rest bearing payments and advances:

- EDEKT 3 5 . 2 3 5 . 2

- TA P - O T E 2 4 . 7 -

- Auxiliary Fund 1 . 1 0 . 5

Short-term portion 6 1 . 0 3 5 . 7
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11. R E S E RVES FOR PENSIONS, STAFF RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES AND OTHER BENEFITS
(Continued):

Advances to pension funds are reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements at their present values,

discounted by the use of risk-free interest rates prevailing in the Greek market, for periods approximating the periods of

the expected cash flows.  Discount derived from the initial recognition of present values and amortization are included in

i n t e rest expense and interest income, re s p e c t i v e l y, in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

O T E ’s contributions to the TAP-OTE, the Auxiliary pension fund and other funds for the years ended December 31, 2002,

2003 and 2004, amounted to € 189.7, € 201.1 and € 204.2, re s p e c t i v e l y.

In accordance with amendments to the collective labor agreement, OTE has undertaken the obligation to make certain

contributions to the pension funds for a period of approximately three to four years for all employees who re t i re under

the voluntary re t i rement program.  In this respect, an expense of approximately € 30.6, € 6.7 and € 7.1 was established

in 2002, 2003 and 2004, re s p e c t i v e l y, and is included in payroll and employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated

statements of income, to cover the related contributions which OTE is obliged to pay over the following years for

employees who accepted the offers during the related years.  As of December 31, 2003 and 2004, the related re s e r v e

amounted to € 55.7 and € 15.8, re s p e c t i v e l y, of which € 42.4 and € 8.3, re s p e c t i v e l y, are included in "Accrued and other

liabilities" while the remaining amounts are included in "Other long - term liabilities". Within 2003, and upon conclusion

of the 2003 labor agreement, OTE’s obligation for making contributions to TAP-OTE was terminated. As a result, the

related reserve of € 54.6 was reversed and re c o rded as reduction in "Payroll and employee benefits" in the accompanying

2003 consolidated statement of income.  

An actuarial study performed in prior years, has indicated that in the future the pension funds will incur increased deficits.

OTE does not have a legal obligation to cover any future deficiencies of these funds and, according to management,

neither does it voluntarily intend to cover such possible deficiencies.  However, there can be no assurance that OTE will

not be re q u i red (through regulatory arrangements) to make additional contributions in the future to cover deficiencies of

these funds.
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11. R E S E RVES FOR PENSIONS, STAFF RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES AND OTHER BENEFITS
(Continued):

Defined Benefit Plans:

(a) Reserve for Staff Retirement Indemnities

Under the Greek labor law, employees are entitled to termination payments in the event of dismissal or re t i re m e n t

with the amount of payment varying in relation to the employee's compensation, length of service and manner of

termination (dismissal or re t i rement).  Employees who resign (except those with over fifteen years of service) or are

dismissed with cause are not entitled to termination payments.  The indemnity payable in case of re t i rement is equal

to 40% of the amount which would be payable upon dismissal.  In the case of OTE employees, the maximum amount

is limited to a fixed amount (which for 2004 amounted to € 0.02 and is adjusted annually according to the inflation

rate), plus 7 months salary.  In practice, up to December 31, 2003, OTE employees received the lesser amount between

100% of the maximum liability and € 0.02 plus 7 months’ salary. On May 19, 2004, OTE signed a new collective labour

a g reement with its employees, which, among other things, increased the maximum amount of re t i rement indemnities

payable to its employees by an additional two months’ salary, effective January 2, 2005. Employees with service

exceeding 25 years are entitled to draw loans against the accrued indemnity payable to them upon re t i re m e n t .

Balances amounted to € 64.9 and € 88.6 as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively and are included in "Loans

and advances to employees" and "Loans and advances to employees, net of current portion" in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets. 

The provisions and liability for such re t i rement indemnities have been accounted for in the accompanying consolidated

financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 87 and are based on an independent actuarial study.  These

re t i rement indemnities are paid to individuals at the time they re t i re from the Gro u p .

The components of the staff re t i rement indemnity expense are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Service cost-benefits earned during the year 1 1 . 7 1 2 . 1 1 4 . 7

I n t e rest cost on projected benefit obligation 1 7 . 3 1 6 . 2 1 9 . 0

Net amortization and deferrals 4 . 2 4 . 2 9 . 1

3 3 . 2 3 2 . 5 4 2 . 8

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)



170

11. R E S E RVES FOR PENSIONS, STAFF RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES AND OTHER BENEFITS
(Continued):

The following is a reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation to the liability re c o rded for staff re t i re m e n t

i n d e m n i t i e s :

December 31, 

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

P rojected benefit obligation at beginning of year 3 0 9 . 6 3 8 2 . 5

Service cost 1 2 . 1 1 4 . 7

I n t e rest cost 1 6 . 2 1 9 . 0

Actuarial loss 1 9 . 6 5 0 . 4

Prior service cost arising during the year 5 1 . 7 6 0 . 0

Benefits paid ( 2 6 . 7 ) ( 3 2 . 3 )

P rojected benefit obligation at end of year 3 8 2 . 5 4 9 4 . 3

U n recognised net actuarial loss ( 2 4 . 9 ) ( 7 5 . 4 )

U n recognised prior service cost ( 8 7 . 7 ) ( 1 3 6 . 7 )

Accrued benefit cost 2 6 9 . 9 2 8 2 . 2

Additional minimum liability 2 2 . 7 9 5 . 1

Accumulated benefit obligation 2 9 2 . 6 3 7 7 . 3

The assumptions underlying the actuarial valuation, in percentages, of staff re t i rement indemnities are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Discount rate 5 . 5 % 5 . 0 % 3 . 8 %

Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels 4 . 5 % 4 . 5 % 4 . 5 %

The following table shows the undiscounted benefit amount expected to be paid for each year of the next five

successive fiscal years and the aggregate for the next five years there a f t e r :

Ye a r A m o u n t

2 0 0 5 9 . 7

2 0 0 6 1 3 . 2

2 0 0 7 3 3 . 7

2 0 0 8 4 7 . 9

2 0 0 9 5 8 . 1

2 0 1 0 - 2 0 1 4 2 9 7 . 2
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11. R E S E RVES FOR PENSIONS, STAFF RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES AND OTHER BENEFITS
(Continued):

( b ) Reserve for Youth Account

The Youth Account provides OTE's employees' children a lump sum payment generally when they reach the age of 21.

The lump sum payment is made up of employees' contributions, interest thereon and OTE's contributions which can

reach up to a maximum 10 months’ salary of the total average salary of OTE employees depending on the number of

years of contributions.

The components of the Youth Account expense recognized by the Group are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Service cost-benefits earned during the year 2 0 . 8 2 1 . 1 2 0 . 1

I n t e rest cost on projected benefit obligation 1 6 . 0 1 6 . 5 1 3 . 3

Net actuarial gain 8 . 9 8 . 9 4 . 8

4 5 . 7 4 6 . 5 3 8 . 2

The following is a reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation to the liability re c o rded for the Youth Account

b e n e f i t s :

December 31,

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

P rojected benefit obligation at beginning of year 3 1 5 . 1 2 9 4 . 0

Service cost 2 1 . 1 2 0 . 1

I n t e rest cost 1 6 . 5 1 3 . 4

Actuarial (gains)/loss ( 1 8 . 4 ) 1 4 . 1

Benefits paid ( 4 0 . 3 ) ( 4 5 . 9 )

P rojected benefit obligation at end of year 2 9 4 . 0 2 9 5 . 7

U n recognised net actuarial loss ( 5 6 . 8 ) ( 6 6 . 2 )

Accrued benefit cost 2 3 7 . 2 2 2 9 . 5

Additional minimum liability 2 1 . 6 2 8 . 1

Accumulated benefit obligation 2 5 8 . 8 2 5 7 . 6

E m p l o y e e ’s accumulated contributions 7 2 . 7 7 2 . 4

Total reserve for Youth Account 3 3 1 . 5 3 3 0 . 0
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11. R E S E RVES FOR PENSIONS, STAFF RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES AND OTHER BENEFITS
(Continued):

The assumptions underlying the actuarial valuation, in percentages, of the Youth Account benefits are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Discount rate 5.5% 5 . 0 % 3 . 8 %

Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels 3 . 5 % 3 . 5 % 3 . 5 %

The following table shows the undiscounted benefit amount expected to be paid for each year of the next five

successive fiscal years and the aggregate for the next five years there a f t e r :

Ye a r A m o u n t

2 0 0 5 4 8 . 8

2 0 0 6 5 7 . 4

2 0 0 7 5 7 . 7

2 0 0 8 4 1 . 5

2 0 0 9 2 8 . 4

2 0 1 0 - 2 0 1 4 1 2 2 . 8

12. SHARE CAPITAL:

On June 25, 2001, the shareholders at their ordinary general assembly approved the dual currency denomination of the

s h a re capital, namely that of the Greek Drachmae and Euro, in accordance with the provisions of Law 2842/2000.  The

nominal value of OTE’s shares was set at € 2.20 (two point twenty Euro) each and, accord i n g l y, its share capital decre a s e d

by € 0.5 with an equivalent increase in paid-in surplus.

As of December 31, 2002, OTE’s share capital amounted to € 1,204.7, divided into 504,054,199 re g i s t e red shares with a

nominal value of € 2.39 (two point thirty nine Euro) each.  Pursuant to a resolution of the extraordinary General Assembly

of the shareholders dated October 17, 2002, the share capital was increased by € 95.8, through the increase of the

nominal value of the shares of OTE by € 0.19 (zero point nineteen Euro) each, by capitalization of the 2000 statutory

revaluation surplus.

The State’s direct participation in OTE’s share capital as of December 31, 2004, was approximately 34.6%.  As a result of

the State’s interest in OTE falling below 51%, OTE is no longer entitled to the benefit of certain provisions applying to

state-owned entities.  In particular, OTE has become subject to paying real estate property tax and capital accumulation

tax in case of share capital increase both from which OTE had previously been exempted.  In addition, as a result of existing

legislation, currently a cap applies in respect of lump-sum payments to employees upon re t i rement (Note 11) and the

application of this legislation has been confirmed by a decision of the Supreme Court of Greece.  However, as a result of

the reduction of the State’s interest in OTE’s share capital, the Greek courts may overturn this decision and may rule that

this special provision should no longer apply and OTE should pay its employees re t i rement lump-sum payments at the

rates provided by the respective labor law. If the benefit from this special provision is lost, this could adversely affect OTE’s

operating re s u l t s .
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12. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued):

The extraordinary General Assembly of October 17, 2002, approved the renewal of the authorization granted to OTE to

buy back up to 10 percent of its own shares on the Athens Stock Exchange.  Thus, for a period of twelve months fro m

such date (i.e. until October 16, 2003), OTE was authorized to purchase the balance of the 10% of its share capital for a

price per share between € 1 (one Euro) and € 30 (thirty Euro ) .

As of December 31, 2003, OTE had re p u rchased 13,903,810 million shares (about 2.76% of its outstanding share capital)

at cost of approximately € 276.6. The extraordinary General Assembly of June 17, 2004, resolved to cancel 12,794,900

s h a res re p resenting approximately 2.54% of OTE’s outstanding share capital, as the period that these shares could be hold

by OTE had expired. Following such resolution, as of December 31, 2004, OTE owned 1,108,910 shares re p resenting 0.23%

of its outstanding share capital, which amounted to € 1,174.1, divided into 491,259,299 re g i s t e red shares with a nominal

value of € 2.39 (two point thirty nine Euro) each.   

13. LEGAL RESERVE:

Under Greek corporate law, corporations are re q u i red to transfer a minimum of five percent of their annual net pro f i t

shown in their statutory books to a legal reserve, until such reserve equals one-third of the outstanding share capital.  At

December 31, 2004, this reserve amounted to € 256.7. This legal reserve cannot be distributed to share h o l d e r s .

14. DIVIDENDS:

Under Greek corporate law, each year companies are generally re q u i red to declare from their statutory profits, dividends

of at least 35% of after-tax profits, after allowing for legal reserve, or a minimum of 6% of the paid-in share capital,

whichever is the gre a t e r.  However, companies can waive such dividend payment re q u i rement with the unanimous

consent of their share h o l d e r s .

F u r t h e r m o re, Greek corporate law re q u i res the following conditions to be met before dividends can be distributed:

( a ) No dividends can be distributed to the shareholders as long as a company’s net equity, as reflected in the statutory

financial statements, is, or after such distribution, will be less than the outstanding capital plus non-distributable

re s e r v e s .

( b ) No dividends can be distributed to the shareholders as long as the unamortized balance of "Preoperating Expenses",

as reflected in the statutory financial statements, exceeds the aggregate of distributable reserves plus re t a i n e d

e a rn i n g s .

Dividends declared in the years 2002, 2003 and 2004 amounted to € 345.6, € 343.1 and € 171.6, re s p e c t i v e l y,

re p resenting a dividend per share of € 0.70 (zero point seventy Euro) for 2002 and 2003 and a dividend per share of €

0.35 (zero point thirty-five Euro) for 2004.
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES: 

( a ) Litigation and Claims:

( i ) Stamp Tax Assessment: The tax authorities assessed stamp taxes and penalties against OTE of appro x i m a t e l y

€ 27.9, relating to the period from 1982 to 1992.  These taxes were assessed on interest on the balances due

t o / f rom the Greek State which were netted off during 1993 in accordance with the provisions of Law 2167/93.

OTE's management and tax consultants strongly disputed the above assessments and had filed an appeal with

the tax courts.  By its decisions, the Administrative Court of Appeal in Athens accepted OTE’s appeal and nullified

the stamp taxes and penalties assessed against OTE. However, after a series of postponements, and despite a

favorable oral decision delivered at the hearing held on April 28, 2004, the Council of State has accepted the

appeals filed by the tax authorities and ord e red for the re-examination of this case by the Administrative Court

of Appeal. Management intends to vigorously defend against this case; however, in view of the above

developments, at this time it cannot make a reasonable estimate of the final outcome.

( i i ) OTE Leasing:  On December 11, 2001, OTE disposed of its wholly owned subsidiary, OTE Leasing, to Piraeus

Financial Leasing S.A., a subsidiary of Piraeus Bank S.A. for a consideration of € 21.0.  The results of OTE Leasing

up to the date of its disposal are included in the Gro u p ’s consolidated results of operations.  Out of the sale

p roceeds, € 5.9 was collected in cash and the balance of € 15.1 in shares in Piraeus Bank S.A. based on their fair

value at that date. These shares were classified as available for sale securities and are included under the caption

" Av a i l a b l e - f o r-sale marketable securities" in the accompanying 2003 and 2004 consolidated balance sheets. The

disposal of OTE Leasing had no material effect on the Gro u p ’s financial position or results of operations.  As

p rescribed in the agreements signed for the sale of OTE Leasing, OTE is committed to indemnify Piraeus Financial

Leasing S.A. up to an amount of approximately € 28.0, for possible losses to be incurred from the non-

performance of lessees for contracts signed through to the date of sale of OTE Leasing.  The conditions under

which a lessee’s contract will be characterized as non-performing are described in detail in the sale agre e m e n t s .

Such OTE’s obligation is in force for a period between 3.5-5.5 years, depending on the nature of the lease

contracts. OTE has raised a provision of € 28.0 for expected losses based on circumstances prevailing at December

31, 2004.

( i i i ) Econophone: On March 27, 2003, Econophone (Hellas) S.A., a Greek telecommunications operator and its pare n t

Caesar Management Limited, filed a petition against OTE before the Athens First Instance Court, claiming the

amount of approximately € 1,224.0 in damages allegedly caused to its property and for economic losses caused

to it in each case as a result of OTE’s termination of the interconnection agreement between OTE and

Econophone as a result of non payment by Econophone, the alleged refusal to perform the interc o n n e c t i o n

a g reement in accordance with its terms and alleged overcharging of Econophone by OTE in invoices issued by

OTE to Econophone.  A hearing, initially scheduled for February 15, 2005, was cancelled since the plaintiff

withdrawn its petition, keeping, however, the right to file a new petition in the future. 
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued):

( i v ) Alpha Digital Synthesis S.A.: During January 2002, Alpha Digital Synthesis S.A., a Greek company licensed to

p rovide subscriber television services in Greece, filed a law suit against OTE before the Athens Court of First

Instance, claiming an amount of € 55.5 for alleged damages incurred as a result of an alleged breach by OTE of

the terms of a memorandum of understanding signed by the two parties. Alpha Digital Synthesis S.A. has

withdrawn this claim and, in accordance with the terms of the memorandum of understanding, it submitted a

request for arbitration according to the Greek Civil Pro c e d u re Code on May 7, 2003, claiming an amount of

a p p roximately € 254.2.  The arbitration proceedings commenced on April 27, 2004.  Written submissions were

made on May 25, 2004 with responses submitted by June 8, 2004.  Further written submissions were made on

May 16, 2005 with responses submitted on May 31, 2005.  Management and legal counsel believe that this claim

is without merit and unlikely to be accepted by the court.

( v ) Hellenic Radio and Television Broadcasting S.A. ("ERT"): During May 2002, ERT, the Greek publicly-owned

television radio bro a d c a s t e r, filed a law suit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance,

claiming an amount of € 42.9 for alleged damages incurred by it as a result of an alleged infringement by OTE

of the terms of a memorandum of understanding signed by the two parties. The case was heard on April 21,

2005 and the court judged that the case should be re f e r red to arbitration.  Management and legal counsel believe

that this claim is without merit and unlikely to be accepted by the court.

( v i ) F o r t h n e t : In 2002, Forthnet S.A., which was awarded license to provide wireless telephony service, filed a civil

claim, claiming an amount of  € 26.7 for alleged damages incurred by it due to loss of customers as a result of

O T E ’s allegedly discriminatory policy in favor of OTENet. The hearing is scheduled for April 19, 2007.

Management and legal counsel believe that this claim is without merit and unlikely to be accepted by the court.

( v i i ) G reek Telecom S.A.: In 2004, Greek Telecom S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member

Court of First Instance, claiming approximately € 45.4 in damages, due to alleged breach of contractual

obligations arising out of disconnection of Telecommunication services.  The hearing is scheduled for May 10,

2007.  Management and legal councel believe that this claim is without merit and unlikely to be accepted by the

c o u r t .

( v i i i ) Telepassport S.A.: Telepassport S.A. filed two lawsuits against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of

First Instance, claiming an aggregate amount of approximately € 52.2 for alleged damages incurred by it as a

result of OTE’s delay in delivering to it leased lines.  The hearing, initially scheduled for June 8, 2005, has been

suspended.  Management and legal counsel believe that even if the court is to accept certain damages incurre d

by Telepassport S.A., the amount would not exceed € 2 . 8 .
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued):

( i x ) Insurance Coverage: Since OTE’s telecommunication pro p e r t y, plant and equipment are located thro u g h o u t

G reece and the risk of a major loss is reduced, OTE does not carry any insurance coverage but, instead pro v i d e s

for all known damages and claims as of the balance sheet dates.

( x ) Other Legal Claims and Litigations: T h e re are various litigations and claims between OTE and third parties,

arising during the normal course of business.  OTE’s claims against third parties, mainly suppliers and sub-

contractors are not re c o rded until the respective amounts are collected.  OTE has established appro p r i a t e

p rovisions in relation to litigations and claims, the outcomes of which are probable and can be re a s o n a b l y

estimated, for the amount of € 20.  It is not expected that the ultimate resolution of the remaining cases will

have a material effect on the Gro u p ’s financial condition and results of operations.

( b ) C o m m i t m e n t s :

( i ) Master Dealer Network: C o s m o t e ’s master dealer network consists of six exclusive master dealers (including

OTE), two non-exclusive master dealers and five distributors.

Master Dealers and their franchised independent distributors are prohibited from re p resenting Cosmote’s

competitors.  For each subscriber acquired, Master Dealers are entitled to:

ñ an amount per contract subscriber acquired by the Master Dealer that varies depending on the characteristics

of each new subscriber.  These amounts may be clawed back by Cosmote, with respect to customers who

cancel within six months of activation.

ñ a loyalty bonus in respect of contract subscribers who renew their annual contracts.

ñ q u a r t e r l y, semi-annual and annual bonuses if the Master Dealer achieves mutually agreed targets for number

of contract subscribers connected to Cosmote’s network during the relevant periods. 

ñ a commission equal to 10% of the revenues billed by Cosmote to each contract subscriber acquired by a

Master Dealer and its network of franchised independent distributors.

Cosmote also pays its Master Dealers a contribution to co-operative advertising.

All payments due to Master Dealers are recognized on an accrual basis in the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued):

( i i ) I n t e rconnection agreements: OTE, based on the interconnection regime which is in effect in Gre e c e

a c c o rding to the Interconnection Directive of the European Union, has signed agreements with

nineteen  (19) companies who were awarded licenses to provide wireless and mobile telephony

services in Greece, in relation with call traffic routed between OTEãs and the other operatorsã

networks. The respective interconnection charges, which are accounted for on an accrual basis, have

to be approved by the EETT. 

( i i i ) I n t e rnational Roaming: At December 31, 2004, Cosmote has entered into international ro a m i n g

a g reements with GSM 900, GSM 1800 and PCS 1900 operators in 178 countries.  These agre e m e n t s

p rovide that when one of Cosmote’s customers uses the services of a corresponding mobile network

operator in another country, Cosmote is responsible for payment of charges for those services used in

a c c o rdance with the corresponding mobile network operator’s tariff.  Cosmote passes these charges

t h rough to the relevant customer, together with an additional surcharge.  Similarly, when a customer

of another corresponding mobile operator uses Cosmote’s network, Cosmote charges the re s p e c t i v e

operator for the call at its international tariff plus an additional surc h a r g e .

( i v ) Capital Commitments: The Group has a number of outstanding commitments on supplier contracts

and contractual agreements, which at December 31, 2004, approximated € 340.2.  Furthermore, the

G roup has undertaken the obligation to launch a second satellite [see Note 1(j)].

( v ) Operating Commitments: As of December 31, 2004, the Group has entered into a number of

operating lease agreements relating to the rental of buildings and transportation equipment, which

e x p i re on various dates through 2050 Future annual payments under these agreements are as follows:

Ye a r A m o u n t

2 0 0 5 8 9 . 1

2 0 0 6 4 1 . 1

2 0 0 7 3 4 . 2

2 0 0 8 3 7 . 4

2 0 0 9 3 6 . 7

T h e re a f t e r 1 1 4 . 2

3 5 2 . 7
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16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION: 

(a) OTE: OTE has two compensatory share option plans.

First Plan

The first plan ("First Plan") was approved on September 4, 2001, by OTE’s Extraordinary General Assembly and is

a d m i n i s t e red by the Board of Dire c t o r s .

The principal terms of the First Plan that were approved by the shareholders are as follows:

( i ) Eligibility: Options are granted to OTE’s management, specifically to the Managing Dire c t o r, to the Deputy Managing

D i re c t o r, to General Directors, to the Legal counsel and Section Managers.

( i i ) E x e rcise Price: The exercise price payable for each share under options granted was set as the average price of OTE’s

s h a re ’s price for the month preceding the grant of options determined by re f e rence to the Daily Bulletin of the Athens

Stock Exchange, equal to € 17.07 (seventeen point zero seven Euro) at the grant date.

( i i i )E x e rcise of Options: Under the plan, OTE’s Board of Directors issued 4,881,000 option rights which will vest as

follows: (1)  40% of the rights on the first anniversary of the date of the grant, (2)  30% of the rights within the second

year of the date of the grant, and, (3)  30% of the rights within the third year of the date of the grant.  The rights

vesting within the second and the third year of the date of the grant can be exercised only if certain financial gro w t h

targets (including revenue growth and EBITDA) for fiscal years 2002 and 2003 will be met.  If the financial targets for

2002 or 2003 are not met, eligible employees will still be able to exercise their options if OTE meets its cumulative

financial growth targets in 2003.  The 2002 and 2003 targets were not met.  Options shall expire in the following

e v e n t s :

ñ If the employment is terminated for any reason prior to the payment of the purchase price, unless the Board of

D i rectors determines otherwise.  

ñ If the employee dies after the options vest, his beneficiaries may exercise any unexercised options, in accordance with

and subject to certain pro v i s i o n s .

ñ If the employee voluntarily re t i res from OTE, the eligible employee can exercise options vested through the voluntary

re t i rement date until the expiring date of the plan.
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16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued): 

Second Plan

The second plan ("Second Plan") was approved on January 28, 2002, by OTE’s Extraordinary General Assembly and is

a d m i n i s t e red by the Board of Dire c t o r s .

The principal terms of the Second Plan that were approved by the shareholders are as follows:

( i ) Eligibility: Options are granted to OTE’s employees and to the management of OTE’s Greek, not listed in the Athens

Stock Exchange, subsidiaries, specifically to their Managing Directors, to the Deputy Managing Directors and to their

General Dire c t o r s .

( i i ) E x e rcise Price: The exercise price payable for each share under options granted was the same with that of the First

Plan equal to € 17.07 (seventeen point zero seven Euro) at the grant date, which was January 15, 2002.

( i i i )E x e rcise of Options: Under this plan, OTE’s Board of Directors issued 8,920,000 option rights for all OTE employees

which will vest as follows:  (1) 50% of the rights on the first anniversary of the date of the grant and (2) 50% of the

rights within the second year of the date of the grant.  Also, OTE’s Board of Directors issued 720,000 option rights for

the management of its subsidiaries, which will vest as follows:  (1) 40% of the rights on the first anniversary of the

date of the grant, (2) 30% of the rights during the second year of the date of grant, and, (3)  30% of the rights during

the third year of the date of the grant.  The rights vesting within the second and the third year of the date of the

grant can be exercised only if certain financial growth targets (including revenue growth and EBITDA) for fiscal years

2002 and 2003 are met.  The 2002 and 2003 targets were met.  These option rights issued to the management of

OTE_s subsidiaries are accounted for as variable plans in accordance with the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25.

Options shall expire in the following events:

ñ If the employment is terminated for any reason prior to the payment of the purchase price.  If the employee dies after

the options vest, his beneficiaries may exercise any unexercised options, in accordance with and subject to certain

p ro v i s i o n s .

ñ If the employee voluntarily re t i res from OTE, the eligible employee can exercise options vested through the voluntary

re t i rement date until the expiring date of the plan.
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16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued):

The movement in the options outstanding during the three years ended December 31, 2004, is as follows:

Number of share s Weighted average

Subject to option e x e rcise price (€)

Outstanding at January 1, 2002 4 , 8 8 1 , 0 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

Granted during the period 9 , 6 4 0 , 0 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

E x e rcised during the period - -

Forfeited during the period ( 7 0 , 0 0 0 ) 1 7 . 0 7

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 1 4 , 4 5 1 , 0 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

E x e rcisable at December 31, 2002 1 , 9 5 2 , 4 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

Outstanding at January 1, 2003 1 4 , 4 5 1 , 0 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

Granted during the period - -

E x e rcised during the period - -

Forfeited during the period ( 7 0 , 0 0 0 ) 1 7 . 0 7

Cancelled during the period ( 3 , 0 0 0 , 6 0 0 ) 1 7 . 0 7

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 1 1 , 3 8 0 , 4 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

E x e rcisable at December 31, 2003 6 , 5 9 8 , 4 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

Outstanding at January 1, 2004 1 1 , 3 8 0 , 4 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

Granted during the period - -

E x e rcised during the period - -

Forfeited during the period ( 5 1 , 5 0 0 )

Cancelled during the period

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 1 1 , 3 2 8 , 9 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

E x e rcisable at December 31, 2004 1 1 , 1 4 8 , 9 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

Cancelled options relate to rights under the First Plan vesting within the second and the third year of the date of the

grant which can not be exercised as the financial targets for 2002 and 2003 were not met.

For the purposes of SFAS No. 123 disclosure re q u i rements, the weighted average fair value of options granted up to

December 31, 2004, was estimated using the Black-Scholes stock option pricing model.  The following weighted

average assumptions were used: 

First Plan (2001): Dividend yield of 4.1% annual standard deviation (volatility) of 38.5%, risk free interest rate of 5%

and expected life of five years.

Second Plan (2002): Dividend yield of 3.8% annual standard deviation (volatility) of 37.0%, risk free interest rate of

5% and expected life of four years.

All options granted had an exercise price less than the market price at grant date. The weighted average exerc i s e

price was € 17.07 (seventeen point zero seven Euro) for both plans and the weighted average fair value of the stock

options granted under the First Plan and the Second Plan was € 2.41 (two point forty one Euro) and € 4.99 (four

point ninety nine Euro), re s p e c t i v e l y.
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16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued):

The following table provides details of all options outstanding as at December 31, 2004.

O u t s t a n d i n g E x e rc i s a b l e

Weighted We i g h t e d We i g h t e d

Average Av e r a g e Av e r a g e

E x e rcise R e m a i n i n g E x e rc i s e

P l a n N u m b e r Price (€) Contractual Life N u m b e r Price (€)

F i r s t 1 , 8 8 8 , 4 0 0 1 7 . 0 7 1 . 5 2 1 , 8 8 8 , 4 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

S e c o n d 9 , 4 4 0 , 5 0 0 1 7 . 0 7 1 . 5 2 9 , 2 6 0 , 5 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

To t a l 1 1 , 3 2 8 , 9 0 0 1 7 . 0 7 1 . 5 2 1 1 , 1 4 8 , 9 0 0 1 7 . 0 7

As a result of the intrinsic values of the options present at the grant dates, compensation expense, re c o rded for 2002,

2003 and 2004 based on the straight-line method, amounted to € 7.2, € 2.3 and € 0.1, re s p e c t i v e l y.  There is no

compensation expense re c o rded in 2003 and 2004 for options granted under the Second Plan to OTE’s subsidiaries’

management resulting from variable accounting treatment because OTE’s stock price at each measurement date is

below the option exercise price.

(b) Cosmote:

Cosmote has five, compensatory management share option plans.

First Plan

The first plan ("First Plan") was approved on September 6, 2000, by Cosmote’s Shareholders Extraordinary General

Assembly and is administered by the Board of Dire c t o r s .

The principal terms of the First Plan that were approved by the shareholders are as follows:

( i ) Eligibility: Options can be granted to Cosmote’s management subject to the approval of their participation on the

respective entry date in the First Plan by the Board of Directors in October each year. Further grants of options may

be made by the Board of Directors to eligible employees at the end of each year.

( i i ) Entitlement to Options:  C o s m o t e ’s management will be entitled to options in respect of shares of the company

with an aggregate value between two and a half times and five times their annual gross salaries.

( i i i ) E x e rcise Price: The exercise price payable for each share under options granted at the time of the establishment of

the First Plan will be 10% below the bottom end of the range for the Offer Price of € 9.16 (nine point sixteen Euro ) .

The exercise price for the purchase of shares under options granted on subsequent occasions by the Board of

D i rectors will be the average closing price of Cosmote’s shares for the month preceding the grant of options

determined by re f e rence to the Daily Bulletin of the Athens Stock Exchange.  This pre f e rential price will also apply

for any options that may be additionally granted.
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16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued):

( i v )E x e rcise of Options: Options granted to an employee will vest on the third anniversary of the date of the grant

p rovided certain conditions precedents are satisfied.  In particular, as far as the options granted to the Chairman

of the Board of Directors are concerned, these options vest one year after the date of the grant (i.e. October 20,

2001).  During November 2001, the Chairman made an application to the Board of Directors in order to exerc i s e

55,870 options, which was approved on December 21, 2001 and such options were exercised during January

2002.  Exercise of options is not automatic and participants must make a written application in a prescribed form

to exercise options in November of the year of the vesting to the Board of Directors.  At the Board meeting to

be held in December each year, the Board of Directors will ensure that the participants employment has not been

terminated, approve or disapprove such application as appropriate, and agree to increase the share capital which

would result from the exercise of the options approved in accordance with Law 2190/1920 (but only insofar as

Cosmote has not purchased sufficient shares in the open market in respect of the options to be exerc i s e d ) .

Options not exercised within four years of the date of grant shall lapse.  Options shall expire in the following

e v e n t s :

ñ If the employment is terminated for any reason prior to the payment of the purchase price, unless the Board

of Directors of Cosmote determines otherwise.  If the employee dies after the options vest, his beneficiaries

may exercise any unexercised options, in accordance with and subject to certain pro v i s i o n s .

ñ If a participant does not submit the written application for exercise within the time period defined, or does not

pay in full the purchase price of shares within twenty (20) days following the increase of capital.

( v ) Limitations: The number of shares which may be acquired in any five year period after the establishment of the

First Plan pursuant to its terms or to the terms of any other share option scheme or issued and allotted under all

other employee share schemes adopted by Cosmote, may not exceed 5% of Cosmote’s share capital in issue fro m

time to time and, in any event, may not exceed 10% of the share capital at the time of the establishment of the

First Plan.

( v i )Amendment: The shareholders in general meetings shall have the exclusive right to amend, modify, suspend or

terminate the First Plan.

Under the First Plan, Cosmote’s Board of Directors was authorized to issue and issued 1,187,010 option rights on

October 20, 2000.  Options were granted to Cosmote’s management in respect of shares of Cosmote with an

a g g regate value varying between two and a half times and five times their annual gross salaries, at an exercise price

10% below the bottom end of the range of the Offer Price, equal to € 8.24 (eight point twenty four Euro) at the

grant date.
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16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued):

Second Plan

The second plan ("the Second Plan"), was approved on October 26, 2001, by Cosmote’s Board of Directors.  Under

this plan, the Board of Directors authorized and issued 1,247,310 option rights.  Options were granted to eligible

employees in respect of shares of Cosmote at an exercise price which is the average closing price of Cosmote’s share s

for the month preceding the grant of options (i.e. September 2001), determined by re f e rence to the Daily Bulletin of

the Athens Stock Exchange, equal to € 9.78 (nine point seventy eight Euro) at the grant date.  √f the authorized

and issued options rights, 296,920 options are additional rights granted to eligible employees under the First Plan.

The terms of the Second Plan are the same as those of the First Plan except that, under the Second Plan, section

managers and new executives are also eligible employees.

T h i rd Plan

The third plan ("the Third Plan"), was approved on October 24, 2002, by Cosmote’s Board of Directors.  Under this

plan, the Board of Directors authorized and issued 1,184,135 option rights.  Options were granted to eligible

employees in respect of shares of Cosmote at an exercise price which is the average closing price of the Cosmote’s

s h a res for the month preceding the grant of options (i.e. September 2002), determined by re f e rence to the Daily

Bulletin of the Athens Stock Exchange, equal to € 8.96 (eight point ninety six Euro) at the grant date.  Of the

authorized and issued options rights, 833,765 options are additional rights granted to eligible employees under the

First and Second Plans.

The terms of the Third Plan are the same as those of the First and Second Plans.

Fourth Plan

The fourth plan ("the Fourth Plan"), was approved on October 23, 2003, by Cosmote’s   Board of Directors.  Under

this plan, the Board of Directors authorized and issued 1,313,120 option rights.  Options were granted to eligible

employees in respect of shares of Cosmote at an exercise price which is the average closing price of the Cosmote’s

s h a res for the month preceding the grant of options (i.e. September 2003), determined by re f e rence to the Daily

Bulletin of the Athens Stock Exchange, equal to € 10.23 (ten point twenty three Euro) at the grant date. Of the

authorized and issued options rights, 1,009,340 options are considered a new plan with additional rights granted to

eligible employees under the First, Second and Third Plans. 

The terms of the Fourth Plan are the same as those of the First, Second and Third Plans.

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)



184

16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued):

Fifth Plan

The fifth plan ("the Fifth Plan") was approved on October 21, 2004, by Cosmote’s Board of Directors.  Under this

plan, the Board of Directors authorized and issued 1,172,260 option rights.  Options were granted to eligible

employees in respect of shares of the Company at an exercise price which is the average closing price of the

C o s m o t e ’s shares for the month preceding the grant of options (i.e. September 2004), determined by re f e rence to

the Daily Bulletin of the Athens Stock Exchange, equal to € 13.46 (thirteen point forty six Euro) at the grant date.

Of the authorized and issued option rights, 900,210 options are considered a new plan with additional rights granted

to eligible employees under the First, Second, Third and Fourth Plans.

The terms of the Fifth Plan are the same as those of the First, Second, Third and Forth Plans.

On February 21, 2002, Cosmote’s Shareholders Extraordinary General Assembly approved the amendment of certain

terms of the management incentive plans, summarized as follows:

(i) Options granted to an employee at the initial participation will vest as follows:  1) 40% of the rights on the first

anniversary of the date of the grant,  2) 30% of the rights on the second anniversary of the date of the grant,

and, 3) 30% of the rights on the third anniversary of the date of the grant.  Any, additional rights to be granted

under the plans as well as additional options to be granted to the Chairman of the Board of Directors will vest on

the third anniversary of the date of the grant,

(ii) The vested rights can be exercised, in their entirety or partially, up to November of the fourth anniversary of the

date of the grant, 

(iii) Options not vested shall expire if the employment is terminated for any reason prior to the vesting of such

options, irrespective of the time of their exercise, unless the Board of Directors of Cosmote determines otherwise.

The above amendments did not have a significant effect on Cosmote’s consolidated financial statements since the

intrinsic value of the award at the date of modification was below the intrinsic value at the date of the grant.
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16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued):

The movement in the options outstanding during the three years ended December 31, 2004, is as follows: 

Number of share s Weighted average

subject to option e x e rcise price (Euro )

Outstanding at January 1, 2002 2 , 4 0 2 , 0 1 0 9 . 0 4

Granted during the period 1 , 1 8 4 , 1 3 5 8 . 9 6

E x e rcised during the period ( 5 5 , 8 7 0 ) 8 . 2 4

Forfeited during the period ( 8 3 , 3 6 0 ) 9 . 7 8

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 3 , 4 4 6 , 9 1 5 9 . 0 1

E x e rcisable at December 31, 2002 1 , 0 5 6 , 2 8 4 8 . 6 7

Outstanding at January 1, 2003 3 , 4 4 6 , 9 1 5 9 . 0 1

Granted during the period 1 , 3 1 3 , 1 2 0 1 0 . 2 3

E x e rcised during the period ( 8 3 , 2 5 0 ) 8 . 2 4

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 4 , 6 7 6 , 7 8 5 9 . 3 6

E x e rcisable at December 31, 2003 1 , 7 3 7 , 6 4 1 8 . 8 1

Outstanding at January 1, 2004 4 , 6 7 6 , 7 8 5 9 . 3 6

Granted during the period 1 , 1 7 2 , 2 6 0 1 3 . 4 6

E x e rcised during the period ( 1 , 0 4 9 , 1 3 0 ) 8 . 3 4

Forfeited during the period ( 1 9 6 , 1 0 0 ) 9 . 5 2

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 4 , 6 0 3 , 8 1 5 1 0 . 6 3

E x e rcisable at December 31, 2004 1 , 3 0 1 , 0 7 1 9 . 6 7

The weighted average fair value of options granted in the year ended December 31, 2004, was estimated using the Black-

Scholes stock option pricing model.  The following weighted average assumptions were used:

First Plan (2000): Dividend yield of 0.5%, annual standard deviation (volatility) of 37.0%, risk free interest rate of 5%

and expected life of three years.

Second Plan (2001): Dividend yield of 1.5%, annual standard deviation (volatility) of 28.8%, risk free interest rate of 5%

and expected life of three years.

T h i rd Plan (2002): Dividend yield of 3.0%, annual standard deviation (volatility) of 25.2%, risk free interest rate of 5%

and expected life of three years.

Fourth Plan (2003): Dividend yield of 3.8%, annual standard deviation (volatility) of 24.3%, risk free interest rate of 5%

and expected life of three years.

Fifth Plan (2004): Dividend yield of 10.6%, annual standard deviation (volatility) of 23.7%, risk free interest rate of

5% and expected life of three years.

All options granted in the year ended December 31, 2004, had an exercise price in excess of the market price at grant

date.  Furthermore, the weighted average exercise price and weighted average fair value at grant date were estimated

at € 9.50 and € 1.97, re s p e c t i v e l y.
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16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued):

The following table provides details of all options outstanding as at December 31, 2004.

O u t s t a n d i n g E x e rc i s a b l e

Weighted We i g h t e d We i g h t e d

Average Av e r a g e Av e r a g e

E x e rcise R e m a i n i n g E x e rc i s e

P l a n N u m b e r Price (€) Contractual Life N u m b e r Price (€)

F i r s t 5 3 , 4 9 0 8 . 2 4 - 5 3 , 4 9 0 8 . 2 4

S e c o n d 1 , 0 9 1 , 1 0 0 9 . 7 8 0 . 8 2 1 , 0 9 1 , 1 0 0 9 . 7 8

T h i rd 1 , 0 4 4 , 3 0 5 8 . 9 6 1 . 8 2 1 0 5 , 4 2 9 8 . 9 6

F o u r t h 1 , 2 4 2 , 6 6 0 1 0 . 2 3 2 . 8 2 5 1 , 0 5 2 1 0 . 2 3

F i f t h 1 , 1 7 2 , 2 6 0 1 3 . 4 6 3 . 8 2 - 1 3 . 4 6

To t a l 4 , 6 0 3 , 8 1 5 1 0 . 6 3 1 . 8 6 1 , 3 0 1 , 0 7 1 9 . 6 7

As a result of the intrinsic values of the options present at the grant dates, compensation expense, re c o rded for 2002,

2003 and 2004 based on the straight-line method, amounted to € 0.9, € 1.1 and € 1.5, re s p e c t i v e l y.

17. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS:

The following information is provided as re q u i red by SFAS No. 131 "Disclosures about segments of an Enterprise and

Related Information".  The information presented is based on the criteria set by SFAS No. 131 for the determination of

the reportable segments, and is regularly reviewed by the Gro u p ’s chief operating decision makers.

Segments were determined based on the Gro u p ’s legal structure, as the Gro u p ’s chief operating decision makers re v i e w

financial information separately reported by the parent company (OTE) and each of the Gro u p ’s consolidated subsidiaries.

Using the quantitative thresholds re q u i red by SFAS No. 131, OTE, Cosmote and, effective March 2003, Romtelecom, have

been determined as reportable segments.  OTE is the public fixed switched telecommunications network provider in

G reece, mainly providing local, long-distance and international telecommunications services through public network.

Cosmote provides mobile telecommunications services throughout Greece.  Romtelecom is the public switch network

operator in the Republic of Romania.  Information about operating segments that do not constitute reportable segments

under SFAS No. 131 have been combined and disclosed in an "all other" category.  The "all other" category includes

financial information for the consolidated subsidiaries, except for Cosmote and Romtelecom.

Prior years’ segment financial information is also presented for comparative purposes.  Accounting policies of the

segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies (see Note 2).  The Gro u p

evaluates segment performance based on operating income and net income.  The Group accounts for intersegment sales

and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties at current market price.
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17. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS (Continued):

Segment information and reconciliation to the Gro u p ’s consolidated figures are as follows:

Year ended

December 31, Adjustments &

2 0 0 4 O T E C o s m o t e R o m t e l e c o m All Other To t a l s E l i m i n a t i o n s C o n s o l i d a t e d

Revenues from 

e x t e rnal 

c u s t o m e r s 2 , 5 5 8 . 4 1 , 2 5 8 . 6 8 1 7 . 9 5 4 9 . 1 5 , 1 8 4 . 0 - 5 , 1 8 4 . 0

I n t e r s e g m e n t

R e v e n u e s 1 9 4 . 9 2 0 4 . 1 2 2 . 8 1 1 5 . 4 5 3 7 . 2 ( 5 3 7 . 2 ) -

I n t e rest income 5 2 . 8 5 . 0 9 . 8 1 3 7 . 2 2 0 4 . 8 ( 1 5 7 . 2 ) 4 7 . 6

I n t e rest expense ( 1 2 7 . 8 ) ( 1 0 . 0 ) ( 1 7 . 0 ) ( 1 6 5 . 7 ) ( 3 2 0 . 5 ) 1 5 7 . 2 ( 1 6 3 . 3 )

D e p reciation and

A m o r t i z a t i o n ( 5 7 0 . 3 ) ( 1 6 8 . 0 ) ( 1 6 1 . 3 ) ( 1 2 6 . 3 ) ( 1 , 0 2 5 . 9 ) 2 . 8 ( 1 , 0 2 3 . 1 )

E a rnings/(Losses) 

in equity-method 

investments 6 . 9 - - ( 0 . 2 ) 6 . 7 - 6 . 7

Income tax (expense) 

/ benefit ( 2 7 . 0 ) ( 1 5 3 . 6 ) 9 3 . 7 ( 3 3 . 9 ) ( 1 2 0 . 8 ) - ( 1 2 0 . 8 )

Operating income 3 1 . 5 4 3 7 . 1 1 3 2 . 4 4 4 . 5 6 4 5 . 5 ( 7 . 6 ) 6 3 7 . 9

Net income ( 2 4 . 0 ) 2 7 6 . 9 2 3 0 . 1 ( 1 2 3 . 3 ) 3 5 9 . 7 ( 1 8 8 . 4 ) 1 7 1 . 3

Investments in 

and advances to 

a s s o c i a t e s 1 7 3 . 3 0 . 8 - 1 . 0 1 7 5 . 1 - 1 7 5 . 1

Segment assets 7 , 3 0 1 . 3 1 , 5 2 9 . 6 1 , 9 6 6 . 2 4 , 5 6 1 . 8 1 5 , 3 5 8 . 9 ( 5 , 1 4 1 . 3 ) 1 0 , 2 1 7 . 6

E x p e n d i t u res for 

segment assets 3 0 0 . 6 2 0 7 . 4 1 4 6 . 0 1 8 9 . 6 8 4 3 . 6 - 8 4 3 . 6

Year ended

December 31, Adjustments &

2 0 0 3 O T E C o s m o t e R o m t e l e c o m All Other To t a l s E l i m i n a t i o n s C o n s o l i d a t e d

Revenues from 

e x t e rnal customers 2 , 7 8 4 . 6 1 , 0 3 6 . 5 6 5 6 . 6 4 3 6 . 6 4 , 9 1 4 . 3 - 4 , 9 1 4 . 3

I n t e r s e g m e n t

R e v e n u e s 2 3 2 . 1 2 1 0 . 6 7 . 2 7 9 . 0 5 2 8 . 9 ( 5 2 8 . 9 ) -

I n t e rest income 5 0 . 2 2 . 8 3 . 5 9 8 . 2 1 5 4 . 7 ( 1 0 7 . 1 ) 4 7 . 6

I n t e rest expense ( 1 0 3 . 7 ) ( 7 . 3 ) ( 2 0 . 7 ) ( 1 1 8 . 5 ) ( 2 5 0 . 2 ) 1 0 7 . 1 ( 1 4 3 . 1 )

D e p reciation and

A m o r t i z a t i o n ( 5 8 6 . 6 ) ( 1 4 3 . 7 ) ( 7 8 . 8 ) ( 1 0 0 . 5 ) ( 9 0 9 . 6 ) ( 0 . 1 ) ( 9 0 9 . 7 )

E a rnings/(Losses) 

in equity-method 

investments 7 . 5 - - ( 3 7 . 7 ) ( 3 0 . 2 ) - ( 3 0 . 2 )

Income tax (expense) 

/ benefit ( 2 0 8 . 5 ) ( 1 3 4 . 2 ) ( 6 . 1 ) ( 2 9 . 1 ) ( 3 7 7 . 9 ) - ( 3 7 7 . 9 )

Operating income 4 9 9 . 8 3 7 1 . 5 1 0 4 . 1 ( 0 . 8 ) 9 7 4 . 6 4 4 . 3 1 , 0 1 8 . 9

Net income 2 9 3 . 1 2 3 0 . 2 9 2 . 2 ( 7 5 . 5 ) 5 4 0 . 0 ( 1 2 9 . 3 ) 4 1 0 . 7

Investments in and 

advances 

to associates 1 8 7 . 7 0 . 9 - 0 . 7 1 8 9 . 3 - 1 8 9 . 3

Segment assets 7 , 6 5 5 . 1 1 , 4 1 5 . 8 2 , 0 2 4 . 2 4 , 5 7 2 . 4 1 5 , 6 6 7 . 5 ( 5 , 2 4 2 . 6 ) 1 0 , 4 2 4 . 9

E x p e n d i t u res for 

segment assets 4 8 1 . 0 1 6 9 . 7 6 4 . 8 2 6 0 . 6 9 7 6 . 1 - 9 7 6 . 1
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17. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS (Continued):

Reportable Segments

Year ended

December 31, Adjustments &

2 0 0 2 O T E C o s m o t e All Other To t a l s E l i m i n a t i o n s C o n s o l i d a t e d

Revenues from 

e x t e rnal customers 3 , 0 8 5 . 0 8 3 1 . 0 3 9 2 . 9 4 , 3 0 8 . 9 - 4 , 3 0 8 . 9

I n t e r s e g m e n t

R e v e n u e s 3 3 8 . 4 2 7 5 . 1 8 4 . 1 6 9 7 . 6 ( 6 9 7 . 6 ) -

I n t e rest income 5 6 . 5 1 . 8 7 4 . 4 1 3 2 . 7 ( 6 9 . 6 ) 6 3 . 1

I n t e rest expense ( 9 7 . 1 ) ( 9 . 4 ) ( 8 1 . 5 ) ( 1 8 8 . 0 ) 6 9 . 6 ( 1 1 8 . 4 )

D e p reciation and

A m o r t i z a t i o n ( 5 1 1 . 2 ) ( 1 2 4 . 3 ) ( 6 5 . 1 ) ( 7 0 0 . 6 ) 0 . 4 ( 7 0 0 . 2 )

E a rnings/(Losses) in 

equity-method 

investments 2 . 7 - ( 2 2 . 8 ) ( 2 0 . 1 ) - ( 2 0 . 1 )

Income tax (expense)/

benefit ( 1 9 7 . 3 ) ( 1 1 2 . 3 ) 5 . 2 ( 3 0 4 . 4 ) - ( 3 0 4 . 4 )

Operating income 6 4 5 . 2 3 2 8 . 3 4 6 . 3 1 , 0 1 9 . 8 0 . 2 1 , 0 2 0 . 0

Net income 2 3 2 . 8 2 0 9 . 6 ( 2 6 . 2 ) 4 1 6 . 2 ( 7 0 . 4 ) 3 4 5 . 8

Investments in and 

Advances to associates 1 7 8 . 6 0 . 1 3 4 6 . 6 5 2 5 . 3 ( 1 . 4 ) 5 2 3 . 9

Segment assets 7 , 6 7 3 . 8 1 , 2 5 3 . 1 2 , 6 5 1 . 9 1 1 , 5 7 8 . 8 ( 2 , 5 9 2 . 5 ) 8 , 9 8 6 . 3

E x p e n d i t u res for

segment assets 6 9 6 . 7 1 9 6 . 4 2 1 9 . 8 1 , 1 1 2 . 9 - 1 , 1 1 2 . 9

Geographic Information

The following table provides geographic information about revenues from external customers and long-lived assets for

the three year period ended December 31, 2004:

R e v e n u e s Long-lived assets

C o u n t r y 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

G re e c e 4 , 0 8 7 . 5 3 , 9 6 8 . 9 3 , 9 4 4 . 8 4 , 9 8 3 . 1 4 , 9 0 6 . 4 4 , 6 9 0 . 8

Other countries 2 2 1 . 4 9 4 5 . 4 1 , 2 3 9 . 2 7 5 8 . 8 2 , 4 4 0 . 1 2 , 5 0 5 . 4

4 , 3 0 8 . 9 4 , 9 1 4 . 3 5 , 1 8 4 . 0 5 , 7 4 1 . 9 7 , 3 4 6 . 5 7 , 1 9 6 . 2

Major Customers

Revenues generated from State Entities and Organizations (Greek State) amounted to approximately 5% of total re v e n u e s

for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004.
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18. REVENUES:

Revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of income consist of income fro m :

Year ended December 31,

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

( i ) Domestic Te l e p h o n y

ñ Monthly network service fees 6 3 9 . 8 7 8 8 . 4 8 4 9 . 2

ñ Local and long-distance calls

- Fixed to fixed 7 8 4 . 6 8 3 0 . 5 7 8 5 . 7

- Fixed to mobile 6 3 4 . 0 6 1 7 . 0 5 3 3 . 3

1 , 4 1 8 . 6 1 , 4 4 7 . 5 1 , 3 1 9 . 0

ñ Other 6 2 . 1 1 1 3 . 6 9 4 . 7

2 , 1 2 0 . 5 2 , 3 4 9 . 5 2 , 2 6 2 . 9

( i i ) I n t e rnational Te l e p h o n y

ñ International traff i c 1 8 5 . 5 1 8 7 . 4 1 6 9 . 0

ñ Payments from international operators 1 2 7 . 9 1 5 1 . 2 1 6 9 . 9

ñ Payments from mobile operators 3 6 . 5 3 6 . 9 3 7 . 7

3 4 9 . 9 3 7 5 . 5 3 7 6 . 6

( i i i ) Mobile telephony services 9 5 0 . 3 1 , 2 2 8 . 8 1 , 5 5 5 . 4

( i v ) Other re v e n u e s

Traditional Services:

ñ Prepaid card s 1 7 5 . 4 1 3 7 . 7 1 4 7 . 2

ñ Dire c t o r i e s 4 4 . 2 4 7 . 4 5 4 . 1

ñ Radio communications 2 9 . 0 2 1 . 9 1 8 . 9

ñ Audiotex 6 9 . 1 7 4 . 4 7 2 . 2

ñ Telex and telegraphy 5 . 4 7 . 5 6 . 5

3 2 3 . 1 2 8 8 . 9 2 9 8 . 9

New Business:

ñ Leased lines and Data communications 1 7 0 . 6 2 2 1 . 4 1 4 7 . 1

ñ Integrated Services Digital Network 6 8 . 8 9 1 . 6 1 2 1 . 2

ñ  Sales of telecommunication equipment 8 6 . 3 9 6 . 3 1 1 7 . 3

ñ Internet services 3 9 . 2 4 9 . 7 6 1 . 1

ñ Asynchronous Transfer Mode 1 4 . 9 1 8 . 8 2 6 . 0

3 7 9 . 8 4 7 7 . 8 4 7 2 . 7

O t h e r

ñ Services re n d e re d 7 2 . 4 9 0 . 5 8 5 . 0

ñ Interconnection charges 9 6 . 2 8 1 . 5 8 4 . 3

ñ Miscellaneous 1 6 . 7 2 1 . 8 4 8 . 2

1 8 5 . 3 1 9 3 . 8 2 1 7 . 5

8 8 8 . 2 9 6 0 . 5 9 8 9 . 1

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)



190

19. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES:

Other operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income consist of:

Year ended December 31,
2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4

Services and fees 1 1 0 . 1 1 3 0 . 9 1 5 5 . 1
Cost of telecommunication materials,
repairs and maintenance 1 1 1 . 8 1 4 9 . 3 2 2 2 . 8
Advertising costs 7 0 . 7 8 9 . 7 1 4 2 . 0
Cost of equipment 1 1 6 . 3 1 3 3 . 1 1 4 3 . 4
U t i l i t i e s 8 5 . 9 9 5 . 3 1 1 8 . 9
P rovision for doubtful accounts 8 9 . 8 9 9 . 9 1 3 7 . 6
P rovision for litigation and claims - 8 . 2 2 1 . 1
Travel costs 1 6 . 0 1 3 . 7 1 5 . 4
Cost of prepaid airtime card s 3 3 . 8 2 8 . 0 3 7 . 8
Commissions to independent distributors 1 3 9 . 7 1 4 5 . 8 1 3 7 . 2
Payments to audiotex pro v i d e r s 5 1 . 9 5 7 . 2 6 0 . 5
R e n t 3 0 . 3 4 8 . 8 5 6 . 7
Taxes, other than income taxes 2 2 . 1 3 3 . 7 4 1 . 5
Write down of Olympic Games’ pro j e c t s - - 3 2 . 0
Tr a n s p o r t a t i o n 6 . 1 6 . 9 7 . 0
O t h e r 6 6 . 7 6 6 . 5 1 0 4 . 7

Total other operating expenses 9 5 1 . 2 1 , 1 0 7 . 0 1 , 4 3 3 . 7

20. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other receivables, accounts payable, accruals and
short-term borrowings approximate the fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. In addition,
a v a i l a b l e - f o r-sale marketable securities are carried at their fair value based on quoted market prices. The fair value of long-
term debt including current maturities is estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or on
the current rates off e red to the Group for similar debt of the same remaining maturities. 

The estimated fair values of the Gro u p ’s financial instruments are as follows:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2004
Carrying F a i r Carrying F a i r
a m o u n t Va l u e a m o u n t Va l u e

Long term debt at floating interest rates 7 3 6 . 2 7 3 6 . 2 6 6 9 . 7 6 6 9 . 7
Long term debt at fixed interest rates 2 , 4 9 3 . 2 2 , 5 6 8 . 1 2 , 4 7 3 . 6 2 , 5 9 1 . 6

3 , 2 2 9 . 4 3 , 3 0 4 . 3 3 , 1 4 3 . 3 3 , 2 6 1 . 3

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)



191

21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED):

( i ) In early 2005, OTE sold its participating interests in Intelsat Ltd and Eutelsat S.A. [see Note 5 (b)] for an aggre g a t e
consideration of € 26.6, resulting in a pre-tax gain of € 1 3 . 7 .

( i i ) On January 28, 2005, OTEnet has fully repaid its term credit facility of € 3.5 [see Note 10 (c) (iii)].

( i i i ) On February 15, 2005, OTE PLC received unanimous Bank Consent for the extension of the existing facility of € 3 5 0
for another 364 days. The new maturity date of the extended facility has been set to February 28, 2006.  As of the
issuance of these financial statements, the Group has not drawn down any funds against this credit facility [see Note
10 (d)].

( i v ) On April 20, 2005, the Board of Directors of OTE and Cosmote decided on the acquisition, by Cosmote, of OTE’s two
wholly owned subsidiaries, Globul and Cosmofon, for a total cash consideration of € 490, of which € 400 will be for
Globul and € 90 for Cosmofon. This transaction is subject to: (i) the issuance of a positive opinion from the re l e v a n t
Committee of Article 9 of Corporate Law 2190/1920 of the Ministry of Development ("Committee"), (ii) the acceptance
of the Committee’s report and the issuance of a relevant approval by the Ministry of Development, (iii) the appro v a l
of the transaction by Cosmote’s shareholders and, (iv) the completion of the legal and financial due diligence re v i e w s
c u r rently in process.  The completion of the transfer is expected within the third quarter of 2005.

( v ) Within 2005, OTE has increased its participating interest in Cosmote by acquiring an aggregate additional 5.6% in
C o s m o t e ’s share capital for a total cash consideration of € 2 7 4 . 2 .

( v i ) In late April 2005, the tax authorities completed the tax audit of Cosmote’s books for the years 2002 and 2003, which
resulted in an assessment of net additional taxes of approximately € 4.8, which will be charged against the re l a t e d
reserve (see Note 9).

( v i i )On May 27, 2005, Cosmote, Romtelecom and Cosmorom agreed the sale to Cosmote by Romtelecom of 70% of
C o s m o rom's share capital. As part of this agreement, Cosmote will contribute € 120 in cash to Cosmorom's share
capital in exchange for a 70% equity interest in Cosmorom, with Romtelecom retaining a 30% interest. In addition,
Cosmote and Romtelecom have entered into a Shareholders' Agreement providing for the protection of certain
minority rights of Romtelecom.  The transaction was approved by the general meeting of Cosmote's shareholders on
June 27, 2005 and its closing is scheduled to take place no later than August 16, 2005. 

As of the same date (May 27, 2005), OTE, Romtelecom, Cosmorom and OTE International Investments on one hand and
Intracom S.A., Intrarom S.A. and Ericsson AB on the other (jointly "the parties") signed a settlement agreement under
which, out of Cosmoro m ’s overdue payments to its suppliers of approximately € 110.5 , € 85.0 will be paid and the
balance will be waived by the suppliers. Furthermore, the parties agreed to end the arbitration proceedings before the
ICC.  The above settlement agreement is subject to the completion of Cosmote’s participation in Cosmoro m .
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21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED) (Continued):

(viii) In June 2005, OTE and the union of its employees announced their agreement on a proposed voluntary re t i re m e n t
scheme which may lead to the voluntary re t i rement of up to approximately 6,000 employees.  Under the terms of
this voluntary re t i rement scheme, employees who would complete the number of years of service re q u i red for
re t i rement within the period from 2005 to 2012 will be entitled to full pension and other related benefits.
E ffectiveness of this voluntary re t i rement scheme is conditioned upon the enactment by the Greek Parliament of a
relevant law. All new employees recruited by OTE will be employed on the basis of employment contracts subject to
private labor laws, which are considered more flexible compared to the employment status of our existing employees
which is equivalent to the status of Greek civil servants.

The estimated undiscounted maximum cost of the voluntary re t i rement scheme amounts to up to approximately € 1 . 5
billion, assuming that all employees entitled to re t i re under the scheme opt to do so. This amount includes the cost of
pension contributions, contributions to social security funds, including to TAP-OTE and the Auxiliary Pension Fund, early
re t i rement bonuses and staff re t i rement indemnities paid to employees upon re t i rement with respect to a number of up
to 6,000 employees, including all employees retiring under the scheme. 

( i x ) In June 2005, OTE acquired the remaining 48.6% minority interests in Hellascom for a cash consideration of € 1 1 . 5 ,
which became a wholly-owned subsidiary.
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